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A
EXECUTIVE SUMMARY
I.
BRIEF STATEMENT OF FACTS

1. On January 7, 1997, Manitoba Telecom System was privatized and was continued as Manitoba Telecom Services Inc. (“MTS”). Prior to privatization, MTS was a provincially-owned Crown corporation and its employees and retirees were members of the pension plan established under The Civil Service Superannuation Act (Manitoba) (the “CSSA”) (the “old plan”) [Ex. 4, Tab 2]. The old plan is the pension plan for employees and retirees in the provincial civil service. Pension benefits are paid from The Civil Service Superannuation Fund (the “CSSF”) established under the CSSA.  The old plan is administered by The Civil Service Superannuation Board (the “CSSB”). [Ex. 4, Tab 2, section 5(1)]
2. The privatization of MTS occurred pursuant to The Manitoba Telephone System Reorganization and Consequential Amendments Act (the “Reorg Act”) [Ex. 4, Tab 1]. Under clause 15(2)(a) of the Reorg Act, MTS was to establish a new pension plan (the “new plan”) that provided for benefits which, on the implementation date, were equivalent in value to the pension benefits to which employees of MTS had or may become entitled to under the old plan or to which any other person had or would have become entitled under the old plan by virtue of the death of a present or former employee of MTS.  Under section 2 of Pension Assets Transfer Regulation 4/97 [Tab 1], the implementation date for the new plan was January 1, 1997.
3. As the Reorg Act proceeded in Bill form through the House and Committee stages of the Legislative Assembly of Manitoba, concerns of past and present employees through representatives acting on their behalf were expressed and adjustments were made to address those concerns.  In particular, while at the Committee stage, on November 7, 1996, a Memorandum of Agreement (“MOA”) [AD 440] was signed by representatives of the plaintiffs, certain ministers of the Provincial Government and MTS, which provisions subsequently were reflected in the final wording of the new plan text.

4. Under subsection 15(3) of the Reorg Act, the Provincial Auditor, who at the time was Jon Singleton (“Singleton”), was directed to appoint an independent actuary to review the new plan proposed by MTS to determine whether the benefits under the proposed new plan were equivalent in value to the pension benefits in the old plan as required by clause 15(2)(a) of the Reorg Act. Clifford Fox (“Fox”) was appointed as this independent actuary. 

5. On March 5, 1997, in a written opinion (“Fox’s Opinion”) [AD 840], Fox determined that the value of the benefits provided under the new plan were at least equivalent in value to the benefits provided under the old plan based on certain assumptions. These assumptions all proved correct. 
6. Broadly speaking, the plaintiffs seek to have Fox’s Opinion set aside or invalidated, and to have this Court determine the same question posed to Fox under the Reorg Act.  Further, there are allegations that MTS had obligations under the MOA which were breached, resulting in damage to the plaintiffs.  
II.
SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

7. The plaintiffs’ claim can be summarized into two broad allegations:

(a) Equivalency was not achieved as required by the Reorg Act.  This includes the plaintiffs’ claim that Fox’s Opinion ought to be set aside because of alleged procedural unfairness and that Fox’s Opinion was incorrect; and 
(b) The MOA was breached.
Reorg Act - Equivalence in Value 

8. With respect to the first broad allegation, it is MTS’s position that whatever definition of equivalence in value is used, the new plan provided for benefits which, on the implementation date, were equivalent in value to the pension benefits to which employees of MTS had or may become entitled to under the old plan. As such, regardless of the procedure followed in arriving at Fox’s Opinion and the conclusions reached by Fox, it ought not to be set aside.
9. The plaintiffs include in the definition of pension benefits governance, funding, and the right to use of surplus. 

10. Subsection 15(2)(a) of the Reorg Act speaks of:

(a) Benefits on the “implementation date”, which was January 1, 1997;

(b) The new plan shall provide for “benefits which… are equivalent in value to the pension benefits…entitled under [the CSSA]”.  The comparison is to “pension benefits” under the CSSA.
(c) The comparison is to “the pension benefits to which employees have or may have become entitled” under the CSSA. The word “entitled” is the requirement and not something less, such as hopes or expectations.

“Pension Benefits”

11. Under the CSSA, “pension benefits” is expressly defined as meaning “the aggregate monthly or other periodic payments of superannuation allowance to which an employee is or may become entitled…upon retirement” [Ex. 4, Tab 2, subsection 1(1)].  This can only mean financial benefits.  The benefits must be equivalent in “value”. The word value connotes a financial aspect. Tony Williams (“Williams”), actuary to MTS prior to and after privatization, testified that the word “value” in commuted value means money (Oct. 27, page 5).  It was equivalence in the financial sense that was mandated by subsection 15(2)(a) of the Reorg Act.
12. It is undisputed that the contributions made by MTS employees and the amount of pension received under the CSSA (in terms of value) were the same as was made and received on January 1, 1997, under the new plan.  Accordingly, it is MTS’s position that section 15(2)(a) of the Reorg Act was satisfied and the plaintiffs’ allegations to the contrary ought to be dismissed.   

13. If “pension benefits” and “value” mean something more, the plaintiffs’ allegations necessarily give rise to the following issues:

(a) Does “pension benefit” under the Reorg Act include one or more of governance, funding and use of surplus?  If not, equivalency in those areas is irrelevant and the plaintiffs fail in their claim;

(b) Was there an entitlement to these “pension benefits” under the CSSA? If there was no such entitlement, the plaintiffs fail in their claim;

(c) If “pension benefit” is interpreted by this Court to include one or more of governance, funding and use of surplus and there was an entitlement under the CSSA thereto, is there equivalence in value in all the benefits in the new plan taken collectively? 

14. MTS’s position is that governance, funding and the use of surplus are not “pension benefits”.  This position is supported by the use of the word “benefit” in the Reorg Act and the definitions of “pension benefit” in Canadian pension legislation, including the CSSA. This position is also consistent with the trial evidence. 

15. It is MTS’s position that there was no entitlement respecting governance, funding or use of surplus under the CSSA, if those features are considered pension benefits.
Entitlement to pension benefits
16. Entitlement is defined in Black’s Law Dictionary, Eighth Edition [Tab 2] as follows:

An absolute right to a benefit, such as social security, granted immediately upon meeting a legal requirement.

17. Section 15 of the Reorg Act does not require equivalency in terms of hopes or expectations.  Unless there was an “entitlement” under the CSSA to a “pension benefit” (however defined), no determination of equivalency was mandated.

18. Surprisingly, the plaintiffs’ “independent” expert, Thomas Levy (“Levy”), acknowledged that in rendering his two expert opinions, he had not reviewed the CSSA at all, and that he had relied on what he gleaned from discussions with some plaintiff representatives as to what their “expectations” under the CSSA had been, and then “elevated” those stated expectations to entitlements under the CSSA for the purpose of his opinion.  For these reasons above, it is submitted that no weight can be attached to Levy’s evidence and reports.

Governance

19. There was no governance entitlement under the CSSF.  There was a repeated inability to reach consensus or agreement, and a continued frustration experienced by employees and retirees with the lack of funding on the part of the government.  This is especially so in the six years prior to privatization.  Even where consensus was reached, a considerable amount of time was required before the agreement was reached, ultimately became law and realized.  To deal with these issues, the employees and retirees were pursuing a joint trustee relationship, so they would have equal say on decisions relating to the pension plan on a go-forward basis. Such a joint trustee relationship has still not been achieved under the CSSA to this day.

20. In the new plan, employees and retirees have the right to attempt to reach consensus upon recommendations to be made to the MTS Audit Committee. This is equivalent to their right to attempt to agree upon recommendations through the process of the Liaison Committee (the employees and retirees group) and the Advisory Committee (the employers’ group) under the old plan. Such recommendations would have to be approved by the government. As such, with respect to governance, there is at least equivalency in the new plan.

Funding

21. Funding was not a feature of the CSSA.  The employers did not “fund” the benefits when they were earned.  As an employer under the CSSA, MTS paid at the “back end” when pensions were paid rather than on the “front end” when the pension benefit accrued.  This “back end” payment is referred to as “pay as you go”.  This is in contrast to a prefunding arrangement in the new plan.  A “back-end” payment can be significant to a company (or government as the case may be) as it defers a financial payment for many years.  In the case of a young, new employee, a company may end up deferring its pension costs for that employee for forty or so years.  
22. As there was no funding by employers under the CSSA, funding was not relevant to the consideration as to whether benefits were equivalent in value.  As MTS was required to fully fund the new plan in accordance with the Pension Benefit Standards Act (“PBSA”), it assumed all the risk and would be required to pay any deficits that existed in the new plan at the time of implementation and on a go-forward basis.  As it solely assumed all risk, MTS insisted, throughout the privatization process (and since), that it must have control over any “ongoing” or “actuarial surplus” in the new plan.  Ray Erb (“Erb”), who, at the time of trial, sat on the CSSB, testified that this approach was “common sense” (Sept. 4, page 85).  John Corp (“Corp”), CEP’s actuary, agreed this was not unusual and Levy acknowledged that no employer who had a funding obligation would give up control over funding decisions (Sept. 12, page 5; Oct. 8, page 74).  Such actuarial surplus could be used by MTS to take a contribution holiday in the “good years”, limited to the value of its normal cost, in contrast to its funding obligations, greater than its normal costs, which MTS has in the “bad years”.

23. The concern MTS had with respect to its funding obligation risk under the PBSA [Ex. 4, Tab 4] proved justifiable, and the significant extent of MTS’s funding is set out in Exhibits 51 and 52.  These exhibits show that MTS has funded much more than the employees, and has paid substantially more to fund the new plan than it would have paid under the old plan.  MTS’s exposure to liability in the “bad years” through solvency and going concern special payments is virtually unlimited and is worsening dramatically in the current recessionary times. In comparison, MTS’s ability to take contribution holidays in the “good years” is limited to its share of normal costs, at about $10 million to $14 million per year. Moreover, even when taking contribution holidays, MTS is not taking money out of the new plan. Rather, it is merely deferring its funding obligations. As noted, by all actuaries (called by the plaintiffs and defendants), funding is simply a timing issue.

24. Given the world wide recession in recent months and the severe drop in the financial markets, it is axiomatic that any accumulation of capital that is invested has lost a significant portion of its value.  Pension funds are no different, although a prudent and conservative investment strategy will help somewhat.  The CSSF, having only employee funding, is starkly exposed to the risk of being underfunded, with no obligation on government employers to pay any shortfall.  Conversely, MTS will be required under the PBSA to fund significantly more to make up for the drop in value.

25. 
During the course of this trial, worldwide financial markets took a significant financial hit. The value of the CSSF main fund likely has decreased, perhaps by up to 18%. Assuming liabilities are constant year over year, it is probable that whatever surplus existed in the CSSF main fund has now disappeared and there is likely a large unfunded liability in the CSSF main fund for which the Government of Manitoba is not responsible. In 2006, the Liaison Committee and the Advisory Committee reached consensus to recommend a transfer of $145 million from the surplus of the CSSF main fund to the CSSF Adjustment Account to help fund future cost of living adjustments (“COLA”).  If the $145 million surplus is transferred, the CSSF main account will be left in a serious deficit due to recent market losses and the fact that there is no obligation to fund any deficiency created.  However, if the $145 million surplus is not transferred, the CSSF Adjustment Account will be in serious jeopardy. This present day scenario underlines the significance of MTS’s funding obligations under the new plan.  The funded status of the new MTS plan, coupled with MTS’s ongoing funding obligations, ensures the security of the new plan and the payment of benefits under this plan.

26. The plaintiffs argue that payments made by MTS on a “solvency basis” are irrelevant, as it is simply a timing issue and ought not to be considered.  MTS submits that there is no reasonable distinction between money paid based on a “going concern” calculation versus a “solvency” calculation.  The money paid is a real payment made in the present and placed in the new plan trust fund.  Moreover, if solvency payments are not considered, going concern payments would necessarily have been much higher.  Based on either method, both of which are required by the PBSA, these are monies paid into the fund, which become trust monies.  Plan members benefit from this money, whether paid on a going concern basis or on a solvency basis.  The money will never get removed from the new plan other than on wind-up, in which unlikely event the money would be shared proportionally with employees and retirees after all obligations are satisfied under the new plan in accordance with the new plan text.

27. Furthermore, the solvency funding required under the PBSA provides the security sought by the plaintiffs.  Funding the new plan on a solvency basis allows for funds to be available should the new plan wind up.

28. There was no employer funding in the CSSF and, therefore, there was no entitlement to employer funding under the CSSF.  

29. Since there was no employer funding in the old plan and MTS, under the new plan, now has the obligation to prefund both its share of the normal costs and any unfunded liabilities, the new plan is clearly better than equivalent with respect to funding.

Use of surplus
30. The concept of surplus arises in three contexts in this action:

(a) Initial surplus (or initial excess);

(b) Ongoing or “actuarial surplus”; and

(c) Surplus on plan wind up.

31. The plaintiffs’ claims regarding the use of the initial surplus are dealt with in MTS’s submission relating to the MOA. Technically, there was no surplus as there was only approximately one-half of the monies necessary to honour the pension promises in the CSSF at any time, because employers made no contributions.  Issues of ongoing surplus and surplus on wind up were raised by the plaintiffs as equivalency issues in the November and December 1996 period leading to finalization of the new plan text.

32. The evidence before this Court, at best, establishes a hope or expectation with respect to the use of ongoing surplus but not an entitlement to surplus use.  By 1996, there was a continued inability to reach agreement between the Liaison Committee and the Advisory Committee under the CSSA as to the use of surplus and, as such, the employees and retirees pursued a joint trusteeship arrangement.  However, as at the implementation date, the employees and retirees had no entitlement to surplus use.  They had no right to mandate or direct the use of any ongoing surplus in the CSSF.

33. At law, plan members have no entitlement to ongoing surplus.  Ongoing surplus is an actuarial surplus; it is not an actual or real surplus.  Based on market conditions, an actuarial surplus may be here today and gone tomorrow.  Conversely, an actual or real surplus on wind up is fixed and known.  The lack of entitlement to ongoing surplus is consistent with a defined benefit (“DB”) pension plan. The benefits are fixed.

34. Through the pension committee (the “Pension Committee”) established under the new plan, there is an ability on the part of plan members to make recommendations for benefit improvements, which includes improvements which use ongoing surplus. MTS, like the government under the old plan, has the right to approve such recommendations. As such, with respect to ongoing surplus use, there is equivalence under the old plan and the new plan.

35. With respect to sharing of surplus on plan wind up (the third context in which surplus arises), there was no provision under the CSSA.  However, MTS agreed to the sharing of surplus on plan wind up and inserted text to that effect into the new plan.

Fox’s opinion - Process

36. If it is necessary to review Fox’s Opinion, the plaintiffs must establish that, at law, Fox’s Opinion can be reviewed by this Court.  To do so, the plaintiffs must establish that a duty of fairness was owed and that there was a breach of that duty.  MTS submits no duty of fairness was owed or, in the alternative, if a duty was owed, that duty was minimal and met.
37. Following his appointment, Fox began to gather information necessary to render his opinion. The Provincial Auditor’s office acted as a facilitator. For example, Fox met with MTS on December 2, 1996, to obtain documents available from MTS as the author of the new plan.  On December 11, 1996, Fox met with Williams, MTS’s actuary who was involved in drafting the new plan. On December 11, 1996, Fox met with the General Manager of the CSSB.  
38. On December 19, 1996, Fox met with the plaintiffs’ representatives and their actuaries Louis Ellement (“Ellement”) and Corp. Fox received their views on the definition of equivalence in value.  At the time Fox met with the plaintiffs, they had reviewed drafts of the plan and the plaintiff Harry Restall (“Restall”) and Ellement’s group, the Employee and Retiree Pension Committee  the (“ERPC”), presented to Fox a list of changes they wanted to the new plan draft as it stood at that time [AD 621, 620, 563]. 
39. On January 2, 1997, Restall wrote to Fox and provided him with the outstanding issues from the plaintiffs’ perspective, which had been reduced to three issues: (i) initial transfer of assets, (ii) actuarial surpluses, and (iii) the need for a 2/3 vote of the Pension Committee for certain new plan amendments [AD 717, 563, 625, 637]. The first outstanding issue was later addressed by MTS transferring its entire pension reserve (the “Pension Reserve”) into the new plan.  As such, in the time period leading to finalization of the new plan text, the plaintiffs had two outstanding issues. Until years later, these were the only two outstanding issues identified by the plaintiffs relating to the new plan text. 
40. When the plaintiffs met with Fox on December 19, 1996, there were no restrictions on what was discussed.  Further, there was no limit on the number of meetings held, or on information that could be provided outside of the meetings.  At no time did the plaintiffs object to the meetings being held separately from other interested parties, such as MTS. There were no objections raised by the plaintiffs to the presence of Tom Paterson (“Paterson”), of the Provincial Auditor’s Office (the “PA’s Office”), and more generally, no one objected to the process being followed by Fox with respect to gathering information.

41. Rather, the plaintiffs appear to base their claim of procedural unfairness on three allegations:
(a) On February 4, 1997, Singleton sent a copy of a draft definition of “equivalent in value” to the then president and CEO of MTS, William Fraser (“Fraser”) and asked for Fraser to call with his comments;

(b) On about February 18, 1997, a draft opinion of Fox was sent to then Vice President Finance and CFO of MTS, Cheryl Barker (“Barker”), prior to a meeting held on February 19, 1997 with Barker, Fox, Paterson, and perhaps Singleton; and
(c) Neither a draft of the definition nor a draft of the opinion was provided to the plaintiffs for their comment.
42. MTS submits that providing a copy of the draft definition to Fraser did not adversely influence the process as:

(a) Fraser communicated to Singleton that he did not have a preference as to whether the definition was interpreted narrowly, to include only financial benefits, or more broadly to include issues of surplus and governance.  This draft definition included the statement “A secondary objective will be to assess whether the contributions to finance benefits on implementation are shared equally by the employees and employer as intended by the CSSA” (AD 788). However, Fraser was of the opinion that if a broader definition was used, it must include the concept of funding in addition to surplus and governance.  Fraser’s broader definition was consistent with the definition advocated by the ERPC and the definition that was in fact used in Fox’s Opinion.  Fraser’s narrower definition of financial equivalence was consistent with the definition of the plaintiff CEP as presented by Corp to Fox at their meeting on December 19, 1996 (AD 621);
(b) Fraser’s comments on Fox’s draft definition were not communicated to Fox;
(c) The plaintiffs were afforded the opportunity to provide, and in fact provided, Fox with their interpretation of the definition of “equivalent in value”;
(d) Fox did not care what definition was used by the PA’s Office in its communications to interested parties.  He used his own definition which, as noted, included the concepts of surplus, governance and funding.  Fox’s evidence in this regard is confirmed by the fact that his draft opinion as at February 18, 1997 included extensive discussion of surplus, funding and governance (AD 806);
(e) Accordingly, any comments by Fraser as to what should be included in the definition clearly did not influence Fox. As noted, his draft opinion of February 18, 1997 clearly applied a definition which included surplus, funding and governance [AD 806]. It follows that the disclosure of the draft definition to Fraser on February 4, 1997 is not relevant, as it had no influence on Fox.
43. Likewise, MTS submits that providing Barker with a copy of Fox’s draft opinion and then subsequently meeting with her did not affect the process as:

(a) The draft opinion Barker reviewed was only a draft and was not intended to be Fox’s opinion;

(b) Fox was interested in the valuation and financial position of the new plan as at December 31, 1996 and January 1, 1997, and relative contributions to normal costs as between MTS and the plan members. This funding information could only come from MTS and all proved to be correct;

(c) Barker provided information at the meeting relating to funding of benefit improvements in the CSSF that was in the possession of the plaintiffs and they chose not to advise Fox of this information. To the extent that the plaintiffs seek to set aside Fox’s Opinion, the plaintiffs’ decision not to disclose this information to Fox weighs against this Court favouring the plaintiffs’ position;

(d) Fox was unaware of the facts disclosed by Barker and, accordingly, verified the information provided by Barker in (c) above. Then, upon further consideration, he rendered his Opinion; and
(e) Compiling the foregoing information was all consistent with Fox’s fact gathering process.
44. MTS submits there was no obligation on Fox to meet with the plaintiffs following his meeting with Barker as:

(a) Fox had already met with the plaintiffs and received extensive written communications from the plaintiffs advocating their position such that he had their views;

(b) The information provided by Barker proved true and did not require follow up from the plaintiffs; and
(c) The plaintiffs were aware of the information provided by Barker relating to funding of benefit improvements in the CSSF, knew it was important information for Fox to have, and chose not to provide this information to Fox, as the plaintiffs did not see it as their “role” to provide this information.  They expected Fox to determine this information on his own. This is exactly what Fox did by following up with Barker.
45. MTS submits no duty of fairness was owed.  Alternatively, if a duty of fairness was owed, it was minimal and was met by Fox.  Fox was not performing an adjudicative function, but was rendering a professional opinion.  Like a lawyer rendering a professional opinion to a client, one gathers the relevant facts, makes enquiries and seeks any clarification that is required and delivers an opinion; there is no duty of fairness owed. Of equal significance, at no time throughout the process did the plaintiffs object to the process followed by Fox. Rather, Restall expected that relevant information that Restall chose not to disclose to Fox would be determined by Fox through his own further investigations (June 3, page 64). This is exactly what Fox did when he met with Barker of MTS. It is submitted the plaintiffs have no basis to now object to this process. 
Fox’s opinion 
46. The plaintiffs appear to claim that, apart from any issue of procedural fairness, Fox had to be correct in his decision.  MTS submits this is contrary to well established principles of judicial review and the requirements of the Reorg Act.  
47. It is undisputed that actuaries may hold different but valid opinions.  Whether another actuary might hold an opinion different from Fox does not render Fox’s Opinion incorrect, particularly when it is supported by other actuaries. To review Fox’s Opinion, this Court must conclude that Fox’s Opinion was unreasonable because it was not an opinion consistent with actuarial standards. It is submitted that to do so, this Court would have to reject the evidence of actuaries Brian FitzGerald (“FitzGerald”) (MTS’s expert), Williams (the new plan actuary) and the plaintiffs’ own actuary Corp (CEP’s actuary).

Memorandum of Agreement - November 7, 1996

48. The initial surplus originally had two definitions.  First, the initial surplus was said to be the difference between the amount coming over from the CSSF and half of MTS’s actuarial liabilities under the CSSF.  Second, the initial surplus was said to be the difference between the transfer from the CSSA (representing employee contributions paid into the CSSF plus investment returns) and the amount held by MTS in the Pension Reserve.  This resulted in a $43 million difference in favour of the employees and retirees, and it is this amount that was later settled on as being the “initial surplus”.

49. The issue for the plaintiffs was what to do with this initial surplus.  They proposed, and MTS agreed as set out in the MOA, to place this initial surplus into the COLA account (the “COLA Account”) under the new plan.  

50. MTS understood that, in accordance with the MOA, the initial surplus would be placed into that COLA Account to get it closer to the 20-year prefunding requirement.  Corp, the actuary acting for CEP at the time and called by the plaintiffs as part of their case, acknowledged that the $43 million initial surplus was to go into the COLA Account and was put there to fund the minimum COLA and to get closer to the 20-year prefunding rule that existed in the new plan as it did in the old plan.  This is an interpretation that Corp gleaned from his client, Maggi Hadfield (“Hadfield”) of the plaintiff CEP, a signatory of the MOA who was not called by the plaintiffs at trial.
51. Other plaintiffs’ witnesses had different interpretations as to what was meant by the MOA, but most inconsistent of the interpretations from all other witnesses came from the plaintiffs’ actuary Ellement.  Ellement was not at the November 7, 1996 meeting at which the MOA was signed and, unlike Corp, was not consulted prior to his principals entering into the MOA.  Most remarkable is that Ellement’s interpretation of the MOA, upon which the allegations contained in the Fresh as Amended Statement of Claim are based, was not arrived at until 2000, more than three years after the MOA was signed and a year after the original Statement of Claim was issued, after Ellement apparently had an “epiphany”.  However, on cross-examination, Ellement conceded that his view of the MOA and how the COLA Account is to be operated pursuant to the MOA is based on what MTS has the ability to do, and not what MTS is obliged to do (Sept. 22, page 94).  An “ability” to do something does not a claim against MTS make.
52. With respect to the operation of the COLA, the design of this account was set up to mirror the adjustment account under the CSSF Adjustment Account and, in fact, has operated similarly. 
53. By the end of December 1996, the plaintiffs considered the new plan text to reflect accurately the intent of the MOA.  The plaintiffs’ ERPC confirmed in late December 1996, that they were satisfied with the wording of section 16.7 of the new plan text, which dealt with the funding of the notional COLA Account.
54. In 1995, the CSSA Adjustment Account had approximately 10% of its prefunding obligation to reach the 20-year prefunding rule set out in subsection 33(5.1) of the CSSA [Ex. 4, Tab 2, Tab B].

55. When the COLA Account was created in the new plan, it was agreed that $31 million transferred from the CSSF Adjustment Account, plus $31 million matched by MTS plus the $43 million initial surplus would be allocated to the COLA Account for a total of $105 million.  This amount represented 42% of the total amount required for 20-year prefunding, a higher percentage and, therefore, greater ability to reach the 20-year prefunding rule required under the CSSA and under the new plan [AD 923].  This is consistent with Corp’s evidence as to the intended use of the $43 million initial surplus.
56. In 1998, the amount in the COLA Account was closer to the 20-year prefunding obligation, reaching 61.4% of the amount required for 20-year prefunding [AD 950].  However, starting in 1999, the amount in the COLA Account began to decline, such that the COLA “guarantee” provided for in the MOA kicked in as of 2006.

57. Surplus in the old plan, as most recently agreed to in 2006 between the Liaison Committee and the Advisory Committee (but not yet implemented), is required to keep the CSSF Adjustment Account in operation.  This transfer of surplus from the CSSF main account into the CSSF Adjustment Account is not to reach 20 year prefunding and, therefore, more than 2/3 of CPI but rather to achieve in the next few years, the objective of COLA of 2/3 of CPI.  That concern does not exist in the new plan as a result of the guarantee provided by the new plan.  The use of surplus to fund COLA in the new plan is unnecessary as COLA of 2/3 of CPI up to 4% is guaranteed by MTS.

Anomalies in the Plaintiffs’ case 
58. There are a number of anomalies in the plaintiffs’ case that significantly impact on the claims advanced and the credibility of the plaintiffs’ witnesses.  These anomalies include the following:

(a) How can four plaintiffs’ witnesses (Restall, the plaintiff Larry Trach (“Trach”), Darren Praznik (“Praznik”), and Ellement) have four different interpretations and understandings of the MOA?
(b) How can the plaintiffs (particularly the CEP plaintiffs) describe to Fox and Paterson, when meeting on December 19, 1996, their view on equivalency of benefits, which is contrary to the claims advanced and, at trial, not recollect or deny what was recorded as having been said to Fox and Paterson?
(c) How can the plaintiffs’ actuary, Ellement, take three years to “come up with” what “must be” the correct interpretation of the MOA if it was not his (or anyone else’s) interpretation at the time the MOA was agreed to?
(d) How can the plaintiffs agree to the new plan text as described in December 1996 (other than with respect to an amending formula vote of 2/3 of the Pension Committee and use of ongoing surplus) and now say the new plan text does not reflect what was intended by the MOA?
(e) How can the original Statement of Claim be drafted and filed 33 months after the relevant events and make no claim for anything now advanced at trial?
(f) How can the plaintiffs’ expert Levy reach a conclusion on whether the new plan has benefits equivalent in value to those pension benefits provided in the CSSA without ever reading the CSSA?
(g) How can Levy consciously raise “expectations” to “entitlement” in his expert reports so as to fit within the definition and wording of subsection 15(2)(a) of the Reorg Act, even though he recognizes they are different? 
(h) How can funding be the cornerstone of Levy’s 2004 Report (Ex. 40) and then Levy says in his 2008 Report that the funding MTS has done is irrelevant and is simply a “timing issue”?

(i) How can Ellement say that the MOA and new plan text do not oblige MTS to do the things he testified should happen, but that MTS has the ability to do so and, therefore, MTS should be ordered by this Court to do so?
Changes to the Statement of Claim and the credibility of the plaintiffs’ allegations
59. The plaintiffs’ claim has been a moving target since originally filed in September 1999 [Exhibit 36].  The plaintiffs’ original Statement of Claim claimed as follows:
(a) MTS was obliged to fund its unfunded liability as at January 1, 1997 in the sum of $7.1 million (para. 24);

(b) MTS is not entitled to take contribution holidays and, therefore, is obliged to fund its normal costs for the years of 1998 and 1999 (paras. 25-30);

(c) The provisions of the new plan that MTS relies on to purport to utilize surpluses in the new plan to take a contribution holiday are illegal, invalid and are in breach of subsection 15(2) of the Reorg Act (para 32); and
(d) MTS has not complied with the provisions of the new plan, in that MTS ignored and bypassed the Pension Committee when it made its decisions pertaining to the use of surplus and the taking of contribution holidays and by using surplus to pay its unfunded liability (para. 34).
60. The most recent and fifth amendment to the Statement of Claim was filed during the course of trial.  The plaintiffs now claim as follows:
(a) Benefits provided in the new plan are not equivalent in value to the pension benefits provided in the old plan since, among other things, control of surplus and governance under the new plan are inferior to what was provided under the CSSA;

(b) The new plan text and governance document under the new plan (the “Governance Document”) are in breach of the MOA and the Reorg Act as the Pension Committee is not the governing body of the new plan and the plaintiffs have no effective say in the governance of the new plan;
(c) MTS has used pension funds to take contribution holidays in breach of the MOA;

(d) MTS wrongfully interfered with, and influenced, the determination made by Fox in his duties to the plaintiffs;
(e) Singleton breached subsections 15(2) and 15(3) of the Reorg Act;

(f) The unfunded liability was to be $50.379 million, as $43.364 million was not to be counted as assets in the new plan trust fund;
(g) The initial valuation to determine the funding status of the plan ought to have used a market value and not actuarial value of assets;

(h) MTS was required to make its normal cost contributions;

(i) MTS was obliged to fund its unfunded liability as at January 1, 1997 in the sum of $7.1 million or $50.379 million and failed during the years of 1997 to 1999 to pay for the unfunded liability; 
(j) MTS is not entitled to take contribution holidays and, therefore, is obliged to fund its normal costs for the years of 1998, 1999 and 2000;
(k) MTS is to pay into the new plan its normal costs and special payments required;

(l) As a result of MTS’s breaches, there has been a failure and a breach under the MOA to provide for COLA awards higher than 2/3 of 4 [sic] of CPI;
(m) The provisions of the new plan that MTS relies on to purport to utilize surpluses in the plan to take a contribution holiday are illegal, invalid and are in breach of subsection 15(2) of the Reorg Act; 

(n) MTS has not complied with the provisions of the new plan in that MTS ignored and bypassed the Pension Committee when it made its decisions pertaining to the use of surplus and the taking of contribution holidays and by using surplus to pay its unfunded liability;
(o) MTS has failed to allocate appropriate funding to the COLA Account to afford the opportunity in the future of achieving a 20-year prefunding of COLA; and
(p) MTS has failed to establish and administer the COLA Account such that it is equivalent to the corresponding CSSF Adjustment Account.
61. Accordingly, as at September 1999, no allegations were raised regarding: the structure of Pension Committee, the MOA, the structure of the COLA Account, the amount of the unfunded liability as of 1997, and the inclusion of $43.364 million as part of the new plan assets.  The structure of the Pension Committee and the structure of the COLA Account were all clearly set out in the new plan text which was shared with the plaintiffs in 1996. The calculation of the unfunded liability was included in the initial funding valuation report in 1997 prepared by Buck Consultants Limited (“Buck”), which was reviewed and approved by the plaintiffs’ representatives. The terms of the MOA were agreed to and included in the new plan text. The plaintiffs did not suggest that the MOA terms were not accurately included in the new plan text.
62. Therefore, the facts relating to these allegations were all known to the plaintiffs prior to September 1999, and were never raised with MTS.  The development of these allegations over several years necessarily casts doubt as to their credibility and veracity. They amount to an attempt to re-write the new plan text based on the plaintiffs wish list and to re-write the MOA based on Ellement’s recent epiphany.
63. While the plaintiffs have alleged many things, what is fundamentally at issue in this action is a comparison of an entitlement under the CSSA to an entitlement under the new plan, not what might be fair in setting up the new plan, who pays more, whether the design of the new plan was faulty or unfair, or whether an actuary would “design” such a plan in that manner if starting from scratch.
B.
EVIDENCE AT TRIAL
Terms and definitions

Actuarial Asset Value - means the value of plan assets as determined by an actuary.
Market Asset Value - means the fair market value of an investment as determined by market trading or by independent appraisal.
Actuarial Surplus - is the amount by which plan assets exceed plan liabilities at the valuation date on a going concern basis.
Actuarial Valuation - in a DB pension plan, means a determination of the assets, liabilities and normal cost for the plan on a specific date as determined by an actuary.  A going-concern valuation is determined on a basis which assumes that the plan sponsor is an ongoing entity.  A solvency or wind-up valuation is determined on a basis which assumes that the pension plan will be terminated and benefits settled as at the valuation date.
Adjustment Account - for reporting purposes a separate account in the old plan and a notional account in the new plan, it is the account which is used to determine the payment of cost of living adjustments.
Defined Benefit Plan - a pension plan where the amount of benefits payable to a member or beneficiary is defined by a formula.  The contribution of the employee into a DB pension plan is fixed while the contribution of the employer will be variable.

Defined Contribution Plan - the contributions of the employee and employer are defined and the benefit payable is determined on termination or retirement based on the contributions made.

Commuted Value - the lump sum present value of the plan member’s benefit entitlement.

Contribution Holiday - refers to the employer satisfying its funding obligation in a DB pension plan through the use of ongoing actuarial surplus.  The Contribution Holiday is limited to the employer’s normal cost and cannot be taken if there is a deficit calculated on either a going-concern basis or a solvency basis.

Normal Cost - refers to the cost of benefits accruing in the year as determined in an actuarial valuation on a going-concern basis.
The old plan (prior to privatization)
64. The CSSA was a DB plan in the sense that pension benefits received by a retiree were based on a formula calculation.  “Pension benefit” is defined under the CSSA as follows [Ex. 4, Tab 2, section 1(1)]:

“pension benefit” means the aggregate monthly or other periodic payments of superannuation allowance to which an employee is or may become entitled under this Act upon retirement or to which any other person is entitled under this Act by virtue of the death of the employee after his retirement

65. The formula calculation, just prior to 1997, was set out in subsection 26(1) of the CSSA [Ex. 4, Tab 2].  It is undisputed that the same formula calculation is provided in the new plan. 
66. Under the CSSA, roughly half of the pension benefit payable to a retiree was funded by plan members while they were working.  The other half of the pension benefit was paid for by the employer when the monthly pension benefit was paid to the employee once retired.  In this case, the employer prior to 1997 was MTS.

67. To protect a plan member from contributing more than 50% of the commuted value of the plan member’s pension upon retirement or termination, subsection 43(1) of the CSSA required a transfer of excess contributions into a separate money purchase account, a refund if requested or a transfer into any registered retirement savings plan.

68. However, the CSSA was unlike a true DB plan in that it was not a fully funded plan.  The CSSA was exempt under section 26 of the Pension Benefits Regulation, 188/87 [Exhibit 4, Tab 6] from the application of section 26 of The Pension Benefits Act (the “PBA”) [Exhibit 4, Tab 3], which provided:

26(1)  A pension plan filed for registration in accordance with section 18 shall contractually provide for,

(a) funding, in accordance with the tests for solvency prescribed by the regulations, that is adequate to provide for payment of all pension benefits, deferred life annuities and other benefits required to be paid under the terms of the plan…
26(3)  Upon termination or winding up of a pension plan filed or required to be filed for registration under section 18, the employer is liable to pay all amounts that would otherwise have been required to be paid to meet the tests for solvency prescribed by the regulations, up to the date of such termination or winding up, to the insurer, administrator or trustee of the pension plan.

69. The government and employers under the CSSA had not always been exempt from funding.  Prior to April 1, 1961, when the funding exemption took effect, the government (and participating employers) had matched employees’ contributions. 
70. Accordingly since 1961, the government and employers under the CSSA have paid roughly one-half the pension benefit when actually paid to the retiree (the “pay-as-you-go” method), while employees have funded their obligation by contributing prescribed amounts to the old plan before retirement.  Just prior to 1997, these prescribed amounts under section 17 of the CSSA were as follows:

17
Every employee shall, by reservation and deduction from his salary, contribute to the fund

(a) 5.1% of his Canada pensionable earnings; and

(b) 7% of any part of his salary in excess of his Canada pensionable earnings

71. From this calculation, 10.2% of the employee’s contribution was allocated to the CSSF Adjustment Account [Exhibit 4, Tab 2, section 13(2)], while the remainder was placed into the main CSSF fund.
72. The CSSF Adjustment Account was set up under the CSSA in 1977 [AD 228, 03204].  The CSSF Adjustment Account was set up as a separate account intended to fund future COLA paid to retirees in addition to the calculated pension benefit.  The COLA is associated with the rate of inflation or the Consumer Price Index (“CPI”).
73. Upon termination, a member could take out of the old plan the commuted value of his pension entitlement based on a present value.  However, the commuted value calculated under the CSSA did not provide for COLA increases that would be granted after retirement had the person not taken a commuted value.  

74. The interest rate to be applied to CSSF Adjustment Account was prescribed under section 13(5) of the CSSA:
13(5)  For the purpose of this section, the rate of interest to be credited to the superannuation adjustment account shall be determined by the board and shall be based on the rate earned on all mortgages, bonds and debentures in the fund.

75. Prior to 1990, the amount of COLA awarded under the CSSA ranged from 100% to 62% of CPI [AD 228, 03206].  In 1990, an amendment was made to the CSSA that required there to be enough funds in the CSSF Adjustment Account to fund for 20 years worth of 100% COLA increases before an amount in excess of 2/3 of CPI could be granted.  Where there were insufficient funds to satisfy this 20-year prefunding test, the COLA increase was reduced by 1/3. In particular, section 33(5.1) provided [Ex. 4, Tab 2(b)]:
33 (5.1) Whenever in the opinion of the actuary the superannuation adjustment account is not in a state of prefunding sufficient to ensure its ability to make all required adjustment payments on a continuing basis for the immediately ensuing period of 20 years, the percentage increase used under clause (5)(a) in calculating the benefit index under subsection (5) shall be reduced by one third.
76. The COLA award granted under the CSSF was to be determined by the CSSB as provided for under subsection 33(6) of the CSSA [Ex. 4, Tab 2(b)]:

33(6) A benefit index calculated under subsection (5) or (5.1) does not become effective until it is approved by the board and may at any time before it comes effective, upon the recommendation of the actuary and if the board deems it warranted by prevailing circumstances and except where the Lieutenant Governor in Council directs that the amendment shall not be made, be amended by the board to reduce the amounts thereof to such lesser amounts as the board deems advisable.

77. Accordingly, if the circumstances required it, the CSSB could award COLA at less than 2/3 of CPI under the CSSA. However, unless the 20-year prefunding test was met, COLA was limited under the old plan to 2/3 of CPI.
78. In summary, prior to the implementation date of the new plan, the CSSF Adjustment Account granted yearly COLA on the following basis:

(a) COLA based on the percentage increase in the CPI from the previous year multiplied by the monthly pension benefit to be paid [subsection 33(5)].  In other words, a COLA award of 100% of CPI is to be awarded;

(b) If there is insufficient funding in the CSSF Adjustment Account to pay for the required adjustment payments for the next 20 years, the percentage increase in CPI shall be reduced by 1/3.  In other words, a COLA award of 2/3 (67%) of CPI is to be awarded if there is insufficient 20-year prefunding [subsection 33(5.1)];

(c) If there is insufficient funding in the CSSF Adjustment Account to pay 2/3 (67%) of CPI in any given year, an amount less than 2/3 of CPI is to be awarded [subsection 33(8)]; and
(d) The COLA is to be approved by the CSSB [subsection 33(6)].

79. Ellement testified that the 20-year prefunding rule was introduced to ensure the CSSF Adjustment Account would not provide more than 2/3 of inflation until such time as there were enough assets in the CSSF Adjustment Account for the next 20 years to meet 100% of inflation.  While a difficult test to meet, Ellement testified that the purpose of this 20-year prefunding test was to make it fairer to all participants, otherwise it puts COLA in jeopardy for future retirees [Sept. 15, page 32].
80. Since the inception of the 20-year prefunding rule in 1990, there has not been a COLA award increase in the CSSF above 2/3 of CPI [AD 228, 03206].  The CSSF Adjustment Account has never been anywhere close to satisfying the 20-year prefunding rule. As at December 31, 1995, the CSSF Adjustment Account had assets equal to less than 10% of the 20-year prefunding test (AD 228, p. 03209, Sept. 20, page 40; Sept. 4, page 38; Oct. 27, page 9).  As at December 31, 1996, the CSSF Adjustment Account had assets equal to approximately 10.14% of the total assets required to satisfy the 20-year prefunding test [Ex. 28, page 11].  As at December 31, 2007, the CSSF Adjustment Account had 11.9% of the total assets required to satisfy the 20-year prefunding test [Ex. 16, page 2 of the report].  This is so despite infusions of surplus money from the CSSF main fund to the CSSF Adjustment Account. 
81. By amendment to the CSSA on March 15, 1990 [Ex. 4, Tab 2(b)], surplus was transferred from the main fund to the CSSF Adjustment Account pursuant to the addition of subsection 33(10) of the CSSA:

33(1) The surplus in the fund as at December 31, 1986, shown in the actuarial report of the fund as at that date to be $31,788,810., shall be transferred to the superannuation adjustment account on January 1, 1989 subject to the following conditions, to be used for funding adjustments made on or after July 1, 1990…
82. A subsequent agreement to transfer surplus from the main fund to the CSSF Adjustment Account was made in January 2006 [AD 1259] with respect to the surplus reported as at December 31, 2004.  This agreement has not been implemented and, as indicated elsewhere in these submissions, it may never be implemented.  The surplus transfer in 1990 and the future surplus transfer will be amortized so as to not only benefit those retirees receiving a COLA award at the time of the transfer.  By amortizing over 30 years, those plan members still contributing to the old plan and responsible in part for the creation of the 1986 and 2004 surplus will benefit from its transfer into the CSSF Adjustment Account [Sept. 3, page 89].

83. With respect to each of these surplus transfers, the genesis for using surplus came as a result of a recommendation submitted from the Liaison Committee and the Advisory Committee established under the CSSA.  
84. The Liaison Committee was an employee/retiree committee.  The Liaison Committee gained formal recognition under the CSSA in 1990 [Ex. 4, Tab 2b].  The Advisory Committee was comprised of members representing the Government of Manitoba and various Crown corporation employers.  The roles of the Liaison and Advisory Committees are set out in section 10.1 of the CSSA:
Liaison Committee

10.1(2) The superannuation and Insurance Liaison Committee, consisting of the persons who are from time to time the members thereof in accordance with its constitution, heretofore established to represent employees and pensioners in consultations with the Advisory Committee respecting pension benefits under this Act and proposals for changes thereto, is continued under the same name and with the same purpose and function.

Liaison Negotiating Committee

10.1(3) The Liaison Negotiating Committee, consisting of the persons elected from time to time by the members of the Liaison Committee from among themselves, heretofore established to carry on the functions of the Liaison Committee for and on behalf of the Liaison Committee, is continued under the same name and with the same purpose and function.
Advisory Committee

10.1(4) The Employer Pension and Insurance Advisory Committee, heretofore established to represent, in the consultations mentioned in subsection (2), those employers to which subsection 6(5) or 22(9) applies, is continued under the same name and with the same purpose and function.(emphasis added)

85. The Liaison Committee would meet and consider issues relating to the CSSA.  The Liaison Committee’s focus was on CSSF improvements and the utilization of surplus in the CSSF from time to time to fund improvements to the CSSF or fund the CSSF Adjustment Account.  Once agreement amongst the Liaison Committee members was achieved, the Liaison Committee would send a small negotiating committee (the “Negotiating Committee”) to meet with the Advisory Committee in an effort to gain consensus on various proposed improvements or use of surplus.  Negotiations took place between the Negotiating Committee and the Advisory Committee and, from time to time, consensus was reached between these two committees.  
86. If consensus was reached, the suggested improvement or change to the CSSA was sent to the minister and then the government for approval.  The improvement or change would then have to be passed in the Manitoba Legislature and codified by amendment to the CSSA.
87. The evidence surrounding this process was as follows:

(a) The Liaison Committee and the Advisory Committee were legislatively mandated to engage in consultations;

(b) The negotiation process that ensued could lead to a recommendation to the government.  The final approval of any such recommendation always rested with the government, which would have to introduce a bill in the Legislature that amends the CSSA in order to give effect to the recommendation. The government always had the final say as to whether such a bill would be introduced (Restall, June 5, page 26);

(c) The negotiation process relating to surplus use for benefit improvements or funding of the CSSF Adjustment Account did not always lead to consensus.  Where no consensus was reached, surplus remained in the CSSF and became the subject of negotiation at a later date.  At any given moment, the Liaison Committee could not direct the use of surplus that existed in the CSSF.  Rather, only after negotiation, consensus on a recommendation and approval by the government could surplus in the CSSF be used (Restall, June 5, page 25);

(d) The negotiation process, from the start of discussions to passing of an amendment by the Legislature, took several years.  This led to a constant frustration on the part of the Liaison Committee and a desire to move to a joint-trusteeship arrangement (Erb, Sept. 3, page 25); 
(e) The negotiation process did not involve the issue of funding of the CSSF itself, as funding was not a consideration under the old plan. There was no employer funding; and
(f) From 1992 on, any improvements that were made to the CSSA were paid for solely from the CSSF.  Given that the CSSF was, for the most part, money contributed by employees or investment returns on those monies, the total cost of improvements were paid solely by plan members. Improvements were not paid by the government as surplus funds were placed into an employer trust account [see AD 178, 16676].  This meant that the government’s obligation to pay pensions was something less than 50% of the benefit paid to retirees.  This government policy of not allowing for plan improvements to increase its liability continued after 1997 (Erb, Sept. 5, page 5).

88. Government action that was adverse to the CSSF was taken prior to privatization of MTS.  In 1983, The Civil Service Special Supplementary Severance Benefit Act was passed, which provided incentives to employees to retire early [Ex. 7].  As noted by the Liaison Committee in a letter dated March 11, 1983 to the Minister responsible for the CSSA, this legislation had a financial impact on the CSSF as “(1) early retirements will result in greater pension pay-outs than actuarially anticipated for this period and (2) there will be a loss of contributions from those retiring earlier than expected” [Ex. 6]. 
89. In 1993, the Government passed Bill 22, which required civil servants and employees of Crown corporations to take certain days off (otherwise known as “Filmon Fridays”), thereby reducing an employee’s pensionable service, and creating an adverse effect on the monthly pension payable (Sept. 4, pages 89-90).  The concerns of the employees were communicated at AD 182.  Years later, the effect of Bill 22 was “fixed up” and relief was provided to members of the CSSF.  However, this relief required use of surplus generated by employee contributions in the CSSF (Sept, 4, pages 91-92).  However, the willingness and the ability of the government to act unilaterally in a manner contrary to the interests of its employees under the CSSA was apparent.
Privatization of MTS and the creation of the new plan

90. In the spring of 1996, the Province of Manitoba announced its intentions to divest itself of MTS through privatization.  MTS, then a Crown corporation, was to become a publicly traded company.  The decision to privatize was that of the government of the day.  MTS did not choose to privatize. 
91. MTS understood that it would be privatized by the end of the fall session of the Legislature, creating a tight time frame to complete all tasks required to become a publicly traded company including marketing, developing a prospectus for the issuance of shares and the creation of the new plan.
92. Fraser, then CEO and President of MTS, did not get involved in the day to day creation of the new plan.  While an important component of the privatization process, the creation of the new plan was only one aspect of privatization. Fraser left the development of the new plan to Pat Solman (“Solman”), who was the Treasurer, and Brenda McInnes (“McInnes”), who was the Manager Corporate Investments (Oct. 22, page 19).  Both Solman and McInnes were, and are, Chartered Accountants and were involved in the management of the Pension Reserve.
93. The general approach to the development of the new plan was described in detail by McInnes (Oct. 14, page 16-18, cited below) and Williams (Oct. 24, page 12):
Q
Generally, I would now like to talk about the approach to the development of the new plan.  What, if any, involvement did you have in the development of the new plan?

A
I was basically the project leader to develop the new pension plan.  And as project leader I worked with a number of people.  I've worked extremely closely with Pat Solman, who was the treasurer of the company at that time.  We were, for a large part, interchangeable in this process.


In addition, we had set up a working group of people that included various people in the company who were experts in some particular way.  For instance, it included Terry Drummond.  Terry Drummond was the person who was responsible for the administration of the Civil Service Superannuation Fund inside of MTS so she had all the day-to-day working knowledge of the administration of the CSSF.  Also, she had sat on the CSSB, on their board, and had been on their liaison committee, so there was a lot of expertise there.

In addition, we had Brian Luce, who was our director of industrial relations at the time…

…And his expertise being, of course, dealing with the unions and the employees on any type of compensation and union-related issues.

In addition, we had an internal legal counsel, Irene Groot-Koerkamp, who was involved, and --

…In addition, Bill Shelest, who was our compensation manager at the time, was also involved.

And just to clarify, a lot of the day-to-day creation of the plan and going through the issues would have been done by myself and Pat Solman through our actuaries, which is the other very important component.  We hired Tony Williams to provide us with the guidance and advice and drafting for the pension plan.  We certainly couldn't do this on our own.

Q
And what, if any, role did Blake Cassels have?

A
Blake Cassels, we hired John Solrysh (phonetic) 
-- I always say his name wrong -- at around, I believe, the September time frame, and we hired them being experts in pension plans and experts in pension plans that are registered under the Pension Benefits Standards Act as well as under The Income Tax Act.  And we hired them to look at the plan text and to look at the CSSA and to look at the PBSA and The Income Tax Act and tell us if there was anything that needed to change in our pension plan because of that.

Q
What, if anything, can you tell us as to the process that was followed by the pension working group?

A
The process, the process basically started with myself and Pan [sic] and Tony Williams.  We asked Tony Williams at the beginning to give us an idea of what a draft pension plan that could be registered under the PBSA would look like, trying at the beginning to start incorporating, obviously, things from the CSSA.  And from that first draft, we went through a very iterive (phonetic) process of reading it, reviewing it, reviewing the Act, The Civil Service Superannuation Act and constantly making amendments and update to that document, and Pat and myself and Tony Williams did that to a large degree.  And then we would have meetings with our larger working group to do the same thing, to review the document itself and start going through making decisions on various issues that would obviously crop up as we started drafting the plan text and needed to make decisions.

It was also very important for Terry Drummond's involvement because the CSSA is a complex document and it doesn't include everything relating to how you administer the Civil Service Superannuation Fund so we used Terry's expertise to help us basically answer a lot of the issues that would pop up and to continue drafting the document.  We went through several drafts over the course of several months.

Q
Other than consulting Ms. Drummond in developing the new plan, what, if any, consideration was given to items or procedures not in the CSSA but were being implemented by the CSSB, by the board?

A
We spent a lot of time doing that and we did it in two ways that are probably important.  The first is there was another bill that was coming up at the time that would have changed the Civil Service Superannuation Act.  I believe that was Bill 51, if I'm remembering the number correctly.  And even though that wasn't part of the Act at the time, we implemented everything that that particular bill was setting up to implement in the CSSA.  So that's the first thing.  So if there was something like a bill, we would look at that.


The second thing we did was look at some of the procedures and policies that the superannuation board has for actually implementing and administrating the pension benefits.  And to the extent that it made sense to do so, we incorporated that into the plan text.  And in order to do that we had numerous conversations with the Civil Service Superannuation Board.
94. There were time constraints on MTS to get the new plan developed and registered.  The implementation date was imposed by the government as being January 1, 1997 [Tab 1].  It was important to have the new plan registered with Revenue Canada before the end of January 1997, in order to collect contributions, have them tax deductible for employees, and pay pension benefits (McInnes, Oct. 14, page 25). 

95. MTS did not involve members of the ERPC in the drafting process of the new plan early on.  However, MTS intended to, and did, communicate its general intentions regarding the new plan to all MTS employees and retirees throughout the privatization process.
96. MTS first communicated by various newsletters entitled “Going Public” (see for example AD 274).  This was a special newsletter that dealt with the creation of the new plan.
97. On October 2 and 3, 1996, MTS put on presentations relating to the new plan, which were open to all MTS employees and retirees [AD 370].  In attendance were representatives of MTS along with Williams, who was primarily responsible for drafting, and giving advice to MTS with respect to, the new plan.
98. Throughout this time period, the ERPC was receiving actuarial advice, paid for in part by MTS, from Ellement. CEP was receiving actuarial advice, also paid for by MTS, from Corp.  Much correspondence was exchanged between the ERPC and CEP and MTS during the development of the new plan.

99. On September 30, 1996, the draft new plan text was sent to Jules Benson (“Benson”), a senior civil servant, who was managing the privatization of MTS on behalf of the government [AD 360].  Fraser testified that MTS was waiting for the government to respond to this draft plan text before it was distributed (Oct. 22, page 54).  Praznik, who was called on behalf of the plaintiffs, testified he was not specifically aware that MTS was waiting for the government to respond, but since the Bill had not been passed in the House, it was not a surprising thing (Sept. 9, page 24).  As a Crown corporation, MTS was responsible to the Minister responsible for MTS and to the government as a whole.  Restall was not aware that Benson had a copy of the new plan text (June 3, pages 82-83).  Presumably, Benson did not advise Restall he had a copy.
100. On November 6, 1996, a memo from Fraser to Glen Findlay (“Findlay”), then the Minister responsible for MTS, was prepared and sent [AD 434].  Fraser’s evidence is that while he did not recall this particular memo, it was common to provide the Minister with such briefing memos.
101. On November 7, 1996, MTS sent a copy of the draft new plan text to Revenue Canada [AD 447], who had agreed to review a draft of the new plan text to facilitate timely registration of the new plan once finalized.
102. At trial, Corp, CEP’s actuary, confirmed that it was not unreasonable to send the draft plan text to Revenue Canada to review ahead of time (Sept. 12, pages 7-8).
103. Also on November 7, 1996, Fraser was summoned to the Legislature at 12:30 p.m. for a meeting with Benson, Findlay, Eric Stefanson (“Stefanson”), and Praznik to discuss the outstanding issues that existed between MTS and the ERPC and CEP.  As Minister of Finance, Stefanson was responsible for the privatization of MTS. Prior to this meeting and after signing of the MOA, Praznik had no involvement in matters relating to the new plan.
104. Solman accompanied Fraser to the 12:30 p.m. meeting at the Legislature.  While Solman sat in on this meeting, she did not actively participate.  Solman testified that given the uniqueness of the meeting to her, she recalled that she was in fact in attendance (in the room) at this meeting.  

105. Upon returning to the MTS office, Solman prepared the first draft of the MOA based on what was discussed at the 12:30 p.m. meeting and Fraser’s notes of this meeting [Exhibit 30, p. 25767].  Following discussions that went on between MTS, employees and retirees, and members of the government into the evening of November 7, 1996, and after a number of drafts, the MOA was agreed to and signed [AD 440].
106. By letter dated November 10, 1996 [AD 566], Revenue Canada provided its comments with respect to the draft new plan text received for review.

107. Steps were taken by MTS and Williams to incorporate the terms of the MOA into the new plan text, and in accordance with the MOA, the draft new plan text was made available to the plaintiffs on November 11, 1996.  The draft new plan text was reviewed by the plaintiffs through their actuaries Corp on behalf of CEP and Ellement on behalf of the ERPC.

108. Corp’s review of, and evidence with respect to, the draft new plan text can be summarized as follows:

(a) By letter dated November 14, 1996 [AD 466], Corp advised Hadfield of CEP that the benefit provisions “look to be pretty consistent with those of the Civil Service Superannuation Plan”.  Corp also noted in his letter that paragraph 3 of the MOA has not been addressed in the draft plan text.  At trial, Corp confirmed that he “got it wrong”.  He simply didn’t see the section which dealt with the indexing feature [Oct. 11, page 31];

(b) In his letter, dated November 25, 1996 [AD 491], Corp set out CEP’s response and request for changes to the draft new plan text in accordance with paragraph 4 of the MOA;

(c) MTS’s response to Corp’s letter of November 25, 1996 is Solman’s letter dated December 2, 1996 [AD 543], which incorporated some of the changes requested;

(d) By letter dated December 13, 1996, Corp wrote to Hadfield [AD 580] and advised there were two main key issues.  The first related to surplus and the sharing of ongoing surplus.  The second related to governance and an amending formula requiring a 2/3 vote of the Pension Committee for certain changes to the terms of the Pension Committee as set out in the Governance Document of the new plan;

(e) Corp’s response to MTS, dated December 30, 1996, [AD 645], incorporated the two points noted in Corp’s December 13, 1996 letter to Hadfield [AD 580] as well as requested that the transfer of the entire Pension Reserve be hard coded into the new plan text;
(f) CEP was happy with the benefit provisions [AD 622];
(g) The parties felt that they had achieved equivalence in the benefit provisions [AD 621].
109. Ellement’s review of, and evidence with respect to, the draft new plan text can be summarized as follows:

(a) In Ellement’s letter dated November 25, 1996 [AD 488], he set out the ERPC’s position (not CEP) with respect to the draft new plan text and requested several changes;

(b) MTS’s response to Ellement’s letter of November 25, 1996 was Solman’s letter dated December 2, 1996 [AD 542], which incorporated some of the changes requested by Ellement;
(c) In response to a review of the draft new plan text dated December 3, 1996, Ellement wrote to Solman and Williams, by letter dated December 10, 1996 [AD 563], indicating that the latest draft addressed many of the issues raised in Ellement’s letter of November 25, 1996 [AD 488], but indicated further changes that needed to be made from their perspective;
(d) MTS’s response to Ellement’s December 3, 1996 letter [AD 563] is Solman’s letter of December 20, 1996 [AD 625-628];

(e) Ellement’s December 23, 1996 response back to MTS is found at AD 637.

110. Consistent between Ellement and Corp was a request for the sharing of ongoing surplus.  Consideration was given by MTS to this request but ultimately, MTS could not give up control of this ongoing surplus given its exposure to unfunded liabilities. MTS needed to manage this risk (see AD 541).  McInnes’ trial evidence [Oct. 15, pages 26-27] was as follows:
A
My recollection of [AD 541], is that we've had number of discussions with Tony and a number of pieces of correspondence between ourselves and the employees and retirees and their actuaries.  And in addition, Tony had been speaking to the actuaries representing the employees and retirees.  And through that process, Tony was asked to develop some wording that could be used.  As I mentioned, in that last document we discussed, trying to track individual contributions was something that we did think was administratively prohibitive, and Tony here was saying well, if you want to share surplus in some manner, this is an option that you could use.  And that's what he's laying out in this particular document.  

And basically, it shows you that we went through a lot of work related to looking at the surplus issue and sharing surplus.  We very much considered what the employees and retirees wanted and what they had been requesting, and even had Tony look at it after conversations the actuaries for the unions and retirees.  Ultimately, at the end of the day, as I mentioned before and --

Q
Sorry. 

A
Sorry. 

Q
Before you go to the end of the day, what if any recommendations were you receiving with respect to this, from Mr. Williams?

A
Tony wasn’t recommending we do this.  He was providing us with an option if we wanted to incorporate it into the plan text.  Him and I specifically discussed that at that time.

Q
And, and I'm sorry, I interrupted you, but you were saying, you started talking about the end of the day?

A
Yeah.  And I mean, that's the -- at the end of the day after looking at all this and considering it, writing briefing memos up to our vice president of finance, as we just reviewed, et cetera, the conclusion was drawn by the company that we still had to maintain our position, that the company was responsible for funding all of the unfunded liabilities that would ever arise in the future, and therefore, had to keep control of how surplus is used.  

111. Also consistent between Ellement and Corp was a request for a 2/3 amending formula for the Pension Committee, requiring a majority vote by the Pension Committee to amend the Pension Committee or the provisions dealing with use or sharing of ongoing surplus.  
112. No agreement was reached between the plaintiffs and MTS with respect to the sharing of ongoing surplus and the amending formula. MTS has always maintained the position that as long as MTS is responsible for funding any deficiencies or unfunded liabilities, it needs to maintain control of surplus that may be calculated from time to time.  The plaintiffs’ witness Erb described this approach as “common sense” (Sept. 4, page 85). The plaintiffs’ actuary Corp testified it was not unusual for a party responsible for deficiencies to maintain some control provisions (Sept. 12, page 5).  The plaintiffs’ expert Levy acknowledged that no employer who has a funding obligation would give up control over funding decisions under their own plan (Oct. 8, page 74).
113. On November 22, 1996, by resolution [AD 479], the MTS Board of Commissioners approved the latest draft of the new plan text [at Exhibit 46] and further resolved that the MTS proper officers had the authority to amend the new plan on the advice of counsel or as may otherwise be required to obtain and maintain registration and to implement the resolutions passed by the Board.  
114. On December 18, 1996, McInnes wrote to Revenue Canada, in response to its letter of November 10, 1996, suggesting wording changes to address required amendments to the draft new plan text [AD 617]. 
115. On December 20, 1996, McInnes wrote to Revenue Canada forwarding changes to the draft new plan text stemming from discussions with members of the ERPC [AD 632].
116. On January 7, 1997, McInnes wrote to Revenue Canada enclosing the new plan text for registration [AD 721].

117. On January 10, 1997, McInnes wrote to the Office of the Superintendent of Financial Institutions Canada (“OSFI”), enclosing the new plan text for registration [AD 729].

118. On March 5, 1997, at AD 840, Fox’s Opinion was rendered.  Fox concluded that the value of benefits provided for in the new plan was at least equivalent in value to the benefits provided for under the old plan, based on three assumptions:

(a) MTS would make every effort to enter into a reciprocal arrangement with the CSSA;

(b) The initial valuation of the new plan would reveal an unfunded actuarial liability and MTS’s share of the actuarial normal cost would exceed the normal cost of the employees; and

(c) MTS would develop an appropriate unregistered supplemental pension arrangement to provide the benefits not permitted under the Income Tax Act (the “ITA”).

119. These assumptions all proved correct.
New plan
New plan text
120. As of January 1, 1997, employees and retirees of MTS became part of the new plan which is governed by the PBSA and the ITA.  The final new plan text is at AD 711. 
121. The new plan is a true DB plan.  The primary purpose of the new plan is set out at section 1.2 of the new plan text [00034]:

The primary purpose of the Plan is to provide Pension Benefits to Employees, Spouses, Eligible Survivors and their Beneficiaries as they are eligible to receive under the terms of the Plan.  The Pension Benefits under the Plan are intended to be supplemental to the benefits provided under the Canada Pension Plan Act (Canada) and the Old Age Security Act (Canada).
122. “Pension Benefit” is defined at section 2.36 [00040] as a periodic or lump sum payment to which a Member, Spouse, Eligible Survivor or Beneficiary is or may become entitled under the Plan.
123. This Pension Benefit paid to retirees is based on a prescribed formula found at section 8.1 [00060], which is the same as the formula under the old plan as at January 1, 1997.
124. In the new plan, both the employees and MTS as the employer are required to fund.  The employee or member’s contribution requirement is set out at section 5.1 [00055]:

Prior to the earlier of a Member’s actual Retirement Date, date of termination of employment or death, the Members shall contribute to the Fund in respect of each pay period of the Member with a Participating Employer and, in any event, at least monthly, an amount equal to:

(a) 5.1% of Earnings up to the YMPE, plus

(B) 7.0% of Earnings in excess of the YMPE.

125. MTS’s contribution requirement is set out at section 5.11 of the new plan text [00057]:

5.11  Based upon the amounts estimated by the Actuary and subject to section 16.1, a Participating Employer shall contribute to the Plan such amounts as are necessary to provide for the Pension Benefit, and related Pension Benefit Adjustments, accruing in that year and to fund any unfunded liability and any solvency deficiency in accordance with, and within the time limits specified in, the Applicable Pension Laws.  Subject to the Applicable Pension Laws, the liability of a Participating Employer at any time is limited to such contributions as it should have made to the Fund in accordance with the Applicable Pension Laws and the Income Tax Act.
126. Unlike the employees’ contribution (normal costs), which is calculated by precise formula and therefore fixed (ranging yearly from $8 million to $10 million in normal costs over the years), the employer’s contribution is variable.  To date, MTS’s contributions have ranged from $0 to $73,598,203 in a one-year period [Exhibit 51].

127. Where an individual employee contributes (with interest) more than 50% toward the calculated pension benefit, an adjustment is made under section 9.6 of the new plan so an employee will never pay more than 50% of the pension benefit.  This is known as the “50% cost rule”.  Section 9.6 of the new plan reads:

A member who retires pursuant to Sections 9.1, 9.2, 9.3, 9.4 or 9.5 shall receive an increase in the Pension Benefit which shall be provided from the excess that the Member’s Required Contributions with Interest exceeds 50% of the Pension Benefit Credit from December 31, 1984 to the Date of Determination

128. Similar adjustments are made with respect to benefits paid upon death (sections 11.6 and 11.7) and termination (section 12.4).
129. Like the CSSA, under section 5.9 of the new plan, 10.2% of the employee’s contribution is allocated to the COLA Account.  However, unlike the CSSA, pursuant to section 5.12 of the new plan, MTS also funds the COLA Account in an amount equal to the required contribution in section 5.9 of the new plan.  This matching of the 10.2% contribution by MTS is done every year regardless of whether a contribution holiday is taken by MTS (McInnes, Oct. 15, page 54). 
130. Like the CSSF Adjustment Account, the COLA Account determines COLA increases to be paid.  The operation of the two accounts is similar, but with some differences as discussed below. These differences arise exclusively from the requirements of the PBSA and the MOA.
131. Section 15 of the new plan sets out the operation of the COLA Account.  The calculation of the COLA award is summarized as follows:

(a) COLA is based on the percentage increase in the CPI from the previous year multiplied by the monthly Pension Benefit to be paid [section 15.2].  In other words, a COLA award of 100% of CPI is to be awarded;

(b) If there is insufficient funding in the COLA Account to pay for required COLA payments for the next 20 years, the percentage increase in CPI is reduced by 1/3 (the 20-year prefunding test).  In other words, a COLA award of 2/3 (67%) of CPI is to be awarded if there is insufficient funding [section 15.4];

(c) If there is insufficient funding in the COLA Account to pay 2/3 (67%) of CPI in any given year, an amount of less than 2/3 of CPI is to be awarded [section 15.5];
(d) The COLA is to be approved by MTS upon the recommendation of the actuary [section 15.6];

(e) Notwithstanding the foregoing, a COLA award must be made and in an amount of not less than 2/3 (67%) of CPI up to a CPI maximum of 4% [section 15.7].
132. As a result of the foregoing, a COLA award in the new plan will never be less than 2/3 of CPI up to 4%.

133. The only differences between the CSSF Adjustment Account under the old plan and the COLA Account under the new plan are as follows:

(a) The COLA Account in the new plan is a notional account.  The COLA Account was set up to mirror the CSSF Adjustment Account to the extent possible. The COLA Account could not be set up as a separate account due to Revenue Canada requirements.  It had to be a notional account [AD 566];
(b) There is a guarantee that a COLA award will be provided to retirees (and those who otherwise terminate from the plan) of 2/3 of CPI up to 4%.  No guarantee existed in the CSSF and without a transfer of surplus, the CSSF would have been unable to maintain the CSSF Adjustment Account at 2/3 of CPI.  If the assets in the CSSF Adjustment Account fall below the amount required to grant a COLA award of 2/3 of CPI, COLA at something less than 2/3 of CPI would be granted.  There is no obligation on the part of the government and participating employers under the CSSF to pay for any shortfall. A shortfall in fact occurred under the old plan in 1989, when only 62% of CPI was granted as a COLA award;

(c) Under the new plan, commuted values paid to plan members include a portion of COLA. This results in significantly higher commuted value payments than were ever paid in the old plan.  The portion of the commuted value that represents COLA awards is charged back to the COLA Account as a lump sum transfer charge. Such charges were not debited from the CSSF Adjustment Account because commuted values paid under the old plan did not include this amount representing COLA awards;
(d) In the new plan, the CANSIM interest rate is applied to the COLA Account. In the old plan, the CSSB adopted a different approach to the crediting of interest that, until 2007, has resulted in a higher interest rate being credited to the CSSF Adjustment Account assets. The advantage of the CANSIM rate is that it is less variable and cannot result in a negative return.  In fact, the CSSF rates of return for 2001 and 2002 were negative [Ex. 33, Tables 1-3]. Given the current economic conditions, it is likely that in 2008, the interest rate applied to the COLA Account in the new plan will be higher than the rate applied to the CSSF Adjustment Account.
134. Unlike the CSSA, there is a specific section in the new plan dealing with actuarial surplus.  Section 16.1 reads as follows:

Subject to the provisions of the Applicable Pension Laws, the use of any actuarial surplus, as determined by actuarial valuation, or a portion thereof, shall be determined by the Company, and shall include, but not be limited to, improving Pension Benefits or reducing the contributions of Participating Employers otherwise required under the Plan.  Any improvements to Pension Benefits as approved by the Company shall be based upon the recommendations of the Pension Committee.  The allocation of any actuarial surplus among the Participating Employers shall be determined by the Company on the advice of the Actuary.
135. Therefore, under section 16.1 of the new plan actuarial surplus (surplus that is calculated from time to time as the plan is ongoing) may be used for:
(a) Taking a contribution holiday, where MTS reduces its normal cost contribution into the new plan in whole or in part; and

(b) Making improvements to pension benefits as approved by MTS based upon recommendations of the Pension Committee.

Governance Document and Structure

136. Supplementary to the new plan text is the Governance Document, which is AD 712.  Section 1 of the Governance Document describes its purpose as follows:
1.2  
This Governance document is supplementary to the formal Plan documents which consist of the following (the “Plan Documents”):

(a)
Plan, including amendments

(b)
Trust Agreement relating to the pension fund 
associated with the Plan (the “Pension Fund”), and

(c)
Statement of Investment Policies and Goals

1.3
This Governance document is intended to summarize and explain the roles and responsibilities of the Board, Administrator, Pension Committee and Investment Committee in relation to the Plan, but does not in any way supersede, vary or otherwise alter the Plan Documents or the applicable provisions of the PBSA or the Income Tax Act.  In the event of any conflict between this Governance document and the Plan Documents, the Plan Documents shall prevail. 
137. Under the Governance Document, the Pension Committee, the Administrator and the Investment Committee all report to the Audit Committee, to which, as described in section 2.1 of the Governance Document, the MTS Board of Directors’ delegated its duties and responsibilities under the new plan. The Audit Committee reports to the Board [AD 712, section 1.4].  Members of the Audit Committee are members of the Board of Directors of MTS.  There are no employees or management of MTS on the Audit Committee (Oct. 16, page 67-68).  

138. The Audit Committee’s duties and responsibilities, as described in section 2 of the Governance Document, include the following:

(a) Approve plan funding;
(b) Approve annual COLA awards;

(c) Approve the purpose for which any actuarial surplus accumulated by the new plan will be used;

(d) Approve substantial amendments to the Statement of Investment Policies and Goals;

(e) Approve substantial amendments to the new plan; and
(f) Amend, terminate, merge or consolidate the new plan with a new or existing pension plan.

139. The duties and roles of the Administrator, who, as required by the PBSA, is MTS through its Treasury Department, are set out in section 3 of the Governance Document and include:

(a) Evaluate and recommend the selection of the plan trustee, investment managers, and auditors;
(b) Evaluate, select and appoint the plan actuaries, consultants, administrative services provider, performance measurement provider and other external resources as may be required;

(c) Maintain the Statement of Investment Policies and Goals;
(d) Establish a funding policy;

(e) Establish economic assumptions, including, but not limited to, salary increases and interest discount rates, as required for actuarial valuations of the plan, based upon the recommendation of the plan actuary;

(f) Recommend the rate of interest to be credited to the COLA Account;

(g) Determine, on the advice of an actuary, the amount of any accumulated actuarial surplus in the plan and make recommendations regarding the use of this actuarial surplus;

(h) Evaluate and recommend pension benefit changes as required; 
(i) Evaluate and recommend administrative services changes; and
(j) Monitor and ensure compliance with applicable pension legislation and Revenue Canada rules.

140. The purpose of the Pension Committee is set out in section 4.2 of the Governance Document as follows:
In accordance with the provisions of the PBSA, the purpose of the Pension Committee is to monitor the operation of the Plan and to make recommendations as required.  The Pension Committee shall act as an advisory committee to the Board.

141. The Pension Committee is comprised of four members appointed by MTS, three elected members from each of the three unions involved in MTS, a member elected by the retirees and a chair, who is an independent, highly qualified third party with broad experience in investment and pension management.  The responsibilities and duties of the Pension Committee in section 4 of the Governance Document are as follows:

(a) Review and make recommendations regarding the use of any actuarial surplus accumulated by the plan;

(b) Review and make recommendations regarding changes to pension benefits;

(c) Review and make recommendations regarding COLA awards;

(d) Review and make recommendations regarding substantial changes in the administration of the plan;

(e) Review financial, actuarial and administrative aspects of the plan at least once every year;

(f) Review actuarial valuations of the plan;

(g) Review the Annual Report on the plan;

(h) Promote awareness and understanding of the plan among members and potential members; and

(i) Review overall strategies for communications with plan members.

142. McInnes, at trial (Oct. 16, pages 33-34), accurately described the Pension Committee as a combination of the Liaison Committee and Advisory Committee in the CSSF, in that it is able to negotiate to come up with a recommendation to go to the Audit Committee for approval. In the CSSF, any such joint recommendations by the Liaison Committee and the Advisory Committee would go forward for consideration by the government.
Review of the new plan text
143. Following privatization, in accordance with the MOA and MTS’s assurance, the entire Pension Reserve was transferred into the new plan.  In addition, funds were transferred from the CSSF in an amount that was greater than the amount transferred from the Pension Reserve by approximately $43 million (the initial surplus).  In accordance with the MOA, this initial surplus was allocated to the COLA Account.

144. At the first Pension Committee meeting under the new plan, the initial valuation of the new plan was reviewed (Oct. 9, page 22).
145. The only two outstanding concerns identified by the ERPC as at April 3, 1997 [AD 869] were:

(i) Sharing of ongoing surplus; and 

(ii) A 2/3 amending formula for the Pension Committee, requiring a majority vote by the Pension Committee to amend the Pension Committee or the new plan provisions dealing with use or sharing of ongoing surplus.

New plan after privatization
146. The minutes of the Pension Committee meetings have been filed as agreed documents.  These minutes, along with the witnesses’ evidence at trial, explained the operation of the Pension Committee.  

147. At times, a more formal process is followed and at other times, the process is less formal. Minutes are always taken.  On some occasions, formal motions are brought. On other occasions, issues are dealt with by consensus.  Some issues raised require further information and following receipt of this information are given further consideration in a subsequent meeting. 

148. Since January 1, 1997, the Pension Committee has brought about some small benefit improvements to the new plan.  A more formal subcommittee considered other benefit improvements, but this subcommittee process concluded when all of the guiding principles could not be agreed upon and the financial status of the new plan deteriorated. At trial, it was undisputed that it was always open to the Pension Committee to make recommendations for plan improvements with or without the use of surplus. To date, no other proposed pension improvements have been brought forward by the Pension Committee.  In part, in the early years, the legal proceeding adversely impacted MTS’s ability to agree to pension benefit improvements. The concern for MTS is the uncertainty of the within proceeding. It would be imprudent for MTS to consider costly changes to the pension benefits until such time as this Court has ruled on the plaintiffs’ allegations. Many of these allegations relate to issues relevant to pension benefit improvements. For example, the issue of use of surplus has been raised by the plaintiffs in this action.  Use of surplus also relates to pension benefit improvements. (McInnes, Oct. 21, pages 20-21).  In recent years, there has been no surplus and, therefore, no consideration has been necessary as to what, if any, improvements might be recommended and paid for through an application of that surplus. 

149. The Agreed Documents include correspondence between OSFI as regulator and MTS and/or its actuary as the new plan sponsor.  Any enquiries by OSFI with respect to the new plan and the operation of the COLA Account have been addressed by MTS.  OSFI is satisfied with MTS’s position.  No direction from OSFI has been received which indicates that MTS is not in compliance with the terms of the new plan or the applicable legislation.

Old plan after privatization

150. The plaintiffs appear to suggest that somehow they have been deprived because, effective September 1, 2000, the old plan was changed by agreement so as to improve the pension formula to increase pension benefits in respect of the maximum CPP pensionable earnings from 1.4% to 1.6% for service after 1965 [AD 1064].  The cost of this change was covered through the use of surplus in the CSSF and by a 0.9% contribution rate increase for all employees still contributing to the CSSF.  Therefore, the entire cost, including employee and employer portions, was paid for by employees. Erb testified that the increase in benefits received at retirement as a result of this increase would be approximately 7% to 14% (Sept. 4, page 29).  However, Erb also testified that the cost of receiving this increase would result in an increase of contributions of up to 18% (Sept. 5, page 12).  A similar change was not made in the new plan because MTS did not want to implement benefits that would require an increase in contributions.  MTS had compared employee contribution rates to other similar companies with similar plans and felt MTS’s employees were paying enough in pension contributions.  An increase could jeopardize the competitiveness of MTS in the telecommunications industry and as an employer (Nov. 4, page 41).  Again, as developed elsewhere in these submissions, a further contribution increase in the CSSF may reasonably be expected.  Certainly, that has been the trend in other public plans [Exhibit 53].
151. Another development since privatization relating to the old plan is reflected in a Memorandum of Agreement dated December 21, 2006 [Exhibit 26] between the Manitoba Government and General Employees’ Union (“MGEU”) and the Province of Manitoba. These parties agreed to develop a plan which would create a jointly trusteed superannuation plan and to implement joint trusteeship agreements at the earliest possible date.  However, it was further agreed that the government would retain the right to approve any changes to the superannuation plan involving additional government expenditures.
152. It is important to note that in the December 21, 2006 Memorandum of Agreement between MGEU and the Government at Exhibit 26, the parties confirmed that the CSSA only provides for input and consultation through the Liaison Committee (employee and retiree representatives) and the Advisory Committee (employer representatives).  
153. This December 21, 2006 Memorandum of Agreement is evidence that the CSSF members still do not actually have a jointly trusteed plan, and that the plan members in the old plan understood that the Liaison Committee only had an input and consultation role. Contrary to the evidence of some of the plaintiffs’ witnesses at trial, there was no control by CSSF plan members relating to the old plan or even some perception of control that is different in the new plan. Finally, even with any future jointly trusteed arrangement in the CSSF, the government has reserved the right to approve any changes involving additional government expenditures.  It must also be noted that MTS has never been asked by employees and retirees to enter into a jointly trusteed arrangement.
C.
ISSUES
I.
Does the new MTS plan provide benefits which are equivalent in value to the pension benefits provided for in the old plan as at January 1, 1997?
(a) Interpretation and application of section 15 of the Reorg Act.
(b) The new plan provides benefits which are equivalent in value to the benefits provided for under the old plan as at January 1, 1997
(i) Formula calculation for benefits;
(ii) Contributions;
(iii) COLA account;
(iv) Governance;
(v) Funding;
(vi) Contribution holiday; 
(vii) Use of surplus.
II.
Procedural Fairness

(c) Was a duty of procedural fairness owed to the plaintiffs with respect to the process which led to Fox’s Opinion?
(d) If Fox owed a duty to the plaintiffs, what was the nature of this duty?

(e) If a duty of procedural fairness was owed, was there a breach of the duty of procedural fairness?
(i) No wrongful or undue influence by the Provincial Auditor’s office;
(ii) No wrongful or undue influence by MTS;
(iii) No bias on the part of Fox:
A. Allowing Fraser to see the draft definition;
B. Showing Barker Fox’s draft opinion and meeting with her.
III.
Review of Fox‘s opinion 
(f) The standard of review to be applied to Fox’s opinion
(g) The reasonableness of Fox’s opinion
(i) Did Fox’s assumptions prove true?

(ii) Was Fox’s opinion unreasonable?
IV.
Memorandum of Agreement - interpretation and compliance
(h) The agreement and existence of consensus ad idem
(i) Pension Committee
(j) Actuarial issues
(k) Use to be made of the initial surplus
(l) Changes in the new plan text post November 7, 1996 to incorporate the MOA

(m) Plaintiffs’ failure to trigger the arbitration clause in the MOA in relation to the matters described in paragraphs 2 and 3 of the MOA

(n) Plaintiffs’ failure to raise non-compliance with the MOA for years

V.
Undertaking by MTS with respect to use of the $43 million Initial Surplus
VI.
Plaintiffs’ Evidence
(o) Weight to be given to the plaintiffs’ evidence:
(i) Restall;

(ii) Levy; and
(iii) Ellement.
(p) The effect of the inconsistencies in the plaintiffs’ evidence
(q) The effect of Singleton and Fox being declared adverse
(d)
MTS’s Evidence:

(i)
Brenda McInnes;


(ii) 
Tony Williams; and

(iii)
Brian FitzGerald.
VII.
Other irrelevant matters raised by plaintiffs
D.
ARGUMENT
I.
Does the new MTS plan provide benefits which are equivalent in value to the pension benefits provided for in the old plan as at January 1, 1997?
(a)
Interpretation and Application of s. 15 of the Reorg Act

154. Subsection 15(2)(a) of the Reorg Act defined the issue to be considered by Fox in rendering his opinion [Ex. 4, Tab 1]:
On or prior to the implementation date, the corporation shall establish

(a) the new plan which shall provide for benefits which on the implementation date are equivalent in value to the pension benefits to which employees have or may have become entitled under The Civil Service Superannuation Act or to which any other person has or would have become entitled under The Civil Service Superannuation Act by virtue of the death of an employee;

155. Fox’s appointment as the independent actuary was made under subsection 15(3) of the Reorg Act:

Independent Actuary to Review Plan

15(3)
As soon as possible after this Act receives Royal assent, the Provincial Auditor shall appoint an independent actuary to review the Plan proposed by the Corporation for the purposes of clause (2)(a) to determine whether the benefits under the proposed Plan are equivalent in value as required by that clause.”
156. The Reorg Act did not require an equivalent plan to be established but rather required a plan that provided for benefits that were equivalent in value to the pension benefits a person was or would become entitled to under the CSSA.  As such, under subsection 15(2)(a) of the Reorg Act, at least three components must be considered:
(i) Benefits on the “implementation date”, which was January 1, 1997;

(ii) The new plan shall provide for “benefits which… are equivalent in value to the pension benefits…entitled under the CSSA”.  The comparison is to “pension benefits” under the CSSA and the issue is equivalent in value;
(iii) The comparison is to “the pension benefits to which employees have or may have become entitled” under the CSSA. The word “entitled” is the requirement and not something less, such as expectations.

157. The term “on the implementation date” is not without meaning.  Equivalent in value must be achieved on the implementation date and not thereafter.  This was understood by Walter Woroz, General Manager of the CSSB [AD 321].  Restall testified that he had not given much thought to its meaning (June 3, pages 57-58).  However, his counsel, Brian J. Meronek (“Meronek”) had sought a change to the definition to have the equivalent in value requirement carry on into the future [AD 347].  This change was never made (June 3, pages 60-61).
158. MTS’s position has consistently been that “equivalent in value” refers to the financial value of the pension benefits under the old plan and the new plan (see, for example, evidence of McInnes at Oct. 14, page 20).  The word value connotes a financial aspect. Williams testified that the word “value” in commuted value means money (Oct. 27, page 5).  Warren Johnson (“Johnson”), a Chartered Accountant and the former Assistant Provincial Auditor, testified that he thought it meant a financial definition (Oct. 9, page 21). 
159. The Reorg Act does not define “pension benefits”.  However, other Canadian pension legislation defines “pension benefits” consistent with MTS’s definition.  This legislation is as follows:

(a) The CSSA [Exhibit 4, Tab 2]:

 “pension benefit” means the aggregate monthly or other periodic payments of superannuation allowance to which an employee is or may become entitled under this Act upon retirement or to which any other person is entitled under this Act by virtue of the death of the employee after his retirement;

(b) The PBA (Manitoba) [Exhibit 4, Tab 3]:

“pension benefit” means the aggregate annual, monthly or other periodic amounts to which an employee is or will become entitled upon retirement or to which any other person is entitled under a pension plan by virtue of the death of the employee after his retirement;

(c) The Teachers’ Pensions Act (Manitoba) [Tab 3]:
"pension benefit" means the aggregate monthly or other periodic amounts to which a teacher is or will become entitled under this Act upon retirement or to which any other person is entitled by virtue of the death of the teacher after his retirement;
(d) PBSA (Canada) [Exhibit 4, Tab 4]:
“pension benefit” means a periodic amount to which, under the terms of a pension plan, a member or former member, or the spouse, other beneficiary or estate of a member or former member, is or may become entitled;
160. MTS’s position is that there is no reasonable basis to suggest that pension benefits should be defined differently in the Reorg Act.  It should have a similar meaning to the definition provided for in the CSSA and other like legislation across Canada, that is pension benefits refers to financial benefits.  In the present case, if the Legislature intended a broader definition, it would have expressly done so in the Reorg Act.  By not doing so, it follows that the Legislature intended that the same definition of pension benefit in the CSSA would be applied.  This is emphasized by subsection 15(2) specifically referring to “pension benefits to which employees have or may have become entitled under” the CSSA.  It would be contrary to established rules of statutory interpretation to apply different definitions of “pension benefits”, particularly when dealing with the same group of people and the movement of their pension benefits from one plan to another.
161. Ruth Sullivan, in Sullivan and Driedger on the Construction of Statutes, 4th Ed. (Butterworths: Ontario, (2002)), at pages 261-262 [Tab 4] sets out six categories of context that can apply to interpreting statutory language, including the immediate context, the act as a whole, the statute book and related legislation, the common law, international law, and the external context. 
162. Sullivan explains the presumed consistency between statutes at page 324:

Statutes enacted by a legislature that deal with the same subject are presumed to be drafted with one another in mind, so as to offer coherent and consistent treatment of the subject…In effect, the related statutes operate together as part of a single scheme.  The provisions of each are read in context of the others and consideration is given to their role in the overall scheme.  The presumptions of coherence and consistent expression apply as if the provisions of these statutes were part of a single Act.  In addition, any definitions in one statute are taken to apply in the other. (emphasis and underlining added)
163. Gonthier J., in Poulin v. Serge Morency et Associes Inc. [1999] 3 S.C.R. 351 at 33 (SCC) [Tab 5], confirmed the application of the related statutes principle to statutory interpretation:

the meaning of words depends in part on the context in which they are used.  The overall context of an enactment includes, inter alia, the other provisions of the statute, the related statutes and the other rules of the legal system (emphasis and underlining added)
164. The cross-application of definitions in related statutes is further confirmed in Sullivan, at page 327:

When statutes deal with the same subject, it is presumed that their language is consistent throughout.  Identical phrases and expressions are presumed to have the same meaning while differences in wording are presumed to reflect differences in the intended meaning or effect (emphasis and underlining added)
165. In Dauphin Plains Credit Union Ltd. v. Xyloid Industries and the Queen, [1980] 1 S.C.R. 1182 (SCC) [Tab 6], the Supreme Court of Canada considered the scope of the definition of “wages” in Manitoba’s Payment of Wages Act.  As an aid to interpretation, Pigeon J., at page 7, considered the Employment Standards Act:

In my view, the Legislature of Manitoba when speaking of deductions that may be made by an employer had in mind deductions of the same nature as those which are contemplated in section 25 of the Employment Standards Act….  I have underlined the words “that may be deducted” which appear in this statute in pari material of the same province; they are indicative of what was contemplated.
166. Accordingly, “pension benefits” must be presumed to have the same meaning in the Reorg Act as it does in the CSSA.

167. It is also noteworthy that the definition of transfer amount under subsection 15(1) of the Reorg Act is as follows:
“Transfer amount” means that part of the assets of the fund, as at the implementation date, determined by multiplying the total assets of the fund including any surplus by a fraction, the numerator of which is the amount of the actuarial liabilities of the fund for benefits payable or accrued to the persons described in clause (2)(a) based upon an actuarial valuation and the denominator of which is the amount of the actuarial liabilities of the fund for benefits payable or accrued to all persons entitled to benefits from the fund based upon an actuarial valuation. (emphasis added)

168. This definition also emphasizes a quantifiable financial benefit, which can be calculated.  If the term “benefits” under the definition of transfer amount in subsection 15(1) of the Reorg Act was to have a different meaning from the term “benefits” used in the next subsection (15(2)), principles of statutory interpretation dictate that the Legislature would have been clear in doing so.

169. The actuarial valuation of the CSSF as at December 31, 1995 [Ex. 42, para. 37] describes the “benefits financed” by the CSSF as follows:

(a) 100% of pensions and other benefits of employees whose employers matched their contributions;

(b) 50% of pensions of employees whose employers did not match;

(c) 50% of commuted values of pensions for service after December 31, 1984;

(d) 100% of the value of excess contributions paid by employees for service after December 31, 1984; and

(e) A specified portion of each pension currently in payment, excluding charges to Adjustment Account.

170. CEP’s actuary, Corp, gave the following evidence (Sept. 12, page 10) on behalf of the plaintiffs with respect to the draft new plan text [AD 448]:

Q
If you would take that for a moment.  And if you could turn to page 6 of that, the definition of fund, that's computer page 02874, My Lord.  448, page 6.  


You understood that the fund as defined here would include all contributions to the plan from which benefits -- pension benefits and expenses would be payable?

A
Yes.

Q
All right.  And if we then look at the next page, 2.35, you understood pension benefit -- sorry -- yes, pension benefit was a periodic or lump sum payment to which they may become entitled -- is or may become entitled?

A
Yes.

Q
All right.  And that's in fact consistent with the definition of pension benefit in the various pieces of pension legislation?

A
I, I believe it is.

171. Corp testified that he was aware the Reorg Act required equivalence of benefit provisions.  Corp testified that both parties felt that through negotiation, they had achieved equivalence in benefit provisions (Sept. 12, page 29).

172. The other plaintiffs have been inconsistent as to what is to be included in “benefits”.

173. At AD 620, Paterson recorded in his notes a meeting on December 19, 1996 with Fox, Restall, Ellement, Harry Micklejohn, Carl Martz and Bill Hales (“Hales”), which was confirmed on cross examination.  This group’s interpretation of the equivalency requirements in the Reorg Act was that the same financial benefits were required as existed in the CSSA.  Within financial benefits they included the use of initial surplus and future sharing of surplus.  They said they “would also like to see governance (a non-financial issue) established within MTS as close to what currently exists in CSSA”.

174. Fox’s notes of the meeting with Paterson, Corp and Hadfield of December 19, 1996 [AD 621] noted that “they are happy with the terms of the new MTS plan as they relate to benefit provisions”.  Paterson further noted that “the concerns more with the “non-benefit” provisions in the new MTS plan”.
175. Despite the foregoing, the plaintiffs now argue that pension benefits should be interpreted broadly, including concepts of use of surplus, governance and funding.  MTS disagrees with the plaintiffs’ position. However, MTS submits that equivalence required under subsection 15(2)(a) of the Reorg Act is satisfied even if the plaintiffs’ definition of “pension benefits” is used.  

176. The key requirement of “entitlement” has been discussed in the Executive Summary and is discussed at length hereinafter.

(b)
The new plan provides benefits which are equivalent in value to the benefits provided for under the old plan as at January 1, 1997

(i)
Formula Calculation for Benefits
177. It is undisputed that the formula for calculating benefits in the new plan (the “formula benefits”) is equivalent to the old plan on the implementation date.  The Reorg Act did not require equal benefits in the sense that the benefits would be identical and could not be because of PBSA requirements (June 3, page 62).  The requirement was that, taken as a whole, the benefits would be equivalent in value (June 3, page 63).  So, if a retiree was entitled to a pension benefit of $1000 on December 31, 1996, the day prior to the implementation date, he remained entitled to the same formula benefit of $1000 on January 1, 1997, the implementation date.

178. The issue for the Court is whether anything more than equivalency in “formula benefits” was required by subsection 15(2)(a) of the Reorg Act.  As noted, the rules of statutory interpretation support MTS’s position that no more was required and, as such, to the extent claimed to the contrary, the plaintiffs’ action ought to be dismissed.  That is, if this Court determines that “pension benefits” should be given its plain and ordinary meaning, which is also consistent with the definition in the CSSA, the plaintiffs’ claims, as they relate to equivalency, fail. 

(ii)
Contributions
179. It is also undisputed that, on the implementation date, the employee contribution rate under the new plan was equivalent to the employee contribution rate under the old plan.  As at January 1, 1997, the required MTS contribution to the new plan as a percentage of employee contributions was 119.64% [AD 827, p. 11200].  

180. As noted, effective September 1, 2000, the employee contribution rate changed in the old plan [AD 1064] to cover the cost of an improvement in the pension benefit formula.  MTS did not change its contribution rate, and no such change was required by subsection 15(2)(a) of the Reorg Act, as equivalency was to be determined as at the implementation date on January 1, 1997. Of note, MTS has not changed employee contribution rates to this date, notwithstanding increasing employer normal costs relative to that of the employees. That is, excluding additional, very significant going concern and solvency special payments by MTS, MTS’s normal cost as a percentage of member required contributions has consistently increased over the years. As at January 1, 2008, MTS normal cost as a percentage of member required contributions was 147.6% [Ex. 50, page 2]. Nevertheless, MTS has not increased the employee contribution rate.  This position is consistent with MTS’s position regarding benefit improvements. In the subcommittee process relating to pension benefit improvements, MTS maintained the position that it would not increase contribution rates to pay for pension benefit improvements as MTS believed their employees were paying enough for pension benefits compared to similar companies with similar pension plans. Rather than increase contribution rates, MTS has contributed substantially more on a normal cost basis than the employees. 
181. In the new plan, where an employee contributes (with interest) more than 50% toward the calculated pension benefit, an adjustment is made under section 9.6 of the plan so that an employee will never pay more than 50% of the pension benefit (the 50% cost rule).  This is mandated under the PBSA, at section 26(3), which provides:

if 
(e) the aggregate of the member’s contributions, other than additional voluntary contributions, made after December 31, 1986 [Note: the new plan uses 1984 in accordance with the CSSF], together with interest in accordance with section 19
exceeds

(f) fifty per cent of the pension benefit credit in respect of the member’s membership in the plan after December 31, 1986, calculated without regard to the operation of subsection (1),

the pension benefit to the member shall be increased by the amount that can be provided by that excess.

182. Williams and McInnes testified that in no circumstance could the operation of the 50% cost rule result in the employee paying more than 50% of the pension benefit (Oct. 14, page 53; Oct. 27, page 53). As such, to the extent that the plaintiffs allege that somehow they have contributed, or are at risk of contributing, more than 50% of the cost of the pension benefit, however defined, the 50% cost rule is a complete answer. Under no scenario can an employee pay more than 50% of the cost of their pension benefit.

183. As noted, while the employee contributions specified under the old plan continued unchanged under the new plan, the provisions for employer contributions changed substantially.  This is because of the difference in funding requirements by MTS under the old plan and the new plan.  

184. In the old plan, no funding was required by employers after 1961.  In the new plan, MTS is required to fund, not just its share of the normal cost each year, but any funding deficiencies in a given year.  This requirement to fund deficiencies is a significant advantage to plan members, and a significant risk to MTS.  Funding requirements under the new and old plan are discussed more fully below.

185. As the government and most employers under the CSSF did not have to fund, they were simply responsible for paying 50% of the pension benefit when it became due (that is, paid to the retiree).  As discussed throughout this argument, in the CSSF, employees actually paid more than 50% of the cost of pension benefits at the end of the day. In the CSSF, as a result of benefit improvements being paid for by “surplus” generated by employees, employees paid more than 50% for their benefits (June 2, pages 82-83).  On this, Restall’s evidence [Exhibit 62] was as follows:

546
Q
As we discussed several times yesterday, the nature of the CSSP, plan, was one which did not call for the Province generally to make contributions on a regular basis, but rather only to pay on a dollar for dollar basis once entitlement to benefits accrued to an employee on retirement or some other status that might qualify them for withdrawing monies or being paid monies from the fund; correct?


A
Correct.

547
Q
By reason of the fact then that some of the benefit improvements over the years had been paid out of surplus, both employee's portion and partially employer's portion, you will agree with me that when it came time for the employer to pay on a dollar for dollar basis, in fact, they were paying less than the employees, because they had already been paid, their costs had already been paid in part?


MR. MERONEK: That follows.

186. Accordingly, as concluded by FitzGerald at paragraph 51 of his expert report [Ex. 42], the fact that the formula and other benefits under the new plan are at least equal to those under the old plan, employee contributions are no greater under the new plan than they were under the CSSA, and some burden of cost has been shifted to the employer, there was equivalence in value. 

(iii)
COLA account
187. At paragraph 65 of the Fresh as Amended Statement of Claim, it is alleged that:

…MTS has not allocated the appropriate funds to the COLA account to afford the employees and former employees of MTS the opportunity in the future of achieving a twenty-year prefunding of COLA, nor has MTS established and administered the account such that it is equivalent to the corresponding account under the prior plan.

188. The only differences between the CSSF Adjustment Account in the old plan and the COLA Account in the new plan are as follows:

(a) The COLA Account in the new plan is a notional account.  The COLA Account was set up to mirror the CSSF Adjustment Account to the extent possible. The COLA Account could not be set up as a separate account due to the PBSA requirements.  It had to be a notional account. [AD 566];

(b) There is a guarantee that a COLA award will be provided to retirees (and those who otherwise terminate from the plan) of 2/3 of CPI up to 4%.  No guarantee existed in the CSSF.  If the assets in the CSSF Adjustment Account ever fell below the amount required to grant a COLA award of 2/3 of CPI, COLA at something less than 2/3 of CPI would be granted.  There is no obligation on the part of the government/employers under the CSSF to pay for any shortfall. This occurred under the old plan in 1989, when only 62% of CPI was granted as a COLA award;

(c) Under the new plan, commuted values paid to plan members include a portion of COLA. This results in significantly higher commuted value payments than were ever paid in the old plan.  The portion of the commuted value that represents COLA awards is charged back to the COLA Account as a lump sum transfer charge. Such charges were not debited from the CSSF Adjustment Account because commuted values paid under the old plan did not include this amount representing COLA awards; and
(d) In the new plan, the CANSIM interest rate is applied to the COLA Account. 

189. In developing the new plan, based on advice from Williams, MTS chose to apply a CANSIM interest rate to the COLA Account.  Williams and McInnes testified that, although on average lower than a plan rate of return, CANSIM is a less volatile rate of interest in that it can never be negative.  Applying the plan rate of return can result in negative interest rates in a bad market year (Oct. 15, page 61) [Exhibit 33, Tables 1-3].  Given the current economic conditions, it is likely that in 2008, the interest rate applied to the COLA Account in the new plan will be higher than the rate applied to the CSSF Adjustment Account.
190. In particular, Williams gave the following evidence (Oct. 27, pages 24-25) with respect to CANSIM:

Q
And what, if any, understanding do you have as to the difference between CANSIM and the fund rate of return from the start of the plan up to present, so not up to just this document --

A
Okay.

Q
-- but up to present?

A
Well, up to, to present the, the CANSIM rate has been, at least until recently, in most years, not all years, but most years has been lower than the MTS fund rate of return.  There have been years when the fund rate of return from MTS has been low or negative in which case the CANSIM rate in those years would be higher, but on average the, the MTS total fund rate of return has been averaged to be a higher number than, than the CANSIM rate.  Now, this year, 2008, is -- it's like exactly the opposite, the total fund rate of return is -- year to date is --

…

A
Yeah.  Up to the end of September, 2008, the rate of return for the total MTS fund is approximately minus 10 percent on a market value basis for all the assets in the, in the plan.

Q
Minus 10 percent?

A
Minus 10 percent, yes, negative.  And the CANSIM rate will, you know, continue to be a positive number.  So for a total period of time from when the plan was started up until September of 2008 I believe the total fund rate of return for MTS would be higher on average than the CANSIM rate, but it would be relatively close at, at this time.

191. The plaintiffs’ actuary Corp confirmed on cross examination that CANSIM rates are more stable but lower (Sept. 12, page 9).  Fox, on cross examination by MTS, confirmed that a benefit of using a CANSIM rate is that it tends to smooth or reduce volatility (Oct. 1, page 64).
192. FitzGerald, at Exhibit 43, opined that the advantage of using CANSIM is that it is relatively stable from year to year and does not suffer from the volatility of the stock markets.  In particular, it cannot give rise to negative returns.

193. The approach to the fixing of interest applied to assets in the COLA Account is consistent with the approach in the old plan. Both plans leave it to the Board to determine the interest rate.

194. On June 2, 2005, an actuarial opinion was obtained by MTS with respect to changing the interest rate applied to the COLA Account assets from CANSIM to the fund rate of return or a comparable rate [AD 1235]. This actuarial opinion was presented to the Pension Committee at its meeting on June 8, 2005, and McInnes advised the Pension Committee that it could make a recommendation to the Investment Committee on the interest rate to be applied to the COLA Account [AD 1237, p. 19285]. This option was again raised by McInnes at the Pension Committee meeting of December 5, 2005 [AD 1251, p. 19553]. 
195. The plaintiffs seek in their prayer for relief that interest at the plan rate of return be applied to the COLA Account from January 1, 1997.  The plaintiffs fail to allege the basis for this claim for relief in the Fresh as Amended Statement of Claim.  There is nothing in the MOA addressing this issue.  At best, the plaintiffs could say it was their hope or expectation that a similar rate would be used by MTS as had been used by the CSSB.  However, both MTS and the CSSB have discretion to use whatever rate they considered appropriate.  In any event, even if such a hope or expectation were reasonably held, it was not an entitlement and, therefore, is not properly considered as part of the benefits which were to be equivalent in value.

196. MTS submits that there is no basis for the relief claimed as the plan rate of return was not applied in the CSSF Adjustment Account.  Therefore, it cannot be relevant to equivalency.  Further, no particular interest rate was agreed to in the MOA.  Finally, it is submitted that the plaintiffs ought to be estopped from seeking such relief in this action when they have made no attempt to address this issue through a motion at the Pension Committee. 
197. The PBSA requires an employee’s commuted value calculation (paid on termination or at retirement as a lump sum) to include a future COLA component.  This results in significantly higher commuted value payments than were ever paid under the old plan.  To an individual plan member, this creates a greater benefit (see Corp’s evidence at Sept. 12, page 23).  This was known to the plaintiffs.  Restall’s evidence at Exhibit 62 was as follows:

2057
Q
It is my understanding that it is available and was available under the CSSF, and in determining the lump sum payment to that employee, if they elected that option rather than a deferred pension, sir, the CSSF did not include in the payment any portion of the COLA or adjustment account. Are you aware of that?


A
I believe that was the case.

2058
Q
Yes. And under the MTS plan, it is my understanding that the amount paid to the terminating member includes a portion of the adjustment account?


A
I believe so.

2059
Q
Therefore, the commuted value resulting in a lump sum to the employee under the MTS plan is, in equal circumstances, higher than it would be under the CSSF. Is that your understanding as well?


A
I believe so.

2060
Q
Did you believe that to be a benefit to the employees under the MTS plan, compared with the CSSF plan?


A
It would appear to be.

198. The portion of the commuted value that represents COLA awards is charged back to the COLA Account as a lump sum transfer charge. Such charges were not debited from the CSSF Adjustment Account, because commuted values paid under the old plan did not include this amount representing COLA awards.  
199. Debits and credits to the COLA Account, which include contributions allocated to the COLA Account, the interest rate applied to COLA Account assets, and lump sum transfer charges relating to commuted value payments, are prescribed at section 16.8 of the new plan text.
200. Restall’s understanding of the movement of money (or lack thereof) in the old plan and the new plan [Exhibit 62] was as follows:
105
Q
It will help if you look at the provision. Were you aware that the accounts that the board were to keep were to be in a separate account for each employee contributing to the fund and for each person receiving any payment?


A
I was aware of that.

106
Q
All right. You were aware that they didn't separate monies from the fund in keeping that account, were you not?


A
You mean that they were keeping the account but they didn't take the money and place it --
107
Q
Yes?


A
-- individually?

108
Q
Yes?


A
If I understand you correctly, you are saying that the monies are all kept in one account?

109
Q
The monies are kept in the fund, to use the terminology that is consistent with this; is that what you understood?


A
Yes.

110
Q
And that any accounts that the board set up didn't move monies in to or out of the fund, they merely kept an accounting or an account in respect of each employee; right?


A
That was my understanding.

111
Q
And so you understood that was an accounting function that didn't result in any movement of monies around; isn't that correct?


A
That's right.

112
Q
And it wasn't just accounts for each employee but also -- I am looking at the section again -- such other accounts as are necessary. Were you aware that they kept accounts other than just in respect of each employee?


A
Yes.

113
Q
All right. Again, did you understand that that didn't result in any movement of monies in to or out of the fund, there is only one pot of money; correct?


A
Correct.

117
Q
So that the fund was to be formed by, first of all, employees contributions, secondly, some payments by employers; fair enough?


A
Fair enough.

118
Q
And thirdly, any gifts, grants, legacies -- I guess if people die and they leave in their will a gift or some other legacy, that might be a receipt into the fund. You weren't aware of that at the time?


A
I wasn't aware of that, no.

119
Q
And fourthly, any interest earned by the fund -- you were aware that interest was earned by the fund and that just caused the fund to increase, assuming there was an interest gain?


A
Correct.

120
Q
So that's what combined formed the fund at any given time? You understood that at the time?


A
I did, yes,

121
Q
And under 13, you understood at the time that by legislation there was -- one of those “other accounts” referred to earlier in this Act was to be a superannuation adjustment account? You are aware of that?


A
I am aware of that, yes.

122
Q
And you were at the time?


A
I was at the time.

123
Q
And you were aware at the time that that didn't result in any movement of monies around, that the monies remained in the fund?


A
The monies remained in the fund, right.

124
Q
Yes. And then under this legislation 13(2), there was merely part of the crediting process to this accounting function or the account, the superannuation adjustment account, there was allocated through this accounting process a 10.2 percent of employees' contributions, or any employers who made contributions; correct?


A
Any employers that made contributions, right.

125
Q
Plus the 10.2 of employees' contributions?


A
Right.

126
Q
Again, that didn't result in any movement of monies out of the fund, the money remained in the fund; right?


A
They did.

853
Q
Under 16.7, after I passed the first line, I was simply saying that on the balance, 16.7 and 16.8, and 16.9 describe various credits and debits that would be made into and from that account called the PBAA?


A
Okay.

854
Q
Do you agree with that?


MR. MERONEK: Yes.

BY MR. OLSON:

855
Q
And when you read the draft text you understood that it was therefore both part of the fund, not separate from the fund, and it was an account to which credits and debits would be made of an accounting nature?


A
Yes.

856
Q
Yes. That was, you understood when you reviewed the draft text, a very similar vehicle and process as that which had been contained and still is contained in the CSSF for its indexing account or adjustment account?


A
You say this describes the process?

857
Q
No, the process, first of all, there isn't any separation of funds; and second of all, it is an account into which, for accounting purposes, credits or debits are entered or taken?


A
That part I agree with.

201. The plaintiffs argue that due to improper asset allocation and improper debiting and crediting the COLA Account is deficient, as it cannot reasonably be expected to achieve 20-year prefunding. The plaintiffs say this gives rise to a breach of the MOA.  However, this ignores three important facts.  
202. First, as required by subsection 15(2)(a) of the Reorg Act, the COLA Account was set up to mirror the CSSF Adjustment Account.  Any deficiencies in the COLA Account are because those same deficiencies existed in the CSSF Adjustment Account on the implementation date.

203. Second, on the implementation date, the CSSF Adjustment Account was even further away from 20-year prefunding than the new plan COLA Account.  As such, there could not have been any reasonable expectation of 20-year prefunding being achieved in the CSSF Adjustment Account.  This information was known to Ellement as the CSSF plan actuary at the time. 
204. It was with this same knowledge that on September 25, 1996, Meronek, as legal counsel to the ERPC, wrote to Fraser “We are of the view that the most appropriate use of the [initial] surplus would be to apply it to an Indexing Account, which you say MTS will set up and administer on the same basis as the Superannuation Adjustment Account for indexing purposes, in order to pre-fund future cost of living requirements (emphasis in original)” [AD 348, p. 01551]. This allocation of initial surplus to the COLA Account was then agreed to as part of paragraph 3 of the MOA and the wording of section 16.7 of the new plan text was agreed upon as satisfactory to the ERPC [AD 637].
205. The initial surplus was used in the new plan COLA Account exactly as originally suggested by Meronek and then set out in paragraph 3 of the MOA:

(a) It is undisputed that the initial surplus was credited to the COLA Account;
(b) The COLA Account was set up and administered on the same basis as the CSSF Adjustment Account. The wording of the new plan COLA Account operation mirrors the wording of the CSSA provisions covering the operation of the CSSF Adjustment Account.  Both were subject to the 20-year prefunding rule. The only difference is that because of the Revenue Canada requirements, the new plan COLA Account is a notional account [AD 566];
(c) The initial surplus has been used to pre-fund future cost of living requirements. Meronek’s request that this be done is significant, because it differs from the plaintiffs’ position at trial that that somehow the initial surplus of $43 million ought not to be included in the funding of COLA benefits of 2/3 of CPI up to 4%.
206. For many years, actuarial valuations of the CSSF Adjustment Account revealed that the CSSF Adjustment Account was significantly underfunded. There have been continued warnings expressed by the CSSF plan actuary (at times Ellement himself) that there may be a funding deficiency in the CSSF Adjustment Account such that payment of 2/3 of CPI may not even be possible.  [see Exhibits 17, 18, 19, 20, 21] 
207. In 1989, the CSSF Adjustment Account could not afford to provide even 2/3 of COLA.  This, in part, was the reason for the introduction of the 20-year prefunding test.  Since inception of the 20-year prefunding test in the CSSA in 1990, there has been no COLA award greater than 2/3 as the 20 year prefunding test has not been satisfied.  
208. At a meeting on February 17, 1988 between the Negotiating Committee and the Advisory Committee, Restall stated that on indexing, “the Negotiating Committee wants a minimum two-thirds of CPI…” [AD 83].
209. In his letter of June 3, 1992 to Erb and Robert Armstrong of the Advisory Committee [AD 160], Ellement concluded that without transfer of surplus into the CSSF Adjustment Account, it would not be able to accommodate a COLA award of 2/3 of CPI.  

210. Problems with funding the CSSF Adjustment Account were recognized by the government at least by 1994.  However, there were no solutions offered by the government. In a letter dated July 20, 1994 [AD 200], Praznik emphasized that “While the government is aware of the need to re-examine the method of funding the cost-of-living program for retired civil servants, it must be reviewed in conjunction with many other competing priorities”.

211. In his letter of November 2, 1995 to Erb [AD 225], the plaintiffs’ actuary, Ellement, again described in detail the funding shortfall in the CSSF Adjustment Account.  Ellement’s evidence with respect to this document is that it was prepared for the Liaison Committee and the Advisory Committee to explore different ideas to make the account healthier going forward (Sept. 15, page 47).

212. Problems with the CSSF Adjustment Account were known to Restall, who gave the following evidence (June 2, page 85):

Q
By 1996, Mr. Restall, and I use that as the year before, the year in which these announcements start filtering out about a new plan and privatization and so on, by 1996, in addition to the circumstances surrounding the main supe fund that I've taken you through earlier today, there was also a pattern of concern on a continuous basis with the serious under funding of the COLA account in the supe plan, was there not?

A
Yes, there was.

213. Prior to January 25, 2006, surplus transfers were made to fund the CSSF Adjustment Account.  At trial, Ellement gave the following evidence (Sept. 22, pages 21-22):

Q
Right.  Now, from the, leading up to this, these two reports we've just looked at, the December 31, '95, before MTS leaves and the December 31, '98, after it leaves and the adjustment account, sir, what was going on, sir, as I understand it from the late '80s through the mid-'90s, there was concern at the CSSB --

A
Yes.

Q
-- and in the government with respect to the financial viability of the adjustment account?

A
There was concern that the objectives would not be made, would not be met.

Q
And it was understood that without injections of additional funding, they were only able to finance a certain level of indexing?

A
Yes.

Q
Would it be fair to say, as well, sir, that under the CSSF, leading up to '97, it has had to rely on surplus to be able to afford up to the two-thirds of indexing or CPI?

A
Yes.

214. As late as May 8, 2008 [Exhibit 16], Dennis Ellement, the current CSSF plan actuary, advised the CSSB as follows:

When inflation is low (about 1.00%), the Account is able to pay for cost-of-living (COLA) increases.  Should inflation reach higher levels, a funding deficiency could result and payment of 2/3 of the Consumer Price Index (CPI) may not be possible.  Improvements are needed to the COLA program to ensure these increases in the future.

215. In recent years, inflation has been more than 1% [Exhibits 16-24], suggesting inflation will continue to be higher than 1% and a deficit in the CSSF Adjustment Account will occur.  This is so despite the infusion of surplus into the CSSF Adjustment Account.  MTS submits that the infusion of surplus has been, and will be, required to maintain the CSSF Adjustment Account, leaving the surplus (if any) unavailable for other pension benefit improvements.  On January 25, 2006, it was agreed that the entire surplus in the main CSSF account of $145 million as at December 31, 2004 would be transferred to the CSSF Adjustment Account.  [AD 1234 at p. 17832 and AD 1259] (May 9, page 47). To date, this transfer has not yet taken place [Sept. 23, page 76].  Even with this future transfer, if it is made, the CSSF Adjustment Account remains significantly underfunded.

216. Any deficiencies with the COLA Account in the new plan existed in the CSSF Adjustment Account after which it was modeled.  However, as a result of the COLA guarantee in the new plan, a retiree in the new plan will never receive COLA of anything less than 2/3 of CPI up to 4%.  This is an improvement over the old plan.  As noted, in 1989 the CSSF Adjustment Account could not provide 2/3 of CPI.  
217. The suggestion by the plaintiffs that the  COLA guarantee somehow is a loss to the plaintiffs ignores the reality that if CPI (inflation) is greater than 4%, given its ongoing funding deficiencies, the CSSF Adjustment Account is unlikely to be able to finance a COLA award of 2/3 of inflation in the future.
218. Moreover, the decision to “cap” the guarantee at 2/3 of CPI up to 4% was not done without some rationale.  As testified by McInnes and Williams (Oct. 15, pages 31-32; Oct. 27, page 2), in 1995-1996 (up to present), the Bank of Canada was managing inflation between 1% and 3% a year, with a target inflation of 2%.  By choosing 4% as the maximum guarantee, MTS was choosing a higher and safe inflation number having regard to the Bank of Canada’s policy. Moreover, like in the CSSF, there is no “cap” on the amount of COLA that can be granted in any year. The “cap” relates only to the amount of COLA that is guaranteed.  Otherwise, the amount of COLA payable mirrors the CSSA provisions dealing with the CSSF Adjustment Account.
219. Despite the position now being advanced, in his letter of November 4, 1996 to Fraser [AD 427], when the guarantee was first raised with him, Restall noted that, after review of this issue with Ellement, the guarantee provided a level of security not found in the old plan.  Restall wrote:

I have reviewed with our actuary your proposal relating to the use of the surplus that will be part of the Transfer Amount.  A guarantee of a yearly pension adjustment of 2/3 of the CPI provides a level of security that is not found in the existing plan.

220. This position was consistent with Williams’ evidence that it was his impression that Ellement considered the COLA guarantee to be valuable to plan members (Oct. 24, page 92).

221. The COLA guarantee was then expressly agreed to in paragraph 3 of the MOA.

222. As Corp acknowledged, he did not necessarily expect that, by putting the initial surplus in the Adjustment Account, there would be more than a minimum COLA available, but “we set it up in the hope that there would be more” (Sept. 11, page 28).
223. By reason of the guarantee in the new plan, surplus funds in the new plan are not required to fund a basic COLA award.  As a result, in the new plan, surplus can become more easily available for benefit improvements in the right economic conditions.

224. With respect to the adjustment account in each plan, there was at least equivalence in value on the implementation date.


(iv)
Governance
225. The plaintiffs argue the equivalence requirement of subsection 15(2)(a) of the Reorg Act has not been met because there are differences in the governance between the old plan and the new plan. They also take the position that funding and use of surplus are different as between the old plan and the new plan. 

226. The plaintiffs take this position notwithstanding that Paterson’s notes of meetings with CEP [AD 621] and the ERPC [AD 620] on December 19, 1996, record both their positions that governance is not a pension benefit. 
227. Paterson’s notes of his meeting with CEP and Corp record that “Both parties felt that through the negotiations, they have achieved equivalence. They are happy with the terms of the new MTS plan as they relate to benefit provisions… The concerns were with the ‘non-benefit’ provisions in the new MTS plan”.  Subsection 15(2)(a) of the Reorg Act requires that the new plan shall provide for benefits which, on the implementation date, are equivalent in value to the pension benefits to which employees were or may become entitled under the CSSA.  On cross examination, Corp agreed that with respect to the benefit provisions, equivalence had been achieved. On redirect examination, Corp made it clear that he included surplus and control of surplus as a benefit.  As such, he confirmed that when indicating that equivalence had been achieved with respect to benefit provisions, he included surplus and control of surplus (Sept. 12, pages 28 - 30).

228. To consider the plaintiffs’ claims, the Court will need to consider:

(a) Does “pension benefit” as used in subsection 15(2)(a) of the Reorg Act include one or more of governance, funding and use of surplus?  The comparison is to “the pension benefits to which employees have or may have become entitled” under the CSSA. If “pension benefit” does not include these, the plaintiffs’ claim fails.  
(b) If pension benefit is defined to include one or more of governance, funding and use of surplus, was there an entitlement to these “pension benefits” under the CSSA?  The word “entitled” is the requirement and not something less, such as hopes or expectations. If not an entitlement under the CSSA, under subsection 15(2)(a) of the Reorg Act, equivalency in those areas was not required and the plaintiffs’ allegations relating to governance, funding, and use of surplus fail.
(c) If there was an entitlement under the CSSA, is there equivalency in value from the old plan to the new plan?
229. Is governance a pension benefit?  MTS submits the answer is no.  
230. The plaintiffs have failed to establish that governance is a “pension benefit” versus simply being an aspect of a pension plan. Plan equivalence is not mandated under the Reorg Act. 

231. The concept of governance is not reflected in the definitions of pension benefits used throughout pension legislation in Canada.   
232. The evidence is that the plaintiffs themselves viewed governance to be a non-financial issue:

(a) As noted, Paterson’s notes of his meeting of December 19, 1996, with the ERPC, including Ellement [AD 620], record their presentation that governance was a non-financial issue;

(b) Fox’s evidence was that he did not recall governance being described as a benefit by the ERPC (Sept. 30, page 7);

(c) Paterson’s notes of Fox’s meeting with CEP and Corp on December 19, 1996, record that the “concerns were with the ‘non-benefit’ provisions in the new MTS plan” [AD 621, p. 05998]. At p. 06000 of these notes, governance is included as a non-benefit provision.

233. Was there an entitlement to governance under the CSSA?  It is respectfully submitted that the entitlement was to a process, not to make a determination binding on the government.  The evidence surrounding the Liaison Committee and Advisory Committee process (i.e. the “governance” under the CSSF) can be summarized as follows:

(a) The Liaison Committee and the Advisory Committee were legislatively mandated to engage in consultations;

(b) The negotiation process that ensued could lead to a recommendation to the government regarding benefit improvements and the use of surplus for such improvements. As noted above, this would include the use of surplus to fund the CSSF Adjustment Account.  The final approval of any such recommendation always rested with the government, who if it approved it, could pass the recommendation into law in the Legislature (Restall, June 5, page 26);

(c) The negotiation process relating to surplus use for benefit improvements or funding of the CSSF Adjustment Account did not always lead to consensus.  Where no consensus was reached, surplus remained in the CSSF and became the subject of negotiation at a later date [April 29, page 27].  At any given moment, the Liaison Committee could not direct the use of surplus that existed in the CSSF.  Rather, only after negotiation, consensus on a recommendation between the Liaison Committee and the Advisory Committee, and approval by the government, was there use of surplus in the CSSF (Restall, June 5, page 25);

(d) The negotiation process, from start of discussions to passing of an amendment by the Legislature, took several years.  This led to a constant frustration on the part of the Liaison Committee and a desire to move to a joint-trusteeship arrangement (Erb, Sept. 3, page 25); 

(e) The negotiation process did not involve the issue of funding of the CSSF generally as funding was not a consideration under the old plan. There was no employer funding; and

(f) From 1992 on, any improvements that were made to the CSSA were paid for solely from the CSSF.  Given that the CSSF was, for the most part, money contributed by employees or investment returns on those monies, improvements were paid solely by CSSF plan members. Improvements were not paid by the government as surplus funds were placed into an employer trust account [see AD 178, 16676].  This meant that the government’s obligation was something less than 50% of the benefit paid to retirees.  This government policy of not allowing for plan improvements to increase its liability continued after 1997 (Erb, Sept. 5, page 5).

234. Erb confirmed that there was nothing in the CSSA that authorized the Liaison Committee and the Advisory Committee to enter into agreements that would bind the government, and that the ultimate authority was with the Legislature (Sept. 4, pages 36 and 80).

235. Restall confirmed that section 10.1(2) of the CSSA, which sets out the roles of the Liaison Committee (June 2, pages 49-50), was consistent with what the Liaison Committee had been doing and continued to do.

236. The Liaison Committee’s Constitution is found at AD 169, and provides:

The objectives of the Liaison Committee shall be:

(a)
To monitor that the integrity and the security of the Superannuation and Group Insurance plans are being maintained.

(b)
To gather and analyze information pertinent to Superannuation and Group Life and Dependents’ Insurance;

(c)
To distribute information to member organizations through Liaison Committee members;

(d)
To prepare briefs and make representation to government on desirable changes pertaining to Superannuation and Group Life and Dependents’ Insurance; 

(e)
 To maintain and strengthen bargaining rights in the pension field and insurance field
237. The documents in evidence and the oral evidence presented at trial overwhelmingly establish that the Liaison Committee’s role and function was to recommend benefit improvements to government after reaching agreement with the Advisory Committee, where, on occasion, that improvement would be paid for by actuarial surplus in the CSSF.  The process for bringing about changes to the CSSA is summarized in the plaintiffs’ document at AD 54:

The process of bringing about change to the pension and group insurance plans comes about as a result of a specific process.  The Task Force and Liaison Committee meet to consult on proposed changes.  These two bodies are recognized by the Government as the groups responsible for discussion and ultimately for recommending changes to Government for enactment, which are then passed on to the Civil Service Superannuation Board for administration...

…The Board also makes recommendations concerning administrative changes to the Act, whereas the Liaison Committee is recognized by government as the group that consults with government or its representative, the task force concerning benefit improvements.
(emphasis added)

238. AD 54 above establishes two points.  First, the Liaison Committee’s role was one of recommendation and, second, it was a role of recommendation concerning benefit improvements.  The Liaison Committee was not tasked, or recognized to be tasked, with forwarding recommendations on other pension matters. Certainly, there could be no funding recommendation forthcoming through the Liaison Committee and Advisory Committee process as there was no funding of the employer’s share of pension benefit payments under the old plan.
239. The process followed was put to Restall on discovery, who gave the following evidence [Exhibit 62]:
265
Q
In fact, wasn't the process that first you met with and tried to get consensus with the task force, later the advisory committee, and if that was achieved, then it would go to the Minister for the Minister's approval?


A
I believe that was the way.

266
Q
I think so. Thank you.


A
I am -- that's my understanding of it.

267
Q
If it is something different, you will let me know.



Even if the Minister was in favour of it, it would then have to go to cabinet and the Government would have to approve?


A
As I said before, I understood that it could not be proceeded with until there was a change in the Act and the Government had to do that.

268
Q
Right. Fair enough. So you had to -- when I say you I mean the people seeking a change, whether they be you or someone else on the Liaison Committee or the Liaison Committee itself -- first had to get task force consensus, then had to get Ministerial consensus, and then had to get Government consensus for passing of an Act; is that fair?


A
Fair.

240. Praznik, a former minister who was once responsible for the CSSF, confirmed at trial that while other repercussions may flow, an agreement from the Advisory Committee will not bind a government (Sept. 8, pages 99-100).
241. For several years, the Liaison Committee pushed for a joint trusteeship under the CSSF and full funding from the government.  With respect to joint trusteeship, Erb gave the following evidence (Sept. 3, pages 74-75) in response to AD 227 as to why such an arrangement was being sought:
THE COURT:  Were you, were you asking him to consider talking about joint trusteeship, or considering that as a concept for the future?

THE WITNESS:  As a concept for the future in terms of his position or his, his --

THE COURT:  Government.  Yeah.

THE WITNESS:  -- comments as Minister.

BY MR. MERONEK:

Q
And, and why was it being raised with the Minister as a, as a, topic to get his input in.

A
Well, we, we have been frustrated, I guess -- had been frustrated through negotiations and try -- we, we negotiate, you know, we negotiate improvements, and it takes two, three years to implement them, and what we wanted to do, what we wanted to do is, you know, take, take it a step further.  We, you know, we, we have -- we can, we can -- our involvement to the plan -- in the plan in terms of managing the plan, being on the board, making decisions on, on plan improvements, going through all that work and then having to wait for, for a year, or two, or three in some cases, for the Government to implement it was, was frustrating, so we, we wanted to bring it closer to a modern, you know, a modern -- the modern running of a pension plan where, where you -- where the -- those authorities are with a board and, and not in the Legislature, so we, we were -- and, and the other was -- the other frustration was -- that goes along with that was having them set aside some money, or put money into the funds so that they didn't come to the table all the time saying they were broke, you know, we have surplus, that's fine, but we, we have no money, so we wanted them to -- along with, you know, a properly managed plan to, to -- or modernly managed plan have, have us move towards a jointly trustee model which, you know, I mean, we, to a large degree are there, we're just saying, take us all the way there, you know, take us, take us out of Legislation, you know, retain, retain those powers in terms of, of the purse strings in, in terms of the Government's costs, but let us, let us manage the plan.

242. And with respect to funding (Sept. 4, pages 71-72):
Q
And now I've moved to the next point which is, did you contemplate full funding through the typical defined benefit plan where the employer is obliged to pay any deficiency that might exist under the plan from time to time, to ensure the benefits are paid?

A
Well, we didn't contemplate that.  What, what we were looking at was having the government have its, its money in with our, its money in, available so that it could earn interest just as our money was earning interest, so that we didn't have, you know we're -- the government's saying it's broke, it doesn't have any money, it's relying on our portion of the fund to, to run the plan and, or for improvements.  And we were, we were requesting full funding.

Q
In fact, that had been one of the liaison committee's repeated themes hadn't it?

A
The funding?

Q
In the '90s, yes.

A
Funding and, funding and joint trusteeship, or joint, or modernization of the plan was, was and continues to be a focus of ours.

Q
Right.  And in fact, as early as 1991, sir, the liaison committee had written to the pension commission, asking that the province, province's exemption from the requirements of funding the pension plan be removed?

A
That's, that's correct, that they not be exempted.  That was, that was, that --

THE COURT:  The, the committee wrote to, wrote to whom?

MR. OLSON:  Sorry, to the pension commission April 29, 1991 and it is tab 132 in binder two for you, Mr. Erb.
243. Corp confirmed that joint trusteeship had been CEP’s position, whereby both parties’ contributions are defined and a board of trustees with equal representation administers the pension plan.  Corp also acknowledged that this type of model was significantly different from the new MTS plan, as under a joint trusteeship, the employer’s contributions would be fixed while they are not fixed under the new plan (Sept. 12, page 8-9). In the new plan, MTS funds any deficiencies. Its funding obligations are unlimited, and have been very significant since May 2004.
244. Is there equivalence with respect to governance between the old plan and the new plan?  The Liaison Committee and the Advisory Committee’s right to recommend benefit improvements, including the use of surplus to fund such improvements, is equivalent to the Pension Committee’s ability to recommend benefit improvements in the new plan, including the use of surplus to fund such improvements. 
245. Under the old plan, the Liaison Committee did not have an entitlement to amend the CSSA.  Their entitlement was to attempt to agree on a recommendation with the Advisory Committee, which was still subject to subsequent approval of the Minister and the Manitoba Government. 
246. As noted, under the old plan, there was a repeated inability to reach consensus or agreement and a continued frustration experienced by employees and retirees with a lack of funding on the part of the government.  This is especially so in the years just prior to privatization.  Where consensus was reached, a considerable amount of time was required before the agreement became law and realized.  Once again, to deal with these issues, the employees and retirees sought a joint trustee relationship, so that they would have equal say on decisions relating to the pension plan on a go-forward basis. Such a joint trustee relationship has still not been achieved under the CSSA to this day.

247. In the new plan, employee and retiree representatives on the Pension Committee have the same entitlement to attempt to agree with MTS representatives on pension benefit improvements, including those involving use of surplus. There is an independent chair of the Pension Committee. If an agreement can be reached on a recommendation, this recommendation will go forward for consideration by the Audit Committee. This is like the old plan where any recommendation would go forward for consideration by the government. 
248. In the new plan, the plan members are not without protection.  Section 18.1 of the new plan text [AD 711, 00085] provides that MTS reserves the right to, among other things, amend and terminate the new plan.  Under the old plan, the government had this same right through its legislative powers. However, this right in the new plan is subject to the caveat provided for in section 18.1 that no such action shall adversely affect any right with respect to benefits which have accrued under the new plan immediately prior to the time such action is taken.  This same protection is also provided statutorily under the PBSA. In contrast, in the old plan, the government took action adverse to the CSSF plan members.
249. In 1983, The Civil Service Special Supplementary Severance Benefit Act was passed, which provided incentives to employees to retire early [Ex. 7].  As noted by the Liaison Committee in a letter dated March 11, 1983 to the Minister Responsible for the CSSA, this legislation had a financial impact on the CSSF as “(1) early retirements will result in greater pension pay-outs than actuarially anticipated for this period and (2) there will be a loss of contributions from those retiring earlier than expected” [Ex. 6]. 

250. In 1993, the Government passed Bill 22, requiring civil servants and employees of Crown corporations to take certain days off (otherwise known as “Filmon Fridays”), thereby reducing an employee’s pensionable service.  The concerns of the employees were communicated in the Liaison Committee’s letter of May 27, 1993 to Praznik [AD 182].  Restall confirmed that with respect to this legislation, the Government had the ultimate say (June 2, page 65).  Years later, the effect of Bill 22 was “fixed up” and relief was provided to members of the CSSF.  However, this relief included use of surplus (Sept, 4, pages 91-92).  Therefore, the employees paid for this relief.
251. No amending formula or 2/3 majority of the Liaison Committee, Advisory Committee or the CSSB (which had both employee and employer representatives) existed under the CSSA, and there was no entitlement to an amending power or vote by the employees/retirees under the old plan. As such, subsection 15(2)(a) of the Reorg Act does not require this in the new plan. 
252. In a private pension plan regulated by the PBSA, such as the new plan, governance is much more than dealing with the issue of pension benefit improvements.  As is evident from the Governance Document [AD 712], governance includes funding the new plan with respect to all pension benefits, a feature that did not exist under the CSSA because there was no employer funding.  

253. McInnes described (Sept. 12, page 8-9) how MTS’s overall responsibility for funding pension benefits in the new plan ties into the issue of governance:

Q
…How, if at all, does the employer ultimately being responsible for the benefits being provided tie into the issue of governance?

A
Well, the PBSA requires in a -- your standard defined benefit pension plan, which is what we're talking about here, that the employer be responsible for the provision of pension benefits, and that gets back to the whole aspect of funding, that because the employer is responsible for all the pension benefits, the employer must ensure that there's sufficient funds in the plan to pay for those benefits.  And ultimately, it becomes the board's responsibility to determine what happens to the pension plan.  If changes are made to the pension plan, the board would have to be responsible for making those decisions.  So the ultimate governance, and this is again consistent with what the PBSA is saying, the ultimate governance rests with the company.  And so you have to structure your governance process for your pension plan to keep that in mind and to keep the company at the level of having control over the future of the pension benefits.  No different than how the government of Manitoba did it under the CSSF.

254. The Administrator, in accordance with the PBSA, is the company, MTS, which was known to Restall (June 2, page 14).  As noted, the Administrator has the ability to make recommendations with respect to funding and the Pension Committee has the ability to make recommendations with respect to pension benefit improvements. Both the Administrator and the Pension Committee have the right to make recommendations with respect to use of surplus.  A recommendation by one body does not preclude recommendations from another (Oct. 21, pages 90-91).
255. The difference is that the Administrator makes recommendations for use of surplus for funding purposes as establishing a funding policy is one of the Administrator’s duties and responsibilities [AD 712, p. 00095]. Funding relates to providing existing benefits. Recommendations to use surplus for pension benefit improvements is over and above the funding of the existing pension obligations as reflected by the normal cost and any special solvency or going concern payments.  This is the difference between the Pension Committee’s role with respect to recommendations for use of surplus and the Administrator’s role with respect to recommendations for use of surplus.
256. Ultimately, the Audit Committee has the role and responsibility to approve any recommendation regarding the use of surplus. This is the same as the government’s jurisdiction under the CSSF to approve or not approve any recommendation regarding the use of surplus. As noted, in the CSSF, because there was no employer funding, the only recommendation respecting use of surplus related to pension benefit improvements. As such, in both the old plan and the new plan, the employees have the ability to make recommendations for pension benefit improvements, including the use of surplus to fund such improvements. In neither the old plan nor the new plan do employees have the ability to make recommendations for use of surplus for funding purposes. As such, there is equivalency between the old plan and the new plan.
257. The Governance Document was reviewed by the ERPC prior to enactment and understood by the plaintiffs.  Restall gave the following evidence at Exhibit 62:
892
Q
While you have the governance document perhaps in front of you, sir, let's just cover a couple of other points.


A
Okay.

893
Q
Under section 2, the Board duties and responsibilities under this plan are set out?


A
Yes.

894
Q
And you saw that, sir, prior to enactment of the plan?


A
Yes.

895
Q
And the Board, we are talking about the Board of Directors of MTS as defined; right?


A
Yes.

896
Q
That's what you understood?


A
Yes.

897
Q
And under 2.2 (e) you saw when you reviewed the draft text that the Board of Directors had the responsibility and duty to approve the purpose for which any actuarial surplus accumulated would be used?


A
I see that.

898
Q
Yes, amongst other things, I appreciate there were other matters in there. And under section 3, 3.2 specifically, it sets out the administrator's duties and responsibilities. And the administrator, we have already agreed I think was MTS, the corporate body; right?


A
Yes.

899
Q
And the duties and responsibilities of the administrator under (k) of 3.2, would be to determine on the advice of an actuary the amount of any accumulated actuarial surplus and make recommendations regarding the use of this actuarial surplus?


A
I see that.

900
Q
And you saw that at the time prior to finalizing of the text?


A
I would have seen that, yes.

901
Q
All right. So you understood how the governance of the plan was designed, prior to its enactment, whereby the pension committee can review and make recommendations in respect of surplus, as well as the administrator can determine on the advice of the actuary the  

existence of the surplus and also make recommendations regarding use; right?


A
I read that, yes.

902
Q
All right. And that it was the Board, no matter where recommendations came from, that would approve or not, I guess, the purpose for which an actuarial surplus accumulated would be used? You understood that?


A
I did.
258. Restall’s evidence as found in Exhibit 62 is that the Pension Committee operates with the same information and knowledge as the Liaison Committee did:

992
Q
All right. Now, we know how the pension committee in fact operated. They in fact did have, under MTS representatives of the administrator, MTS, senior representatives to provide information as to how the MTS plan was being administered, did they not?


A
Yes.

993
Q
Therefore, the pension committee in fact operated identically with the same type of knowledge as did the Liaison Committee; correct?


A
Yes.
259. Corp’s evidence is that the Governance Document identified a meaningful role for the Pension Committee (Sept. 12, page 20).  This was acknowledged by Restall on behalf of the plaintiffs on discovery [Exhibit 62]:

1564
Q
Well, all right. Mr. Corp is indicating here on behalf of himself and CEP that the governance document identifies a meaningful role for the pension committee for monitoring and making recommendations with regard to the new pension plan. Can you just tell me whether or not your committee agreed with that? You might have had higher expectations, but did you agree with that, that it did provide a meaningful role for monitoring and making recommendations?


A
Yes, it did. (emphasis added)
260. Fox also thought that the Pension Committee would have some say with respect to recommendations on use of surplus (emphasis added) (Oct. 1, page 22).

261. While the Liaison Committee’s concern relating to full funding in the CSSF was no longer a concern in the new plan, as MTS was responsible for funding any deficits that may exist, the issue of joint trusteeship remained.  Despite receiving information from Ellement in 1997 with respect to the concept of joint trusteeship in the new plan [AD 882], this concept was never raised by the ERPC with MTS. (Sept. 23, page 25).  There was no discussion to share liabilities in exchange for sharing of the administration of the new plan (June 4, page 63).

(v)
Funding
262. Is funding a pension benefit?  MTS submits the answer is no.  

263. The plaintiffs have failed to establish that funding is a “pension benefit” versus simply being an aspect of a pension plan. “Plan” equivalence is not mandated under the Reorg Act. 

264. The concept of funding is not reflected in the definitions of pension benefits used throughout pension legislation in Canada.   

265. Was there some entitlement on the part of the employees under the old plan with respect to funding? In the old plan, there was no funding on the part of the government or most other employers with respect to payment of 50% of a pension benefit, nor was there an obligation on the part of the government or other employers to fund any deficit in funding in the CSSF (that is, on the employee side) [Ex. 4, Tab 2].  As such, use of surplus, for the purpose of funding was not an issue in the CSSA.

266. As a result of government and employers not funding, the old plan has always had a significant unfunded liability.  Problems existed not only with respect to the CSSF Adjustment Account, as discussed above, but also with respect to the CSSF as a whole.
267. The Provincial Auditor was repeatedly critical of the government for not funding its liability under the CSSF and for not recognizing the unfunded status of the government’s liability under the CSSF in its financial statements.  Exhibit 5 sets out various reports of the Provincial Auditor from 1985 to 1995.  As of December 31, 1984, the actuarial liability of the Province for the CSSF had been calculated to be $249.7 million.  That liability has grown significantly.  On this, Erb, a member of the Liaison Committee since the mid-1980s, gave the following evidence (Sept. 4, page 77):

Q
In any event, and it grew beyond that, and I think it, I don't know what it is now, sir, but I know it grew beyond two billion, and into the 2.5 billion dollar range, didn't it?

A
Yeah, it's, it's large.

268. The following are some of the comments made by the Provincial Auditors over the years:

(a) The issue of funding pension costs is a different one from the issue of recording the costs…MTS has made a decision to fund that part of the pension liability recorded to March 31, 1988.  However, it is retaining the funds on its own balance sheet and the Board retains control over the use of these funds;
(b) Employee pensions are a significant part of the costs of the operation of the Government and its agencies.  The accounting method being followed by the Government and some of its Crown agencies for these costs significantly understates their effect;
(c) By not including pension costs in operating results, most governments in Canada are significantly understating the burden being placed on future generations;
(d) We believe that the Public Accounts of the Province should reflect the economic reality of the costs of pension plans and other staff benefits in the Consolidation Fund operating results; and
(e) We are concerned that the failure to reflect these costs in the Public Accounts could have a negative influence with bond rating agencies.

269. Restall, Erb, Praznik, Trach and Corp all testified to being aware of the Provincial Auditor’s concerns.
270. In the CSSF, there was no requirement to make up any unfunded liability.  On this, the evidence of Restall at Exhibit 62 was:

604
Q
Were you aware in 1996 that the CSSB had essentially adopted a very conservative, high fixed income component in their asset mix because they felt they had to protect the employees' money that were in the fund?


A
No.

605
Q
And were you advised that they did so because they felt that the fund was totally responsible for its portion of any pension entitlements?


A
No.

606
Q
That is nobody else was going to pay the employees' portion?


A
You mean if the employer's did not contribute their share; is that what you are saying?
607
Q
No. They had no other source of funding, so they used a high, a very conservative approach, if I can call it that way, to the investment mix?


A
No.

608
Q
You weren't aware of that?


A
No.

609
Q
Were you aware that the CSSF did not have the capacity to make up any unfunded liability in the CSSF itself, that is the employee portion, if it fell below what was necessary to pay 50 percent?


A
No.

610
Q
MTS 20, have you seen that document before, sir -- that being a letter of July 24,1996, from the general manager of the CSSB to Mr. Fraser at MTS?


A
I haven't seen it.


Q
Sorry, did you say you haven't seen it?


A
Yes, that is what I said -- sorry, you asked me if I have seen it, and no, I haven't seen it.

612
Q
Take a minute to look at it and then I will ask you some questions on it.


(OFF THE RECORD DISCUSSION)


BY MR. OLSON:

613
Q
You see point number 1 on page 1, sir? That was, or appears to be the general manager of the CSSB indicating at least his view that the pension entitlements would have greater protection in the future as the MTS pension plan shall be subject to the FPBSA, Federal Pension Benefits Standards Act, while the CSSF is not?


A
I see that.

614
Q
And you were never advised that the CSSB were of that view?


A
No.

615
Q
Page 2, point 3, the sixth line, you will see he makes the statement,

"The CSSF does not have a Government employer guarantee for the employees' 50 percent of the pension."

That's essentially what I was asking for your understanding before, sir, you agree with that, that there isn't that Government employer guarantee for the employees' 50 percent, under the CSSF?


A
If that is so, I didn't know that.

271. The government was also aware that the unfunded liability in the CSSF was a major problem.  In a 1991 Handsard, [AD 137, at p. 09732], Praznik, who was called by the plaintiffs, stated:

In the early ‘60s, the government of Premier Robin, following on the heels of other governments across the country, decided to use what would have been employer contributions for major capital works across the province and committed the government to pay the current pension liabilities, so for over 30 years, we have paid our annual outlays for pensions paid, but have never contributed to the fund.
Consequently, the government is now in arrears of over a billion dollars of liability, which is very concerning to me as pension minister and certainly should be concerning to all of us as legislators because within probably 20 years, and I do not have my director of the Pension Commission here, but within a 20 year-period, the current liabilities in the pension fund, talking 20 to 30 years, could be crippling to government if we are paying them on a current annual basis, just the draws on that fund.  We have a major, major problem to deal with in the area of pensions.
272. MTS’s expert, FitzGerald, at paragraph 77 of his report [Exhibit 42], concluded that prior to January 1, 1997, there was no advance funding of pension benefits by the employer, and while the risk of default may have been small, it did exist.  In the event that the government did default under the CSSF, there were only the employee contributions to back up the pension promises. 

273. Also, there was nothing to prevent the government from passing legislation increasing the employee share of the cost, as had been done in at least one other province [Exhibit 10].  The Public Sector Pension Plans Historic Contribution Rates chart at Exhibit 53 shows the trend in public sector pension plans of increased contribution rates by employees. Increased contribution rates for the same benefits are the same as reduced pension benefits. 
274. Starting in 1983, MTS created the Pension Reserve where monies were placed under reserve.  The intention was to fund the Pension Reserve sufficiently by 2001 to pay for MTS’s pension liabilities under the CSSF [Ex. 5, Tab 1988, page 61].  There was no obligation to place monies in the Pension Reserve.  As testified to by Fraser, the Pension Reserve was not a separate trust, but rather just a reserve on MTS’s balance sheet (Oct. 22, page 11).  As the money was not under trust, it was accessible by the government at any time.  In particular, Fraser gave the following evidence (Oct. 23, pages 18-19):

What I was asked to do as, as part of a budgetary exercise was to review the balance sheets of Crown corporations, agencies and, and so on and look for reserves that might be available to the government in terms of a source of funds.  The, the, the, the supe fund was not one that I looked at, or -- but when I talk earlier about my personal concern at least of having pension funds, or funds that were earmarked by the corporation on the balance sheet of MTS, but not in a trust account, that was certainly part of the basis of my concern that I had in fact been asked to do it myself so there was, there was nothing to preclude some future provincial comptroller being asked to look and sort of finding a, a sum of money there that didn't have an immediate need and it being re-directed.

275. Prior to privatization, concerns were raised by Fraser to union representatives that to remain competitive, MTS needed to move toward having a pension that was fully funded.  If not, in a competitive environment, MTS would be more at risk as it could not build into its cost of services the cost of paying for a pension plan (Oct. 22, page 13).
276. On July 24, 1996, Walter Worosz (“Worosz”), the General Manager of the CSSB, wrote to Fraser [AD 291] indicating that under the new plan, pension entitlements will have greater protection as they will be under the PBSA, whereas participating CSSF employer funding is exempt from the PBA (the provincial equivalent to the federal PBSA).

277. MTS submits that there was no entitlement to funding under the CSSA. The old plan was not a fully funded plan, there was no funding on the part of the government and employers, and no one was liable for any funding deficiencies in the CSSF (the employees’ contribution to the old plan).  This not only resulted in a lack of an entitlement to funding but also posed a risk to those under the old plan with respect to the security and viability of the old plan.
278. Accordingly, MTS submits the answer is obvious as to whether there is equivalence with respect to funding between the old plan and the new plan.  
279. In the case at bar, there has been no suggestion by the plaintiffs that they are prepared to assume portions of the unfunded liability.  Restall’s evidence at Exhibit 62 was as follows:

1226
Q
Was MTS ever advised that the committee or employees and retirees may wish to have some discussions about the employee/retirees assuming some portions of the unfunded liability in turn for which other changes would be made?


A
Not to my knowledge.

1227
Q
Then points 6 through 9 deal with various matters that revolve around some speculation that the company, that is MTS, would want to wind up the plan. Had anyone at MTS ever said to employees or retirees, to your knowledge, or to your committee that, look, you insist on too much here and we are going to wind up the plan?


A
They had never put that before us, no.

280. The concept of funding is necessarily intertwined with the use of surplus, particularly when significant funding obligations are imposed on one party; in this case, MTS [see Exhibits 51 and 52].  

281. Corp, actuary to CEP, testified on behalf of the plaintiffs that it is not unusual for a party responsible for deficiencies (in this case MTS) to maintain some control provisions with respect to use of ongoing surplus (Sept. 12, pages 5 and 8).

282. Erb, who was also called by the plaintiffs, gave this evidence (Sept. 4, page 85):

Q
Right.  But will you accept, sir, that if one side has the entire funding obligation on the downside, they're not about to allow decisions to be made by the other side, or even by a joint board, because they'll always be called on to put in money?


A
I, I, I mean that's common sense, is it not?

283. While the plaintiffs’ expert Levy gave the following evidence (Oct. 8, page 74):

Q
Let me put it very candidly to you, sir.  No employer who has a funding obligation would give up that degree of control over funding decisions on their own plan?

A
I agree.

284. MTS submits that with respect to funding required under the old plan and the new plan, the latter is clearly more than equivalent between the two plans on the implementation date because:

(a) The old plan was an unfunded plan with respect to the employer’s obligation, whereas the new plan is a fully funded plan;

(b) There was no responsibility for deficiencies in the CSSF, whereas MTS is fully responsible for funding deficiencies in the new plan;

(c) There was a concern with security and a lack of funding in the CSSF.  There is no lack of funding in the new plan. This funding addresses the issue of security. It cannot be said that the old plan and the new plan significantly differ in terms of security. In fact, Worosz (the CSSB’s then General Manager) and Williams both considered the new plan to be more secure for plan members;

(d) MTS has contributed substantial amounts in the new plan and has contributed more than the employees since the inception of the plan on January 1, 1997;

(e) Use of surplus for the purposes of funding was not a consideration in the old plan, as there was no funding in the old plan.

285. Prefunding by the employer was something sought, but not achieved, by plan members in the old plan. As noted, in the time leading up to privatization one of the plan members’ objectives was a fully funded plan. To this day, that has not been achieved under the CSSF, which is one of the motivations for a jointly trusteed plan in the CSSF.


(vi)
Contribution holidays
286. The MTS Plan is a DB plan as opposed to a defined contribution (“DC”) plan.  A DB plan, like the new plan, provides that a benefit is paid on the retirement of a plan member or on the occurrence of certain other events.  The amount payable in the new plan is determined by the pension benefit formula found at section 8.1 of the new plan text [AD 711].  The retirement benefit received by a retiree is in accord with this formula, and is not directly related to individual contributions made.  
287. In addition to the benefits being defined under the new plan, as a DB plan, the contributions made by employees into the new plan are also defined and remain constant.  Section 5.1 of the new plan sets out the member’s contributions (subject to some exceptions):

5.1  Prior to the earlier of a Member’s actual Retirement Date, date of termination of employment or death, the Member shall contribute to the Fund in respect of each pay period of the Member with a Participating Employer and, in any event, at least monthly, an amount  equal to:

(a)  5.1% of Earnings up to the YMPE, plus 

(b)  7.0% of Earnings in excess of YMPE.

(this calculation is subject to a maximum as prescribed under the ITA)
288. MTS’s contribution requirement in the new plan is set out at section 5.11:

5.11  Based upon the amounts estimated by the Actuary and subject to section 16.1, a Participating Employer shall contribute to the Plan such amounts as are necessary to provide for the Pension Benefit, and related Pension Benefit Adjustments, accruing in that year and to fund any unfunded liability and any solvency deficiency in accordance with, and within the time limits specified in, the Applicable Pension Laws.  Subject to the Applicable Pension Laws, the liability of a Participating Employer at any time is limited to such contributions as it should have made to the Fund in accordance with the Applicable Pension Laws and the Income Tax Act.

5.12  An amount equal to the amount of Required Contributions allocated to the Pension Benefit Adjustment Account pursuant to Section 5.9 shall be allocated to such Account out of the amounts contributed to the Fund by Participating Employers pursuant to Section 5.11.
289. As such, in the new plan, like other DB plans, the pension benefit is defined, the employee contribution is defined, but the unknown is MTS’s contribution. MTS’s contribution can vary widely, and can be several times the employees’ contribution.

290. In contrast, a DC plan requires a specific monetary contribution to be made by both the employee and employer.  The benefits received are as a result of those contributions and can vary and are not known until retirement. 

291. As a DB plan, the new plan requires MTS to fund the new plan when an unfunded liability exists.  This occurs when the actuarial liability (i.e. the amount required to pay existing and future obligations of the plan) exceeds the invested assets of the new plan.  When this occurs, the PBSA requires MTS to fund the new plan.  The PBSA, in particular, requires MTS to make “special payments” over a prescribed maximum period of time until there is no longer an actuarial deficiency [Ex. 4, Tab 4, section 9].  As noted, unlike the employees, MTS is not limited to a fixed contribution.  
292. When there is an actuarial deficiency or an unfunded liability, the burden is on MTS to fully fund the Plan.  No additional payments, contributions or reduction in benefits is paid or realized by the employees and/or retirees of the new plan. 
293. Legislation requires that a DB pension plan be prefunded or be in the process of becoming fully prefunded.  The reason for the prefunding requirement is to provide security for the benefits the employer (MTS) has promised to the members and that have accrued to their credit.  In contrast, the thrust of the ITA provisions governing an employer’s contributions to a pension plan is to ensure that there is adequate actuarial justification for the contributions, with a view to ensuring that the employer does not overfund. (Morneau Sobeco - Handbook of Canadian Pension and Benefit Plans, 13th Edition, page 190 [Tab 7], see also Levy Oct. 7, page 51)

294. Accordingly, MTS will be subject to its normal costs relating to the new plan each year and will be subject to “special payments” whenever there is a deficiency calculated on a going concern basis and/or a solvency basis.  Deficiencies relating to a going concern calculation must be paid by way of special payments that may be amortized over 15 years.  Deficiencies relating to a solvency deficiency must be paid by way of special payment’s that may be amortized over 5 years. [Morneau, supra, page 191 [Tab 7].  See also Levy, Oct. 16, page 15]

295. When the assets of a plan exceed its liabilities, the plan is said to have surplus assets.  It is normal actuarial practice to take the surplus into account when determining whether or not an employer must make contributions in order to properly fund a plan. [Morneau, supra, page 191]

296. When the new plan is in a surplus position, the new plan text and the PBSA allow for a “contribution holiday” [AD 981].  A contribution holiday is a reduction, in whole or in part, of the normal cost contribution MTS would otherwise be required to make in any given year.  When a contribution holiday is taken, surplus that may otherwise be identified in the following year is reduced.  A contribution holiday does not remove money from the plan; it only results in additional money not being paid into the plan by MTS in a year where an actuarial valuation report indicates that no employer funding is required (Oct. 1, page 13).  A contribution holiday can never be more than MTS’s normal costs (which have ranged from $10 million to $14 million over the years) (Oct. pages 20-21).  In contrast to the limited amount of a contribution holiday in any given year to the year’s normal costs, MTS’s exposure to funding special payments on a going concern and solvency basis are virtually unlimited.  These payments represent actual cash contributions by MTS into the new plan. Once paid in, these contributions cannot be taken out of the new plan by MTS, and are used exclusively for the benefit and security of plan members.  Over the years since the implementation date, MTS’s contributions have far exceeded those of the employees.  In 2006, MTS’s contribution was $73.5 million.  The employees’ normal costs have never exceeded about $10 million [Ex. 51].
297. The Income Tax Act (“ITA”) prevents plan sponsors from contributing excess amounts into a pension plan as a way to shelter income from tax. Restall was not aware that Canada Revenue Agency (“CRA”), pursuant to the ITA, imposed limits on contributions (June 2, page 21).  At any given time, there is a maximum amount of surplus that can remain in a pension plan fund. As a result, contribution holidays are also a way to reduce the amount of surplus in a pension plan to avoid violating ITA surplus rules. Fox testified that it is a sound principle to not have large surpluses in a pension plan (Oct. 1, page 11). 
298. As a result, contribution holidays are a way to reduce the amount of surplus in a fund.  Contribution holidays ease the funding burden on an employer during good economic times, as the employer may be exposed to significant funding costs in less favourable economic times.

299. Over the years, MTS has not only taken contribution holidays, but it has paid substantial sums when the fund has shown an unfunded liability.  Exhibit 51 establishes two key important facts.  First, the actual total contribution made by MTS from 1997 to 2007 (which are cash payments into the fund) is $271,377,757.  This is $118,636,055 more than the employees have contributed to the fund over this same period.  Second, Exhibit 51 calculates the present cash value of the initial surplus (originally $43,400,000) as $99,149,221.  This amount combined with the employees’ contributions to date of $151,701,702, assuming, as the plaintiffs have alleged, that this initial surplus was to be over and above all other assets required to fund the plan, results in a grand total of $251,850,923.  MTS has still contributed more to the fund over time, as was always anticipated by MTS.  

300. Exhibit 52 compares MTS’s contributions to the new plan to the payments that would have been required in the CSSF had MTS remained in the old plan with its “pay-as-you-go” scheme.  The total payments that would have been required under the CSSF are calculated to be $305,066,283, as at December 31, 2007.  This number is inflated in the plaintiffs’ favour as a result of the higher commuted values that are paid out by MTS in the new plan compared to the old plan. The total contribution made by MTS to the new plan is $607,444,584.  This takes into account the initial payment made to the new plan of $383,433,000, plus the contributions made into the new plan since inception as described in detail in Exhibit 51.  This is a clear example of the funding in the new plan being at least equivalent to the funding in the old plan.

301. The plaintiffs suggest there was an obligation on the part of MTS to match or prefund the new plan on a 50/50 basis.  This concept is not in accord with a DB plan, which is not jointly trusteed.  Rather, as noted, it is only in a DC plan where both the employee and employer contributions are fixed.  On direct examination, McInnes was asked (Oct. 16, pages 2-3) whether MTS ever communicated that it would prefund the plan on a 50/50 basis and her evidence was as follows:

Q In the communications leading to the finalization of the new plan ‑‑ and that is, communications with the unions and retirees ‑‑ when, if ever, did MTS communicate that MTS would pre‑fund the new plan on a 50‑50 basis? 

A We often told in communications that we would pre‑fund the plan.  That was definitely something we made very clear, but under no circumstances did we say it would be funded ‑‑ pre‑funded on a 50‑50 basis.  That actually doesn't correspond with the rules under PBSA, so that's not something we could do. 

THE COURT:  When you say it's contrary to the rules, it's contrary to the PBSA ‑‑

THE WITNESS:  Yes.  

THE COURT:  ‑‑ is that what you're saying? 

THE WITNESS:  Yes.  

Q Could you explain why it is contrary to the PBSA? 

A Well, for a regular defined benefit pension plan like the MTS pension plan, you have to fund based on an actuarial valuation.  And that means that if employees fund, as they do in the MTS plan, on a fixed basis, you're not necessarily funding the exact same amount.  As I like to explain it to the employees and retirees in our annual report, when an employee puts a dollar of funds into the plan, one dollar of funds into the plan, the company isn't supposed to put another dollar in.  That's that 50‑50 funding that you're describing there.  

What the PBSA requires you to do is fund what's required based on actuarial valuation.  So the valuation will tell you what the cost of the benefits are in a particular year, and that's known as your normal cost.  You'll subtract whatever the employees have contributed to that, and the employer is required to pay the rest.  In addition, as I mentioned earlier, if there's an unfunded position in the plan ‑‑ in other words, a deficit ‑‑ then PBSA requires you to fund that as well.  They do not require employees to fund that.  That's only the employer who's required to fund it.  So ‑‑

THE COURT:  Sorry, can you just go over that one more time, please? 

THE WITNESS:  If there is a deficit in the plan, the PBSA requires the employer to make that up, and not the employee.  So the employees' contributions remain fixed.  So you see, if the employees' normal contributions in a year ‑‑ and in our plan it's around nine to ten million dollars ‑‑ the ‑‑ that's how much they're going to pay in, irrespective of the financial position of the plan.  And the company could be required to pay substantially more than that depending on the funded position of the plan.  Conversely, the company can actually take a contribution holiday as well.  That's what the PBSA requires. 

302. Moreover, where an individual employee contributes (with interest) more than 50% toward the calculated pension benefit, an adjustment is made under section 9.6 of the new plan so that an employee will never pay more than 50% of the pension benefit (the “50% cost rule”).  Williams and McInnes testified that in no circumstance could the operation of the 50% cost rule result in the employee paying more than 50% of the pension benefit (Oct. 14, page 53; Oct. 27, page 53). As such, to the extent that the plaintiffs allege that somehow there is a breach by MTS because the plaintiffs have contributed, or are at risk of contributing, more than 50% of the cost of the pension benefit, however defined, the 50% cost rule is a complete answer. Under no scenario can an employee ever pay more than 50% of the cost of their pension benefit.

303. Given the world wide recession in recent months and the severe drop in the financial markets, it is axiomatic that any accumulation of capital that is invested other than in treasury bills and government bonds has lost a significant portion of its value. Pension funds are no different, although a prudent and conservative investment strategy will help somewhat.  The CSSF, having only employee funding, is starkly exposed to the risk of being underfunded, with no obligation on government employers to pay any shortfall.  Conversely, MTS will be required under the PBSA to fund significantly more to make up for the drop in value.

304. During the course of this trial, worldwide financial markets took a significant financial hit. Pension plans, including the old plan and the new plan, invest most of their contributions in equities and bonds.  Global equity markets have decreased by almost half.  Therefore, it is reasonable to conclude that the value of the CSSF main fund likely has decreased significantly, perhaps by up to 18% since the beginning of 2008.
305. Assuming liabilities are constant year over year, it is probable that whatever surplus existed in the CSSF main fund has now disappeared, and there is likely a large unfunded liability in the CSSF main fund for which the Government of Manitoba is not accountable.
306. There is no ability in the CSSF or in any public plan to compel deficiency payments from the employers, and, therefore, there will have to be, relatively urgently, either benefit reductions, or more likely, a significant increase in employee contributions to eradicate the unfunded liability.  To assess the magnitude of such an increase, consider that a $500 million deficit spread over 15 years would likely require more than a $50 million increase in contributions annually; such an increase compares to the approximately $92 million employees contributed to the CSSF in 2007 (see Exhibit 16, where the employee contribution to the CSSF Adjustment Account  is noted as $9,289,000 or 10.2% of the employees contributions for 2007; therefore 100% of the employees’ contributions would be approximately ten times that amount, or $92 million).  
307. In 2006, the Liaison Committee and the Advisory Committee reached consensus to recommend a transfer of $145 million from the surplus of the CSSF main fund to the CSSF Adjustment Account to help fund future COLA.  Exhibit 16 (the 2007 Actuarial Report of the CSSF Adjustment Account) indicates that indexing of 1.59% was granted, effective July 1, 2008, and will cost the CSSF Adjustment Account $17.944 million.  The 20-year prefunding objective required $451 million, but there was only an additional available amount of $53.7 million.  There is no indication in that report of the $145 million yet being deposited into the CSSF Adjustment Account, as it has not yet been transferred.  Without this $145 million and without any change in interest rates, CPI, or other factors, the amount available in the CSSF Adjustment Account will be depleted in less than three years (3 x $17.944 million = $53.8 million versus the available amount of $53.7 million).  This does not take into account the drop that has occurred in the market value of assets reported in 2007.  If this adjustment is also considered, 2009 may be the last year any COLA increases can be granted in the CSSF (if the available amount of $53.7 million has shrunk by 18%, and approximately $18 million is spent on COLA adjustments in 2008 and 2009, there would be only $8 million available after 2009).
308. Accordingly, if the $145 million surplus is transferred, the CSSF main account will be left in a serious deficit due to recent market losses and the fact that there is no obligation to fund any deficiency created.  However, if the $145 million surplus is not transferred, the CSSF Adjustment Account will be in serious jeopardy and the retirees under the CSSF will not be protected by any “guarantee” of COLA.
309. This present day scenario underlines the significance of MTS’s funding obligations under the new plan, as originally emphasized by Fraser.  The funded status of the new MTS plan coupled with MTS’s ongoing funding obligations ensures the security of the new plan and the payment of benefits under this plan.

310. The plaintiffs argue that payments made by MTS on a “solvency basis” are irrelevant, as it is simply a timing issue and ought not to be considered.  MTS submits that there is no reasonable distinction between money paid based on a “going concern” calculation versus a “solvency” calculation.  The money paid is a real payment made in the present and placed in the fund.  Moreover, if solvency payments are not considered, going concern payments would necessarily have been much higher.  Based on either method, both of which are required by the PBSA, these are monies paid into the fund, which become trust monies.  Plan members benefit from this money, whether paid on a going concern basis or a solvency basis.  The money will never get removed from the new plan other than on wind-up, in which unlikely event, the money would be shared proportionally with employees and retirees after all obligations are satisfied under the new plan in accordance with the new plan text.

311. Furthermore, the solvency funding required under the PBSA provides the security sought by the plaintiffs.  Funding the new plan on a solvency basis allows for there to be funds available should the new plan wind up.

312. The plaintiffs seek a declaration that MTS is not permitted to use surplus for contribution holidays.  Further, the plaintiffs seek a declaration that MTS is required to make a payment equal to its required contributions for those years in which it took contribution holidays.  The evidence and the law do not support the granting of such declarations.
313. The leading case on contribution holidays is the Supreme Court of Canada’s decision in Schmidt v. Air Products Canada Ltd., [1994] 2 S.C.R. 611 [Tab 8].  In determining whether a contribution holiday may be taken, it is key to look at two considerations (paragraph 77):

…The first is whether or not, in the calculation of an employer’s required annual contribution to a pension plan, consideration of actuarial surplus in an ongoing pension fund is permitted by law.  The second is whether a consideration of that surplus is permitted or prohibited under the terms of a specific plan.
314. The PBSA and the new plan text allow for contribution holidays.
315. In Schmidt, supra, Cory J. (at paragraph 84) stated:

…I can see no objection in principle to employers’ taking contribution holidays when they are permitted to do so by the terms of the pension plan.  When permission is not explicitly given in the plan. When permission is not explicitly given in the plan, it may be implied from the wording of the employer’s contribution obligation.  Any provision which places the responsibility for the calculation of the amount needed to fund promised benefits in the hands of an actuary should be taken to incorporate accepted actuarial practice as to how that calculation will be made.  That practice currently includes the application of calculated surplus funds to the determination of overall current service cost.  It is a practice that is in keeping with the nature of a defined benefits plan, and one which is encouraged by the tax authorities. (emphasis added)
316. The Court further explained when the employer has the right to take a contribution holiday at paragraph 95 of Schmidt:

An employer’s right to take a contribution holiday must also be determined on a case-by-case basis.  The right to take a contribution holiday can be excluded either explicitly or implicitly in circumstances where a plan mandates a formula for calculating employer contributions which removes actuarial discretion.  Contribution holidays may also be permitted by the terms of the plan.  When the plan is silent on the issue, the right to take a contribution holiday is not objectionable so long as actuaries continue to accept the application of existing surplus to current service costs as standard practice.  These principles apply whether or not the pension fund is subject to a trust.  Because no money is withdrawn from the fund by the employer, the taking of a contribution holiday represents neither an encroachment upon the trust nor a reduction of accrued benefits.  These general considerations are, of course, subject to applicable legislation.
317. In Maurer v. McMaster University, [1995] O.J. No. 1538 [Tab 9], the Ontario Court of Appeal, in considering a DB pension plan noted:

[4] The fundamental obligation of the employer is to pay whatever amount is required to fund fully the current service cost of the plan.  The amount which the employer must pay is to be determined by the actuary who, in calculating that amount, is directed to allow for employees’ required contributions.

[6] What is pivotal is the employers [sic] obligation to pay an amount sufficient to maintain the defined benefits.  The employer is not entitled to permit those benefits to be reduced but neither is it required to pay amounts which will increase them.  Its obligation is to pay what is required to fully fund...(emphasis added)
[7] Thus, in our interpretation of the provision in question, the employer is permitted, by necessary implication, to take the so-called contribution holiday whenever the actuary determines that an amount is not required or that a reduced amount is all that is required.
318. In Smith v. Michelin North America (Canada) Inc. 2007 NSSC 317 [Tab 10], affirmed 2008 NSCA 107 [Tab 11], the Court considered whether the employees had a right to the actuarial surplus determined at any given time during the pension plan’s duration and whether the company was permitted to take a contribution holiday.  The relevant plan text provided (at paragraph 14 of the decision):

4.2  The Company shall contribute to the Fund each year in accordance with the recommendations of the Actuary,

a) such payments as are necessary to meet costs in respect of current service which are not met by contributions by Members; and

b) special payments in respect of an unfunded liability or a deficiency in such amounts and manner and over such terms as are required by applicable laws and regulations.
319. The Court reviewed in detail Schmidt, supra, and summarized the principles flowing from that decision at paragraph 60:
(i) Where the applicable legislation permits contribution holidays, the question is whether the wording of the specific plan does or does not permit them;

(ii) The permission to take contribution holidays may be explicit or implicit;

(iii) The prohibition may be explicit or implicit and may be in either the pension plan or the trust creating it;

(iv) There is a presumption that contribution holidays are permitted where the plan refers to actuarial calculations;

(v) Accepted actuarial practice includes consideration of actuarial surplus in determining the amount needed to fund plan benefits;

(vi) Taking actuarial surplus into consideration in determining employer contributions is consistent with the nature of a DB pension plan;

(vii) It is also consistent with tax legislation respecting registered pension plans;

(viii) A formula for calculating contributions precludes contribution holidays;

(ix) Contribution holidays do not encroach upon the trust fund because they do not reduce the corpus of the fund or apply monies in the fund to purposes other than the employees’ exclusive benefit;

(x) No monies are withdrawn from the trust fund during a contribution holiday; the monies still in the employer’s hands as a result are not impressed with the trust;

(xi) Funds once contributed to the pension plan are “accrued benefits” of the employees; and
(xii) The accrued benefits are of two types: (i) employees are entitled to receive the defined benefits of the pension plan, and (ii) they may have entitlement to surplus on termination of the plan, but the right does not crystallize until plan termination.

320. The Court found the provision at issue specifically authorized contribution holidays when the fund assets exceed plan liabilities.  The Court further found, at paragraph 178, that the there “could scarcely be any clearer wording to permit contribution holidays”.   In particular, the Court concluded at paragraphs 205-207:
[205]…I find as a fact that the words mean that the actuary is to determine what contribution by Michelin is required to be sufficient to cover the costs of the plan benefits.

[206] Following the reasoning of Cory J. in Schmidt, the contribution provision permits a contribution holiday.  It is not explicit but is neither explicitly prohibited.  It is implicitly permitted by reference to the actuary determining the contribution to be made.  The actuary is entitled to apply standard actuarial principles, one of which is consideration of any actuarial surplus.  The contribution provision does not contain a formula but allows for actuarial determination of what is sufficient to cover plan costs after taking surplus into account.

[207] In my view this does not produce an unrealistic result nor is it inconsistent with the parties’ reasonable expectations.  The commercial milieu in which a plan like this exists is also consistent with this result.  A DB plan is designed to provide a promised monthly benefit.  Accumulation of a surplus beyond what is required to fund those benefits makes no sense.  Pension legislation allows for use of actuarial surplus to fund contributions. (emphasis added)
321. And at paragraph 213:

It was never the intent of the Michelin DB plan to do more than fully fund the plan. There was no intention to accumulate a surplus in the fund because the purpose of a DB plan is to provide the promised pension benefits.  There is no concept of surplus in a DB plan and it is not inherent in its purpose.  A surplus in a DB plan arises only from the conservative assumptions the actuary makes about fund performances…
322. The Court of Appeal, in dismissing the appeal in its entirety, made the following observations and conclusions:
A calculated asset value exceeding the estimated cost of plan benefits leaves an actuarial surplus.  An actuarial surplus during the plan’s currency is just a snapshot image in time.  A distributable liquid surplus is determinable only on the plan’s termination. (para. 17)
When contributions are not needed to fully fund the defined benefits and the terms of the plan permit under the principles to be discussed, the contribution may be eliminated or reduced.  From an actuarial perspective, a contribution holiday is appropriate when a defined benefit plan has a sufficient actuarial surplus.  This is because, subject to specific requirements of the plan, PBA and caselaw, in a defined plan the employer’s basic obligation is to fund the defined benefits.  The surplus by definition ensures that funding, based on current assumptions…(para. 18) 

Applying these principles, I begin by noting that the evidence of actuarial practice remains as recited in Schmidt - a contribution holiday is permitted from an actuarial surplus. (para. 52)

The 1972 contribution provision provides that the employer contribution (plus any member contributions) shall be “sufficient” to cover the cost of the Plan’s defined benefits.  The provision directs the actuary to determine “sufficiency”.  There is no perspective from which this wording can be seen as a defined contribution formula.  Only the benefits are defined in the Plan.  The contribution clause engages the actuary’s professional expertise to assess the sufficiency of the employer’s contribution.  That function incorporates actuarial practice including the use of a surplus toward a contribution holiday. (para. 53) (emphasis added)
323. In Burke v. Governor and Co. of Adventurers of England Trading into Hudson’s Bay, 2008 ONCA 394 [Tab 12], the representative plaintiffs brought an action in which they sought a declaration that the Bay had improperly taken contribution holidays and paid pension plan expenses from the pension fund, and an order requiring the Bay to transfer a pro rata share of surplus from its pension plan into a successor pension plan.
324. The pension plan at issue in Burke was a DB plan.  From 1961 to 1982, the plan was in a deficit position and the Bay was required to make additional payments to ensure the plan’s solvency.  Following 1982, the plan began to have emerging surpluses.  The Bay began to take contribution holidays and, in addition, applied to the Superintendent of Pensions to withdraw surplus pension assets.  Following protest from the employees, the Bay withdrew its surplus withdrawal application.
325. In 1987, the Bay sold the assets of its Northern Stores Division to a retail company that became the North West Company (the “NWC”).  As part of the sale agreement, the NWC promised employment to all affected employees.  Also as part of the sale, the Bay signed a pension plan agreement that provided that NWC would establish a new pension plan to provide each of the transferring employees with a pension and other benefits “at least equal to those presently provided under the [plan]”.
326. The plaintiffs sought three things: (i) a transfer of a pro rata share of surplus in the Bay plan to the NWC plan; (ii) payment of an amount equal to that which the Bay had taken by way of contribution holidays during 1982 to 1986; and iii) the amount that had been paid from the fund for plan expenses during 1982 to 1986.
327. With respect the issue of whether there was an obligation to transfer some share of surplus, the Ontario Court of Appeal relied on Schmidt, supra, noting that absent legislation governing entitlement to surplus, entitlement is to be decided by a careful analysis of the pension plan documentation.  The Court noted, at paragraph 41 of its decision, that the original trust agreement did not contain any language that the courts have found establish entitlement to surplus on behalf of the members of a pension plan.  That is, the trust agreement did not provide that the employer’s contributions were “irrevocable” or that no part of the fund could ever revert to the Company or that no part of the Fund could be used other than for the exclusive benefit of plan members.  Accordingly, the entitlement of the plan members was limited to the defined benefits provided by its terms. They had no entitlement to surplus (see paragraph 44).
328. The Court concluded, at paragraph 54, that without an entitlement to surplus, it could not have been a breach of trust to fail to transfer a rateable portion of surplus to the NWC plan.  In reaching this conclusion, the Court considered and dismissed the following argument set out at paragraph 56 of the decision:
In considering the issue of surplus entitlement, the trial judge did not consider the terms of the Plan documentation.  Instead, he concluded that the Transferred Employees had a right to surplus because some employees thought surplus would be used “at least in part” to improve pensions.  I do not accept this as a legitimate basis for creating legal rights and obligations at odds with the provisions of the Plan documentation.

329. Similarly, in the present case, the CSSA provides no entitlement to surplus.  Further, the evidence has established that there was no entitlement by practice.  
330. In Burke, regarding the second part of the action seeking payment of contribution holidays taken, the Court found that there was no obligation on the Bay to use the actuarial surplus in the plan in any particular way, much less to improve pension benefits (paragraph 61).  The Bay had the right to continue to use the actuarial surplus for contribution holidays and to pay plan and fund expenses.  The Court noted that even if surplus was transferred from the Bay plan to the NWC, there was no suggestion that NWC would be bound to use the surplus for benefit improvements.  It is submitted that these findings apply to the present case.
331. Unlike in Burke, the new MTS plan specifically provides that, upon plan termination, the employees will share in a pro rata share of surplus.  This express entitlement in the new MTS plan text is an improvement over the non-express entitlement under the CSSA.
332. In Nolan (sub nom Kerry (Canada) Inc.) v. Ontario (Superintendent of Financial Services), 2007 ONCA 416 [Tab 13], at issue was a defined benefit plan that was amended to require all new employees to participate in a defined contribution component of the plan.  Starting in 1985, the company took contribution holidays in respect of its funding obligations.  Also, in 1985, the company began to pay for plan expenses from the fund.  The Court of Appeal of Ontario was required to consider whether plan expenses could properly be paid from the fund and whether surplus could be used to satisfy the company’s contribution obligations in respect of the defined contribution component of the plan. Both issues were answered in the affirmative.  The Court was also required to consider whether the company was permitted to take contribution holidays in respect of the defined benefit component of the plan.  In concluding the company was so permitted, the Court stated:

Consequently, to the extent that the Divisional Court’s decision is premised on the notion that the Plan members were entitled to surplus while the Plan was ongoing.  I respectfully disagree.  Schmidt makes it clear that members of a pension plan have no entitlement to the actuarial surplus in an ongoing pension plan…(paragraph 101)

In my view, there is no question but that Kerry’s contribution holidays in respect of the defined benefit component of the Plan were permissible.  Schmidt establishes that an employer may take contribution holidays when a defined benefit pension plan enjoys an actuarial surplus, unless the plan documentation explicitly provides otherwise.  A specific formula for calculating the employer’s annual contribution is an example of such a provision.  However, if an employer’s contribution is to be determined by an actuarial calculation of the amount necessary to fund promised benefits, a contribution holiday is permissible. (paragraph 116)

…the Committee argues that contribution holidays are prohibited by the terms for the Plan.  It asserts that the Divisional Court failed to appreciate that although contributions do not become part of the corpus of the Fund until paid, the requirement that Kerry make ongoing contributions is a separate trust obligation imposed by the Plan.  As just explained, the Plan does not create such an obligation.  Further, this submission is inconsistent with Schmidt.  Beneficiaries of a defined benefit pension plan are entitled to the benefits promised by the plan, and may be entitled to any surplus actually remaining on plan termination.  They do not have a claim to any notional surplus that exists while the plan is ongoing…It follows that the Plan members cannot compel the employer to make additional contributions to preserve or increase the actuarial surplus.  It would be inconsistent with both the result and the reasoning in Schmidt to find that Kerry is obliged to make contributions while the Fund enjoys an actuarial surplus, given the language of s. 14(b). (paragraph 123)

…the Committee submits that contribution holidays constitute an impermissible partial revocation of trust.  It argues that Kerry has made a binding promise, which it cannot unilaterally amend or revoke, to alienate certain property to the Fund.  Again, this argument runs squarely contrary to the terms of the Plan.  Section 14(b) does not contain an unconditional promise that Kerry would alienate property to the Fund.  The promise is that Kerry would make contributions when necessary.  Further, it is only after money is contributed to the pension trust fund that it becomes trust property and, therefore, subject to the possibility of revocation. (paragraph 124)

…the Committee argues that clauses permitting contribution holidays should be construed narrowly because there is a strong policy interest in requiring companies to make ongoing contributions to protect employees against the employer’s potential future financial hardship.  Schmidt is a full answer to this argument.  Kerry is required by s. 14(b) to make only those contributions necessary to ensure the Fund can pay all benefits.  It is legally entitled to take contribution holidays so long as that obligation is met… (paragraph 125)  [emphasis added]

333. MTS submits that, as in Michelin North America, the wording could scarcely be any clearer that the wording of the new plan permits contribution holidays.  Similarly, there was no intention to accumulate a surplus in the new plan.  The intention, as prescribed by law, was to provide benefits which were equivalent in value to the pension benefits provided under the CSSA.
334. The Court in Michelin North America, supra, noted (at paragraph 17) that the Michelin pension plan was a registered pension plan which received favourable income tax treatment as long as it complied with federal income tax legislation. One of the tax provisions was that the employer could not make contributions greater than the legislation allowed.  If it did, it was a risk of losing its registered status and the concomitant tax advantages.
335. The evidence of Williams and FitzGerald is that the new plan allows for a contribution holiday.  Their evidence is that the current accepted actuarial practice is to allow for a contribution holiday provided that there is an actuarial surplus and provided a contribution holiday is not explicitly prohibited.  No such prohibition exists with respect to the new plan.

(vii) 
Use of surplus
336. There are three “surpluses” discussed in this action: (i) initial surplus, (ii) ongoing or actuarial surplus, and (iii) surplus on plan wind up.  
337. Issues surrounding the initial surplus (that is, the $43 million difference between the amount transferred from the CSSF and the Pension Reserve transfer into the new plan) are discussed below as part of MTS’s submissions respecting the MOA.
338. It was agreed between the parties that surplus on any new plan wind up would be shared based on section 18.7 of the new plan text, which reads:
Upon discontinuance of the whole Plan, any assets of the Fund remaining after full provision has been made for the accrued Pension Benefits under the Plan as described in Section 18.5 and for any legal, actuarial or other fees relating to the discontinuance of the Plan, shall be allocated among the Participating Employers and the Members, Spouses, Eligible Survivors and Beneficiaries as determined by the Board based upon the written recommendation of the Actuary.  In making such recommendation, the Actuary shall reflect the amount and timing of contributions to the Plan by Participating Employers and Members, the amount and timing of payments from the Plan and other factors which are, in the opinion of the Actuary, material…
339. Therefore, the issue regarding equivalency relates to the ongoing or “actuarial surplus” that is determined from time to time as the new plan is in operation.  Ongoing surplus is an actuarial surplus; it is not an actual or real surplus.  An actuarial surplus may be here today and gone tomorrow.  A real or actual surplus only exists if the new plan is wound up and the surplus is thus fixed and known. 
340. To succeed, the plaintiffs must establish that ongoing surplus use under the old plan was a pension benefit and the plaintiffs must either establish an entitlement to the use of ongoing surplus in the CSSF or an entitlement at law to the use of ongoing surplus in the new plan.
341. In the time leading to the finalization of the new plan, MTS’s position with respect to the use of ongoing or “actuarial surplus” under the new plan was consistent and was consistently communicated to the government, the plaintiffs and Fox.  MTS always maintained its position that as long as it assumed the risk with respect to unfunded liabilities in the new plan as required by the PBSA, it needed to maintain control of ongoing surplus (Oct. 15, page 3; Oct. 22, page 35).  MTS needed to manage this risk (Oct. 22, page 55).  MTS refused to agree to a formulaic or other mandated sharing of ongoing surplus.

342. The plaintiffs argue that, at least, employee surplus generated by employee contributions should be used solely for the improvement of pension benefits or a decrease in contributions.  This argument ignores that MTS is responsible for funding all deficits, not just the employer’s deficit.  This includes funding the COLA guarantee, a benefit not enjoyed under the CSSA.  MTS’s funding obligation is one of the inevitable differences between the new plan and the old plan.  There is no basis at law nor is there a plausible argument on equivalence to support the plaintiffs’ claim for control over “employee generated surplus” when there is no liability on the part of employees for deficits.  The plaintiffs cannot take the “reward” and not the risk.

343. Is use of ongoing surplus a pension benefit?  MTS submits the answer is no.  

344. The plaintiffs have failed to establish that use of ongoing surplus is a “pension benefit” versus simply being an aspect of a pension plan. Plan equivalence is not mandated under the Reorg Act. 

345. The concept of surplus use is not reflected in the definitions of pension benefits used throughout pension legislation in Canada.  There were no provisions dealing with how surplus in the CSSA was to be used.  The only time surplus was referenced in the CSSA was to legislate an agreement between the Liaison Committee and the Advisory Committee with respect to a specific surplus use, namely the transfer of surplus from the main CSSF to the CSSF Adjustment Account to fund that account. However, there was no entitlement to surplus use in the CSSA.
346. If, in fact, it is a legal matter, in Lennon v. Ontario (Superintendent of Financial Services), [2007] O.J. No. 4228 [Tab 14], the Court concluded that surplus was not a pension benefit.  The Court stated at paragraph 83:
To reiterate, surplus is not a “pension benefit or other benefit” under the pension plan.  Actuarial calculations determine the assets required to fund the pension plan liabilities.  Employers are required to fund liabilities, not actuarial surpluses.  
347. Was there an entitlement to use of surplus under the CSSA?  
348. The comparison is to “the pension benefits to which employees have or may have become entitled” under the CSSA. The word “entitled” is the requirement and not something less, such as hopes or expectations.

349. Entitlement is an important term.  As noted above, entitlement is defined in Black’s Law Dictionary, Eighth Edition [Tab 2] as follows:

An absolute right to a benefit, such as social security, granted immediately upon meeting a legal requirement.

350. Section 15 of the Reorg Act does not require equivalency in terms of hopes or expectations.  Unless there was an “entitlement” under the CSSA to a “pension benefit” (however defined), no determination of equivalency was mandated.

351. The plaintiffs’ “independent” expert, Levy, acknowledged that in rendering his two expert opinions he had not reviewed the CSSA at all, had relied on what he gleaned from discussions with some plaintiff representatives as to what their “expectations” under the CSSA had been, and then “elevated” those stated expectations to entitlements under the CSSA for the purposes of his opinion (Oct. 22, pages 21, 22, 70).  As such, it is submitted that no weight can be attached to Levy’s evidence and reports.

352. Funding was not a feature of the CSSA.  Consequently, “surplus” was not required or used to fund the CSSF.  In any event, the evidence adduced at trial does not support the plaintiffs’ claims that employees and retirees in the CSSF were entitled to determine the use of surplus.  The evidence clearly establishes that under the CSSF, the employees and retirees, through the Liaison Committee, only had the ability to make recommendations on the use of surplus to pay for benefit improvements or to fund the CSSF Adjustment Account.  There was no right on the part of the Liaison Committee and the Advisory Committee to make recommendations regarding use of surplus for funding purposes, as there was no employer funding.  

353. On discovery [Ex. 62], Restall gave the following evidence with respect to the use of surplus under the CSSF:
60
Q
Were you aware in 1996 and early 1997 of the following factors; firstly, that a significant portion of the employer's cost of any pension improvements made since 1970, under the CSSA, had been paid by agreement out of the surplus accumulated in the CSSF?


A
Am I aware --

61
Q
Were you aware in '96 and early '97 that a significant portion of the employer's costs of any improvements made since 1970 had been paid by agreement out of the surplus in the CSSF?


A
Yes.

62
Q
Thank you. Secondly, were you aware in '96 and early '97 that forgivable loans had been made to the province out of the surplus in the CSSF in that same period?


A
I am assuming that the dates that you are stating are correct. I know that that occurred, yes.

63
Q
Thank you. Thirdly, were you aware that there had been cash payments made to the province out of the surplus in the CSSF to elicit the province's agreement to pension improvements, again within that same period of time?


A
Yes.
528
Q
Mr. Restall, yesterday we spent some time in going through some of the history of alterations to and benefit improvements made with respect to the Civil Service Superannuation Fund during the period 1961 up to 1996. Do you recall that?


A
Yes, I do.

529
Q
And that detail appears to confirm that a significant portion of employer's cost of improvements made during those years had in fact been paid by agreement out of the surplus in the CSSF. Do you agree with that, sir? 


MR. MERONEK Just, can you tell me what you mean by significant?


MR. OLSON: I haven't totalled it up, Mr. Meronek, other than to say on the simple dollar basis, it appears to be in excess of 40 million not compounded. Is that significant?


MR. MERONEK: That was your word, so I just wanted to know.


MR. OLSON: Yes.


THE WITNESS: By agreement with the Liaison Committee, which is the prime member.


BY MR. OLSON:

530
Q
I understand that, but you are confirming that you would agree that there was -- I don't need the word significant -- there was a material portion of the employer's cost of those improvements that was paid out of the surplus in the CSSF during those years, was there not?


A
There was.

531
Q
You will also confirm that there was on one or more occasions a forgivable loan given to the Province of Manitoba?


A
Once again with the agreement of the Liaison Committee, yes.

532
Q
Yes. There appears to have been cash payments. Some of these things were done by way of cash payments as opposed to credits?


A
Correct.

533
Q
The Province on one occasion, I think it was in 1986, was released from a guarantee we saw, whereby they had up to that point guaranteed the rate of return on the investments in the CSSF; correct? 


A
Correct.

534
Q
There did not appear to be, from what we saw, any benefit improvements made in the ten years or so preceding 1997, where the costs were paid at all by the employers. Do you agree with that?


A
I don’t recall any.
354. The history with respect to the use of surplus in the CSSF is set out in Exhibit 8, the details of which were essentially confirmed by Restall, Erb and Ellement.  Whether the number of occasions, or the exact dollars or the precise details are accurate or not, it is uncontested that there were a number of occasions when surplus was used to pay all or part of employers’ costs of pension improvements in the 25 or so years prior to privatization. 
355. Exhibit 8 and the agreed documents referred to therein establish that the use of surplus and benefit improvements under the old plan were accomplished by forgivable loans to the government, partial payment of employer’s costs, and, eventually, by payment of the employer’s full costs.

356. Erb’s evidence (Sept. 3, pages 46-47) on this was as follows:

Q
Yeah.  And, and what was changing in terms of the Government position vis-à-vis that which you -- had been experienced prior to that time?

A
You know the Government -- you know, flowing, flowing out of the 1961 -- the commitment and it was to match any kind of improvements, and then over time the previous settlements that we -- or the previous deals we had was that we, we agreed to provide cash from the surplus the -- out of the fund to fund a few years of their cash flow costs, and then after that they, they would be picking 100 percent of their obligation.

Q
What, what was changing in, in --

A
Well, this --

Q
-- the early 1990's?

A
-- this was here -- what was changing here was they wanted us to pick up all, you know, all the costs, that's where we were -- where the direction we were going.  The Government at that time -- there was lots of pressure coming from the, I guess, from the financial community, auditing community that the Government's, the Government's liability for pension were unfunded, and the Government took the position, or policy at that point that they were not going to accrue any further pension liabilities.

357. From 1990 to privatization and beyond, the Manitoba Government stated that it would not incur further CSSF pension liabilities.  This position was summarized in a letter dated October 24, 1995 from Armstrong to Erb [AD 222]:

We remain prepared to recommend amending the Act to allow for increased employee contributions and allocation of current and future surpluses to the indexing account so long as there is no increased cost or liability incurred by employers or the government.  This is consistent with the 1992 amendments to the act and the amendments we have agreed to recommend this year. (emphasis added)
358. Erb also accepted that there was no entitlement to surplus without employer agreement (Sept. 4, page 80).
359. Following an agreement to transfer surplus from the main fund to the CSSF Adjustment Account in 1988, it was made clear in a letter from Walter Andon to John Cumberford [AD 98] that there would not be an automatic transfer of future surpluses to the CSSF Adjustment Account.  Rather, the allocation of all or part of the future surpluses would continue to be the subject of negotiation, with the understanding that proper prefunding of the indexing account would be a priority.
360. The evidence before this Court, at best, establishes an earlier hope or expectation with respect to use of ongoing surplus in the old plan, but not an entitlement to use surplus.  By 1996, this “ hope or expectation” was proving to be unfounded and a frustration developed.  There was a continued inability to reach agreement as to the use of surplus and the employees and retirees pushed for a joint trusteeship arrangement, which is discussed in detail above under “governance”.  However, as at the implementation date, the employees and retirees had no entitlement to the use of surplus. Again, it is not hopes or expectations that require equivalence in value under subsection 15(2)(a) of the Reorg Act, but pension benefits to which employees have or may have become entitled under the CSSA.
361. At law, pension plan members have no entitlement to ongoing surplus.  This lack of entitlement to ongoing surplus is consistent with the funding of a DB pension plan. The benefits are fixed. The plan members’ contributions are fixed. However, the employer’s contributions are variable and effectively unlimited.
362. The final say and control over a public pension plan lies with the government.  This is the case with respect to the CSSF and other public pension plans.
363. In April 2000, Parliament passed the Public Sector Pension Investment Board Act [Tab 15].  Prior to the passing of this legislation, the Public Service Superannuation Plan, the Canadian Forces Superannuation Plan, and the RCMP Superannuation Plan all operated based on contributions by employee members and a required matching contribution by the government.  Where the superannuation account showed a deficit, the government was required to make additional contributions.  Benefits payable under this plan were paid pursuant to a formula relating to years of service and best average salary earned over a period of years.  In addition, the benefits payable to members were indexed.  The Public Sector Pension Investment Board Act, authorized, and in some circumstances, required the government to withdraw any surplus in the superannuation accounts.  The government contributions were also changed to be related to actuarial valuations made with respect to each plan.

364. In response, an action was commenced by associations that represented employees in the three government pension plans in Professional Institute of the Public Service of Canada v. Canada (Attorney General), [2007] O.J. No. 4577 [Tab 16].  The plaintiffs argued, among other things, that the Act did not authorize the government, as employer, to withdraw the surplus from the superannuation accounts, at least to the extent of the plaintiffs’ interest in the surplus.  
365. The Court discussed the concept of a surplus in a public, DB pension plan, like the one that was in issue, as follows:

The Public Service Superannuation Plan is a defined benefit plan.  In contrast to a defined benefit pension plan in the private sector, there is no plan documentation as such.  The two documents which are generally found in a defined benefit pension plan in the private sector, the pension plan text and the trust agreement, do not exist.  Rather, all the terms and conditions of the Public Service Superannuation Plan are found in the PSSA in force at the time…(paragraph 54)

In a defined benefit plan, a surplus may occur in two different circumstances.  First, on the termination of the pension plan, if the amount in the pension fund exceeds the cost or the amount necessary to pay for the defined benefits owing to the plan members, that excess is referred to as an actual surplus.  In such cases, an issue may arise as to who is entitled to the actual surplus, either the plan members or the employer or both.  That is not an issue in the present actions as the superannuation plans continue in existence.  Second, a surplus may arise during the operation of the plan.  This may occur at any given point in time when the amount in the Superannuation Account exceeds the estimated cost of the benefits or obligations to the members of the pension plan.  As the cost of the benefits or obligations to members of the pension plan at any given time is based on the report by the actuary, that excess is referred to as an actuarial surplus…It is the actuarial surplus in the Public Service Superannuation Plan which is in issue in these actions. (paragraph 89)

366. In reviewing the structure of the public plan, the Court stated at paragraph 204:

In the present case, the Public Service Superannuation Plan is a statutory defined benefit pension plan.  All of the provisions with respect to the operation of the plan are found in the PSSA 1985 as amended and there is no other document or agreement which applies to or affects the plan.  There is no third party trustee and accordingly no funds have ever been transferred to a third party trustee as would be usual in a funded pension plan.  Contributions by employees are, by reservation of salary, paid into the CRF and are recorded in the Superannuation Account.  The contributions by government are recorded as credits to the Superannuation Account, but no actual payment or transfer of funds is made.  No funds were ever earmarked or set aside by the government, by way of a trust or otherwise, for the purposes of or as security for the obligations assumed with respect to the pension plan.

367. In summary, at paragraph 242, the Court found that under the PSSA, there was no trust relationship established between the government and the members of the PSSA; there was no fiduciary relationship with respect to the members of the PSSP; and the members of the PSSP had no legal or equitable interest in either the superannuation plan or in the superannuation account, which had been breached by the government as a result of its practice of amortizing the surplus in the superannuation account.  

368. Although the Court concluded that the plan members did not have an interest in surplus, as they did not have a legal or equitable interest in the plan or its account, the Court found that Bill C-78 used clear and unambiguous terms with respect to the government’s intent regarding surplus.  That is, the government is required to debit from the superannuation account any amount that exceeds 110% of the amount estimated to be required to meet the cost of benefits payable, and has the discretion to debit from the Superannuation Account any additional surplus disclosed in the actuarial valuation report (see paragraph 257).  At paragraph 259, the Court stated:

I find that the intent of Parliament has been clearly expressed.  That intent is to deal with the actuarial surplus in the Superannuation Account without regard to any issue as to the members’ interest or the government’s interest in that surplus as proposed by the Plaintiffs.

369. In the present case, the evidence is that the Government of Manitoba had the ultimate authority over the CSSA and any surplus that may exist in the CSSF (June 2, page 65).  There was, and there is, no guarantee that the Government of Manitoba would not unilaterally make use of a surplus that may exist at any given time in the CSSF.
370. As with contribution holidays, the leading case on entitlement to surplus is the Supreme Court of Canada’s decision in Schmidt v. Air Products Canada Ltd., supra [Tab 8].  
371. At paragraph 87 of the Schmidt decision, the Court concluded:
Once funds are contributed to the pension plan they are “accrued benefits” of the employees.  However, the benefits are of two distinct types.  Employees are first entitled to the defined benefits provided under the plan.  This is an amount fixed according to a formula. The other benefit to which the employees may be entitled is the surplus remaining upon termination.  This amount is never certain during the continuation of the plan.  Rather, the surplus exists only on paper.  It results from actuarial calculations and is a function of the assumptions used by the actuary.  Employees can claim no entitlement to surplus in an ongoing plan because it is not definite.  The right to any surplus is crystallized only when the surplus becomes ascertainable upon termination of the plan. (emphasis added)

372. And at paragraph 89 of Schmidt:

While a plan which takes the form of a trust is in operation, the surplus is an actuarial surplus.  Neither the employer nor the employees have a specific interest in this amount, since it only exists on paper, although the employee beneficiaries have an equitable interest in the total assets of the fund while it is in existence.  When the plan is terminated, the actuarial surplus becomes an actual surplus and vests in the employee beneficiaries.  The distinction between actual and actuarial surplus means that there is no inconsistency between the entitlement of the employer to contribution holidays and the disentitlement of the employer to recovery of the surplus on termination.  The former relies on actuarial surplus, the latter on actual surplus.

373. Consistent with Schmidt, the new plan speaks only of the entitlement to surplus on discontinuance of the new Plan.  Section 18.7 of the new plan prescribes that upon discontinuance of the whole plan, surplus is to be allocated amongst the Participating Employer and the Members, Spouses, Eligible Survivors and Beneficiaries as determined by the Board (based on the written recommendation of the plan actuary).

374. In Buschau v. Rogers Communications Inc., [2006] 1 S.C.R. 973 [Tab 17], the plaintiffs sought to have the trust created by the applicable pension plan terminated to take advantage of a large actuarial surplus by invoking the Rule in Sauders v. Vautier.  Bastarache J. concluded, at paragraph 90, that absolute entitlement to the surplus by members of a plan would only occur once the surplus became real, that is, once the plan and trust had been terminated.  This is because the members only have a contingent interest in the Trust surplus, which does not vest until the plan is terminated.  This was echoed at paragraph 17 by Deschamps J.:

Before termination of a plan, a surplus is only an actuarial concept.  While the plan is in operation, individuals entitled to the surplus assets do not have a specific interest in them.  A pension surplus can be used to justify a contribution holiday if this is permitted by the plan, but the surplus can also disappear if investment earnings are lower that anticipated.  Since pension plans are usually established for indefinite terms, issues relating to surpluses are not usually relevant to plan members while the plan is in operation.
375. Bastarache J., also at paragraph 90, noted that the risk lies with the employer in a DB plan:

…Moreover, this is a defined benefit plan, i.e., a plan that is entirely funded by the employer, where members have an equitable interest in the trust assets, a right in personam against the trustee to require proper administration of the trust assets, and a contingent interest to the trust assets existing on plan termination if they are alive and members at the date of termination.  The employer assumes the risk in such a plan; when interest rates and investment returns are high, a surplus will be realized, and when the economy changes, unfunded liabilities will often result.  The goal is to require contributions by the employer that are sufficient to provide defined benefits over long periods of time in spite of market fluctuations.

376. The plaintiffs claim both an entitlement and ownership of surplus generated by employee contributions in the CSSF.  As noted, it is MTS’s position that there was no entitlement by the plaintiffs with respect to ongoing surplus use. 

377. As to surplus ownership, Fox’s evidence was that he did not feel comfortable dealing with the issue of right to ownership of surplus, as he did not believe it to be an actuarial matter, rather he saw it as a legal matter (Oct. 1, page 13).  
378. But subsection 15(2)(a) of the Reorg Act is concerned with “entitlement”. This is different than ownership. Even if the employees had a qualified ownership under the old plan, they did not have an entitlement. 

379. At best then, if one used an analysis of ownership, the plaintiffs’ claim for surplus arising from their contributions may have some merit if all they sought was a declaration as to qualified ownership of the “initial surplus”. But it still would not take them far enough to succeed, as there was no entitlement.  Further, it would not apply to ongoing or actuarial surplus under the new plan as it is a true DB pension plan, and the case law is clear that there are no ownership rights to an actuarial surplus.
380. MTS submits that the plaintiffs’ claim that they “owned” surplus is unfounded and confuses the issue at hand.  The sole requirement in the Reorg Act was to provide benefits equivalent in value to which members of the CSSF were entitled.  For all the foregoing reasons, there was no such entitlement.
381. Accordingly, it is submitted that with respect to the use of ongoing surplus under the old plan and the new plan, there was at least equivalence in value between the two plans on the implementation date.

II.
Procedural Fairness
(a)
Was a duty of procedural fairness owed to the plaintiffs with respect to the process which led to Fox’s opinion?
382. There are two possible duties of procedural fairness to be considered:

(a) A statutory duty owed to the plaintiffs to provide benefits under the new plan which, on the implementation date, were equivalent in value to the benefits provided under the old plan; and/or

(b) Any duty that Fox might have owed to act fairly in carrying out his determination under subsection 15(3) of the Reorg Act.

383. With respect to the first possible duty, by prescribing the mechanism under subsection 15(3) of the Reorg Act by which equivalency would be determined (the appointment of an independent actuary), the plaintiffs are unable to base an action on any duty owing to them under the Reorg Act. The Reorg Act prescribed the mechanism by which it would be determined whether the duty to provide equivalent benefits was met. Subsection 15(3) of the Reorg Act removed the jurisdiction of this Court to rule upon the issue of equivalency.

384. The second duty is the only possible basis for an action. However, to succeed, the plaintiffs must establish that Fox had a duty to act fairly, breached this duty, and that the plaintiffs can obtain the remedy they have claimed.

385. It is necessary to examine closely the statutory provision in question in order to discern whether it makes the decision-maker, Fox, subject to any rules of procedural fairness (Inuit Tapirisat of Canada v. Canada (Attorney General), [1980]  2 S.C.R. 735 [Tab 18], at p. 11).  The principal elements as to when the duty of fairness arises are:

(a) decision maker must be a public authority;

(b) an administrative decision which is not of a legislative nature; and

(c) one which affects the rights, privileges or interests of an individual.

(Cardinal v. Kent Institution, [1985] 2 S.C.R. 643 [Tab 19] at page 653; Brown and Evans, Judicial Review of Administrative Action in Canada (2004) at para 7:2100 [Tab 20])


Public Authority

386. The term “public authority” is not defined with any precision in Canadian case law. Each case depends on its facts. However, a trait which is commonly included in judicial definitions of “public authority” is a significant degree of governmental control.

For example, see Magnotta Winery Corp. v. Vintners Quality Alliance 2001 FCT 1421, at para 46 [Tab 21]
387. In the present case, Fox was appointed as an “independent actuary”. As such, by the very wording of subsection 15(3) of the Reorg Act, Fox was not a public authority. He was to be independent. If Fox was subject to a significant degree of governmental control, he would not be independent.  Other than being independent, subsection 15(3) of the Reorg Act does not prescribe any requirements or qualifications of the actuary. He need not be experienced in pension plan review. The Reorg Act does not prescribe the procedure he was to follow to undertake his review.  At the time of his review, Fox was an actuary practicing as a principal in the actuarial firm of AON Consulting Inc.

388. The statutory referral of the issue of equivalency to the Provincial Auditor was significant because of the very significant nature of the PA’s office and its independence from the government or anyone [Exhibit 56]. The Provincial Auditor himself would not owe a duty of fairness in the exercise of his statutory function because (i) he is not a public authority, (ii) his decisions are not administrative, and (iii) his decisions do not affect rights, privileges or interests of an individual.  The Legislature designating the Provincial Auditor to appoint an independent actuary is important because it gives character and context to the independent actuary. It flows that the Legislature intended the independent actuary to not owe a duty of fairness, as it specifically chose the Provincial Auditor, who owes no duty, to appoint the independent actuary rather than a representative of the Crown, such as the Lieutenant Governor in Council.


Administrative decision which is not of a legislative nature

389. Brown and Evans, supra [Tab 20], explain the following regarding the definition of “legislative” power, at paragraph 7:2331:

“While no precise definition of ‘legislative’ power emerges from the caselaw, for the purpose of defining the extent of the duty of fairness two characteristics seem important. The first is the element of generality, that is, that the power is of general application and when exercised will not be directed at a particular person. The second indicium of a legislative power is that its exercise is based essentially on broad considerations of public policy, rather than on facts pertaining to individuals or their conduct. Decisions of a legislative nature, it is said, create norms or policy, whereas those of an administrative nature merely apply such norms to particular situations.”

390. In New Brunswick Broadcasting Co. v. Canada (Radio-television & Telecomm. Commn.) (1984), 55 N.R. 143 (F.C.C.) [Tab 22], the Court concluded that a Cabinet directive to an agency specifying classes of applicants to whom licences may be issued was legislative in nature. Relevant factors considered by the Court included: (i) the orders affected classes of applicants, not individual applicants; (ii) the authority was not restricted by wording ascribing what would amount to disqualification; and (iii) the Act did not afford any member of a class or the class as a whole an opportunity to make representations or to be otherwise heard before such an order was made.

391. Similarly, in the present case, Fox’s determination was directed at a class of people, the Reorg Act does not provide any restrictions on the considerations by Fox to determine equivalency, and the Reorg Act does not afford any member of the class of plan members or the class as a whole an opportunity to make representations or to be otherwise heard.

392. The pension plan was part of the “sale” of the assets from MTS as a Crown corporation. This was a public policy decision. As part of this sale, there was a valuation of MTS’s assets and a corresponding purchase price. The pension plan was no different than any other asset which was transferred from the public sector to the private sector.  There were two features to the privatization of the pension plan:

(a) Dividing up the assets between the CSSF members leaving the CSSF (the MTS employees and retirees) and those members who were staying.  There was no challenge, nor could there be a challenge, by the plaintiffs to this process; and

(b) Leaving aside the value of the assets, the Legislature gave the plaintiffs a “determination” that benefits would be provided under the new plan that are equivalent in value to the pension benefits in the old plan on the implementation date. Given that the Legislature was not an expert, to accomplish this, the Legislature provided for an independent actuary. 

393. As such, in dealing with the pension plan, the objective of the Legislature was to ensure that there was equal treatment of all those covered by the CSSF.  This was a policy function.  Fox was part of this function.  As such, his task was to carry out policy rather than the determination of the rights of individuals.


One which affects the rights, privileges or interests of an individual

394. The third element is that the decision affects a right, privilege or interest of an “individual”.  In Rene Dussault and Louis Borgeat, Administrative Law: A Treatise” 2nd Ed., Vol. 1 (Carswell) [Tab 23], the authors considered where to draw the line between general and specific (individual) as: “[general nature] applies to an undetermined number of persons by a category to which they belong, whereas it is specific in nature when it is aimed directly at only one or a few persons” (at page 455).

395. In the present case, the determination under section 15 of the Reorg Act is not specific in nature. It is general. It affects a large group of people belonging to a general category of being members of the same plan. Rights, privileges or interests of an individual are not being considered.  

396. If the three principal elements are not all established, as in the present case, a duty of fairness will not arise.  A failure to establish any one element is fatal.  Accordingly, it is MTS’s position that Fox did not owe the plaintiffs a duty of fairness. 
(b)
If Fox owed a duty to the plaintiffs, what was the nature of this duty?

397. Assuming some duty of fairness was owed, the question is what level of fairness was required in the process of Fox rendering the Opinion?  Put another way, what procedural rights did the plaintiffs have in the process of Fox rendering the Opinion?  

398. The five factors to be considered in determining what procedural rights the duty of fairness requires are:

(a) Nature of the decision being made and the process followed making it. The closeness of the administrative process to the judicial process should indicate how much of those governing principles should be imported into the realm of administrative decision making.

(b) Nature of the statutory scheme and the terms of the statute pursuant to which the body operates. Greater procedural protections will be required when no appeal procedure is provided within the statute, or when the decision is determinative of the issue and further requests cannot be submitted.

(c) Importance of the decision to the individual or individuals affected. The more important the decision is to the lives of those affected and the greater the impact on that person or those persons, the more stringent the procedural protections that will be mandated.

(d) Legitimate expectations of the person challenging the decision.

(e) Analysis of what procedures the duty of fairness requires should also take into account and respect the choices of procedure made by the agency itself, particularly when the statute leaves to the decision-maker the ability to choose its own procedures, or when the agency has an expertise in determining what procedures are appropriate in the circumstances.

Baker v. Canada (Minister of Citizenship and Immigration), [1999] 2 S.C.R. 817, at paras 23 to 27 [Tab 24]

(a) and (b)
Nature of the decision being made and the process followed making it and Nature of statutory scheme and the terms of the statute pursuant to which the body operates

399. The more the review process resembles a trial or judicial process, the more likely the duty of fairness is rigid and requires procedural protections (Baker, supra, at para 23).  In the present case, section 15 of the Reorg Act does not prescribe the process to be followed by Fox. The Reorg Act did not contemplate that the review process would resemble a trial or judicial process, nor did Fox follow such a process.  Fox accumulated documents and spoke with various parties to arrive at his decision.  The nature of the decision being made was a professional opinion, no different than a legal or medical opinion. Fox was being asked to exercise his discretion and professional judgment as he saw fit to arrive at an opinion on equivalency.

400. While no appeal rights are provided in the Reorg Act, the nature of the decision, Fox’s process followed in making it, and the nature of the statutory scheme all point to a minimal level of procedural fairness.


(c)
Importance of the decision to the individuals affected

401. The more important the decision is to the lives of those affected and the greater the impact on the person, the more stringent procedural protections will be mandated.  While a person’s pension impacts his or her life, in the current case, the primary issues relate to the differences in (i) use of surplus generated by employee contributions to the plan under the old plan and the new plan; (ii) funding of the new plan; and (iii) governance, all of which are issues that do not impact personally on the individual. The benefits to be paid are defined by the new plan text, as the new plan is a DB pension plan.  Use of surplus, funding and governance do not materially affect the payment of benefits.  Contrast this situation to cases where a higher duty of fairness was owed by reason of the importance of the decision on the individual. These other cases dealt with complete loss of livelihood (Nicholson, infra, [Tab 28]) and deportation from Canada (Baker [Tab 24]). 

402. The level of importance of the decision to the individuals affected in this case dictates a minimal level of procedural fairness.


(d) 
Legitimate expectations of the person challenging the decision

403. Legitimate expectations may arise where a party has been led to believe that his or her rights would not be affected without consultation. However, where a function is legislative in nature, the doctrine of legitimate expectations does not apply. (Aasland v. British Columbia (Ministry of Environment), Lands and Parks (1999), 19 Admin. L.R. (3d) 154 (B.C.S.C.) [Tab 25]; Wood, infra, para 18 [Tab 27])

404. Restall was significantly involved in the old plan and met with Fox on behalf of the retirees.  He expected Fox to analyze the old plan and the new plan (June 3, page 64) and would provide his opinion that he had formulated after his examination and after his meeting with the interested parties (May 6, page 43). 

405. On August 20, 1996, by letter, Corp, the actuary for CEP, advised his client that the problem with determining the value of pension benefits is that it is not a precise calculation and there is a lot of room for differences of opinion [AD 308]. Restall also understood this. 

406. One of the plaintiffs’ complaints regarding the process followed by Fox is that on February 19, 1997, he met with Barker of MTS to receive her comments on Fox’s draft opinion as at that date. The plaintiffs had met with Fox on December 19, 1996, to provide their views on equivalency. There was no indication by Fox to the plaintiffs that after having been heard, the plaintiffs would have an opportunity to respond to information by MTS. 

407. No legitimate expectations were created that anything other than a minimal duty of fairness would be owed.


(e)
Analysis of choice of procedure made by the agency itself

408. The fifth factor takes into account and respects the choices of procedure made by the agency itself, particularly when the statute leaves to the decision-maker the ability to choose its own procedures.  In the present case, the Reorg Act left to Fox the ability to choose his own procedures. This supports a minimal duty of fairness.

409. Accordingly, when all factors are considered, any duty of fairness that may have been owed by Fox was minimal.

(c)
If a duty of procedural fairness was owed, was there a breach of the duty of procedural fairness?
410. If a duty of fairness was owed, it was minimal, and was met.

411. It is not enough for the plaintiffs to make allegations with respect to the process and resulting opinion rendered by Fox.  The plaintiffs have the evidentiary burden to adduce evidence capable of resulting in a finding that:

(a) The PA’s Office wrongfully interfered;

(b) MTS wrongfully interfered;

(c) The definition, as described below, used by Fox was influenced by Frasers’ view and comments with respect to the definition provided to Fraser; and

(d) The reasonable expectations of the plaintiffs with respect to the process had not been met.

412. As discussed in Sopinka, The Law of Evidence in Canada [Tab 26], at §3.9, the significance of the “evidential burden” arises when there is a question as to which party has the right to begin adducing evidence.   It also arises when there is a question as to whether sufficient evidence has been adduced to raise an issue for determination by the trier of fact.  In particular, the incidence of an evidential burden means that a party has the obligation to adduce evidence or to point to evidence on the record to raise an issue (Sopinka, supra, §3.15).

413. An evidential burden coincides with a legal burden of proof (Sopinka, §3.17).  In a civil case, like the one before this Court, the legal burden of proof lies with the plaintiffs to prove their claim (Sopinka, §3.12).  MTS submits that the plaintiffs have not satisfied their legal burden of proof that the process employed by Fox was unfair, or not in accordance with principles of procedural fairness, as the plaintiffs have failed to satisfy their evidential burden.

414. The plaintiffs complain that the PA’s Office had input into, or influence over, the wording of an “Invitation” to interested parties to meet with Fox to discuss the meaning of equivalency; the wording of a “Process Memo” where the steps Fox would follow were set out, to determine the definition of equivalent in value; and Fox’s Opinion. They complain that MTS had an opportunity to comment on a draft version of the meaning of equivalency and on a draft opinion on equivalency 


Invitation

415. Fox prepared a draft of the Invitation [AD 601]. The plaintiffs complain that Singleton added language to indicate that Fox would be acting as Singleton’s agent. Fox’s evidence at trial was that he probably noted the change, but didn’t think much of it (Sept. 29, page 57).  Therefore, there is no evidence that this change influenced Fox. 

Process Memo

416. Fox prepared the first draft of the Process Memo [AD 596]. The plaintiffs complain that a number of wording changes were made by the PA’s Office to this first draft prior to it being finalized. 
417. Fox confirmed that the use of the word “consensus” in the Process Memo was a bad word, and that he just wanted to get everyone’s view.  It was not Fox’s view that there should be consensus between him and the PA’s Office.  Similarly the use of “our opinion” at the start of paragraph 2 should have read “the actuary’s opinion” [sic].  It should be noted that further in paragraph 2, at point 5, the expression “actuary’s opinion” is being used in direct reference to the opinion on the extent to which “equivalent in value” has been achieved (Sept. 18, pages 58-59).

Equivalency Definition

418. On January 29, 1997, Fox sent to Paterson the First Draft Definition of the meaning of equivalent in value [AD 751].  The evidence before the Court is that the PA’s Office made some changes to the First Draft Definition. The First Draft Definition was redrafted by the PA’s Office a number of times, resulting in the Sixth Draft Definition [AD 776]. On February 3, 1997, the Sixth Draft Definition was sent to Fox with a request for Fox’s comments [AD 780]. Next, the draft was changed by the PA’s Office to include as a last paragraph that “A secondary objective will be to assess whether the contributions to finance benefits on implementation are shared equally by the employees and employer as intended by the CSSA” (the “Seventh Draft Definition”) [AD 784].

419. On February 4, 1997, Paterson sent a copy of the Seventh Draft Definition to Fox with a note that Singleton sent it to Fraser of MTS for comment and that was “Holding up the distribution pending reply” [AD 789]. Fox did not ask Singleton to send this draft to Fraser. The last paragraph of the Seventh Draft Definition was deleted in the Final Definition. Singleton testified that this paragraph was deleted because, in accordance with the Reorg Act, there was a primary objective for this review and there was no particular need for a secondary objective. Further, if Fox thought it was relevant, he would consider it as part of his primary objective. (Oct. 30, page 38) 
420. The paragraph which was deleted was originally inserted by Paterson of Singleton’s office and not by Fox. If anything, the deletion of this paragraph resulted in a definition that better accorded with Fox’s original draft definition.  

421. To Fox, it did not appear that Singleton was attempting to make the determination of equivalency in value that Fox was responsible to make because when it was formulated, it would be Fox’s opinion. It did not appear to Fox that Singleton was attempting to usurp Fox’s function or influence his opinion. Although the Final Definition had changed from his initial draft, he did not feel that the changes affected his views as to what he needed to look at in order to express his views on equivalency at the implementation date. In particular, from Fox’s perspective, even though the last paragraph of the Seventh Draft Definition was deleted, the content of this paragraph remained a concern to Fox because he wanted to ensure that the employees were not contributing more to the new plan than the old plan. (Oct. 1, page 34)
422. Fox confirmed that regardless of what was being done by the PA’s Office, he used the definition he felt was appropriate in formulating his opinion on equivalency. In arriving at his opinion, Fox considered most things, including the issues of funding, use of surplus, and governance. Moreover, it is submitted that there was no reason, at law, Fox could not consult with Singleton or anybody else on the meaning of equivalent in value. (Sept. 30, page 119)
423. The plaintiffs rely on a report of audit review of Fox prepared by Paterson of the PA’s Office which reads “The definition of benefits was narrowed to exclude funding and surplus”. However, this same document reads “They [funding and surplus] were ultimately considered to be also equivalent between CSSF + MTS but not benefits” [AD 859]. Further, in a letter dated April 26, 1999, from Fox, Fox wrote “it was my opinion that the treatment of surplus before privatization was at least equivalent to the treatment of surplus after privatization” [AD 995]. 
424. Fox’s evidence at trial (Sept. 29, pages 7-8) was as follows:

Q
Whose job was it to come up with the definition of equivalency?

A
I was to determine whether the benefits were equivalent in value so ...


I -- it would be my definition.

Q
And did Mr. Singleton or the members of the provincial auditor's office have any role to play in determining the definition of equivalence?

A
They may have thought they did.

THE COURT:  They may have thought they did?

THE WITNESS:  Yes.

BY MR. SAXBERG:  

Q
But you -- I think you're agreeing that ultimately it's your responsibility to come up with a definition of equivalency prior to rendering your opinion?

A
It's -- yeah.  My job was to make an opinion as to whether the plans were equivalent in value.

Q
And to do that you had to define what equivalent in value meant?

A
In my own mind, yes.

Q
In other words, you couldn't be told by anyone, provincial auditor included, what the definition of equivalency was?

A
Correct.

Q
Now, at the time of your retainer, this time that we're speaking of, did you expect that Mr. Singleton would be drafting his own definition of equivalency?

A
I didn't think either way.

THE COURT:  Sorry?

THE WITNESS:  I didn't think about it necessarily.


Opinion

425. The plaintiffs and their actuaries (Ellement and Corp) met with Fox on December 19, 1996 in two separate meetings.  They communicated their views on the meaning of equivalency and whether the new plan and the old plan were equivalent. They specifically discussed funding, surplus and governance (June 3, page 50).  The plaintiffs complain about a meeting that occurred on February 19, 1997 among Barker of MTS, Fox, Paterson, and perhaps Singleton.  At this meeting, a draft opinion of Fox was reviewed and discussed.

426. Fox’s evidence was that this draft opinion was done at the request of Singleton to provide a draft.  He advised Singleton that it was not done, that he was still thinking about it.  Fox was not happy with the draft opinion he sent and felt he hadn’t finished it.
427. The evidence is that the following information was communicated by Barker at the February 19, 1997 meeting, and it was this information that Fox used to reconsider the facts and opinion set out in Draft Opinion #3 [AD 812] to arrive at Draft Opinion #4 (and the Final Opinion [AD 817]):

(a) In the past, the employees had utilized surplus to provide for the employer’s share of the cost;

(b) There was an unfunded liability in the new plan as of the effective date; and

(c) MTS as employer, after having put in the Pension Reserve monies into the new pension plan and on a go‑forward basis, in terms of its normal cost, MTS’s contribution would be greater than the employees' contribution.  
428. The initial valuation report of the new plan by the new plan actuaries, Buck, in fact indicated that as at January 1, 1997, there was an unfunded liability in the new plan (point (b) communicated by Barker) and that the normal cost of MTS as the employer was greater than the employees as at January 1, 1997 (point (c) communicated by Barker) [AD 924].
429. Perhaps, the most significant problem with the plaintiffs’ complaint is their acknowledgment that information communicated by Barker at this meeting on the issue of use of surplus generated by employee contributions under the old plan (point (a) communicated by Barker) was known to Restall and was known by Restall to be material for Fox to know. Restall did not provide this information to Fox [June 3, page 63]. Restall’s evidence [Exhibit 62] was as follows:
73
Q
Did you share with Mr. Fox and Mr. Singleton your knowledge of what had happened under the CSSF and how it had operated, to assist them in determining whether or not the MTS pension plan was equivalent in those respects?


A
I had meetings with Mr. Fox and Mr. Patterson from Mr. Singleton's office, I attended a meeting with them.

74
Q
Yes, I know you did.


A
Where we discussed the way in which surpluses were handled in the Civil Service plan.

75
Q
And because you had some knowledge of that, and we will come to that, but I know that you participated under the CSSF because you were on their committees; correct?


A
Correct.

76
Q
So you knew how it operated?


A
I did, yes.

77
Q
So did you then share with Mr. Fox and Mr. Singleton, in late 1996 and early 1997, the first point, that you were aware that a significant portion of employer's costs of any improvements since 1970 had been paid by agreement out of the surplus in the CSSF from time to time?


A
No, I did not.

78
Q
Why not?


A
It was not part of the discussions.

79
Q
Did you not think it was relevant to their determination?


A
It may have been. I didn't see it as my role to -- if I was thinking along those lines about how it was handled in those years, I didn't bring it up to them in discussions, no.

80
Q
Did you advise Mr. Fox or Mr. Singleton in late '96 and/or early '97 that forgivable loans, one or more, had been made to the province in the previous 25 years out of the surplus in the CSSA?


A
No, I did not.

81
Q
Why not?


A
I didn't see that as my role.

82
Q
Did you advise Mr. Fox or Mr. Singleton during the same time period that cash payments had been made to the province to elicit their agreement from time to time?


A
No, I did not.

83
Q
Why not?


A
I didn't -- once again, I didn't see that as my role.
1625
Q
But, Mr. Restall, you knew as a fact, long before February 19, 1997, that surplus under the CSSF had been used to pay both sides of pension improvements?


A
Yes, I knew.

1626
Q
And you had not told Fox; right?


A
I did not bring it up to him, no.

1627
Q
And if Fox didn't know it, wouldn't that be a material fact for him to know, in your view?


A
If Fox was looking at the Civil Service plan and a new plan, if he looked at the history of the Civil Service plan, he would have seen that. There was no point in me trying to go over the full history of the Civil Service plan with Mr. Fox, who is quite able to do that himself.

1628
Q
My question, though, sir, is, would it not be a relevant consideration for Fox to know, whether he found it out from you or Barker or his own research, wouldn't that be a material point in your view for him to know?


A
It would be material for him to know, yes.
430. Restall testified that if Fox had investigated the history of what went on in the old plan in relation to how surpluses were handled, as Restall thought he should have, he would have found this information (June 3, page 64).  This is exactly what Fox did. It was through his meeting with Barker that he discovered this information relating to the use of surplus under the old plan (point (a) communicated by Barker). 

431. After the meeting with Barker, Fox wanted to obtain documentation of the situation where surplus had been used to finance the employer’s side of an improvement. Fox asked Paterson to confirm this. To Fox, it was relevant because it showed that surplus generated by employee contributions had been used in the past to finance the employer’s share of benefit improvements (Oct. 1, page 38, 40). 

432. Fox obtained this documentation, which confirmed for Fox that in the past, by agreement, there was some use being put to the employee surplus to defray the employer’s costs. Fox thought that any surplus emerging would not be used by MTS without prior discussion with the employees. However, this is not something that he ultimately recommended in his final opinion.  In the CSSF, Fox viewed the employer (i.e. the government) as having ultimate authority in how the surplus would be utilized by virtue of the inability of the employees to have access to the surplus without the government’s consent. It was clear that the employees did not have unlimited access to the surplus under the CSSA. 

433. Up to Draft Opinion #3 and the afternoon of February 19, 1997, when Fox met with Barker, Fox’s draft opinions concluded that there was not equivalency.  With respect to the first three draft opinions, Fox included funding and control of surplus.  It is only after Fox’s meeting with Barker on the afternoon of February 19, 1997, when Fox received information on funding and surplus from Barker, that Fox changed his draft opinion to conclude that there was equivalency.  Fox was clearly including funding and surplus as part of his definition of equivalency.  It cannot be said that Fox reversed his decision because the Singleton/MTS definition of equivalency (which allegedly excluded funding and surplus) was imposed on him.  Fox continued to use the same definition, both before and after his meeting with Barker.  Fox’s meeting with Barker did not influence Fox’s definition.  Rather, Barker only provided information relevant to Fox’s opinion.
434. An analogy can be drawn to Wood v. Wetaskiwin (County), 2003 ABCA 67 [Tab 27], which involved an appeal by several homeowners from the dismissal of an application for judicial review of a decision of the council of the County of Wetaskiwin. The homeowners owned homes on the shore of a lake. The area near the water's edge was reserved to the County. All of the homeowners had constructed stairs, sheds, boat houses, decks or paths on the reserve land. The homeowners had asked the council of the County of Wetaskiwin to review administrative orders given by the administrative officer which required the homeowners to remove the structures. The council confirmed the orders. It did not provide the homeowners with an opportunity to appear before it and did not provide reasons for its decision.  The Alberta Court of Appeal applied the five factors set out by the Court in the Baker decision (at para 12), and determined that the council owed the homeowners only a minimal duty of fairness. The Court’s reasoning is consistent with the position of MTS in the present case. In particular, at paragraphs 19 and 20, the Court made the following comments:

“19      However, here the appellants were afforded the right to be heard and made representations. What they complain about is that the next day an administrator was asked some questions and responded to those in the absence of the appellants…

 20      In our view, this position is without merit. First, we conclude that not every question potentially asked by council invited further participation....”
435. In the present case, the plaintiffs were afforded the right to be heard and made representations. What the plaintiffs complain about is that after two separate meetings with the plaintiffs and receiving written materials from the plaintiffs, Fox met with Barker of MTS, at which time Barker made comments on Fox’s draft opinion as at that date. The plaintiffs say that Fox had a duty to then communicate with them. As noted by the Court in Wood, not every issue potentially presented to Fox invited further participation by the plaintiffs. It is submitted that this is particularly so, having regard to:
(a) When Fox met with the plaintiffs, he heard from them regarding their concerns and their arguments regarding the new plan text;
(b) The very issue (point (a) communicated by Barker) the plaintiffs complain they were not given the opportunity to comment upon was known to the plaintiffs at the time they met with Fox and further the plaintiffs knew that this issue was significant to Fox.  The plaintiffs chose not to disclose material facts, which they knew to be material to Fox;
(c) When Barker met with Fox, she did not provide incorrect information on points (a), (b), or (c) communicated by her;
(d) Fox made his own follow up by obtaining documents which confirmed the details of point (a) communicated by Barker. Points (b) and (c) communicated by Barker also proved to be true based on the Buck actuarial valuation of the new plan [AD 827].

436. Restall certainly did not limit himself in his communications with Fox or Singleton. For example, on January 2, 1997, after the plaintiffs met with Fox to communicate their views on equivalency, Restall sent a letter to Fox, drafted by the plaintiffs’ actuary Ellement, which indicated that the ERPC was not satisfied with the proposed new plan text and wanted changes regarding the initial asset transfer from the CSSF, ongoing surpluses and surplus on wind-up and governance (see also, June 3, page 63). 

437. An investigative body is the master of its own procedure. Lord Denning’s comments in Selvarajan v. Race Relations Board, [1973] 1 All E.R. 13 at p. 19, as quoted by the Supreme Court of Canada in Nicholson v. Haldimand Norfolk (Regional) Police Commissioners, [1979] 1 S.C.R. 311 (S.C.C.) [Tab 28], are particularly apt:

“…The fundamental rule is that, if a person may be subjected to pains or penalties, or be exposed to prosecution or proceedings, or deprived of remedies or redress, or in some such way adversely affected by the investigation and report, then he should be told the case made against him and be afforded a fair opportunity of answering it. The investigating body is, however, the master of its own procedure. It need not hold a hearing. It can do everything in writing. It need not allow lawyers. It need not put every detail of the case against a man. Suffice it if the broad grounds are given. It need not name its informants. It can give the substance only. Moreover it need not do everything itself. It can employ secretaries and assistants to do all the preliminary work and leave much to them. But, in the end, the investigating body itself must come to its own decision and make its own report.” [Underlining added]

See also, Knight v. Indian Head School Division No. 19, [1990] 1 S.C.R. 653 [Tab 29], at para 49

438. With respect to the process as a whole, Fox, Paterson and Singleton confirmed through their evidence that:

(a) There were no restrictions on meetings held between Fox and the plaintiffs;

(b) There were no restrictions on what was discussed at the meetings held between Fox and the plaintiffs;

(c) There were no restrictions on the number of meetings held, although Fox did not expect to constantly have meetings;

(d) Fox himself did not feel restricted as to who could or could not meet with him;

(e) There were no limitations on the plaintiffs with respect to information they could provide to Fox outside of meetings;

(f) No one objected to having meetings held separately with the various interested parties;

(g) No one objected to Paterson’s presence at the meetings held between Fox and the plaintiffs; and
(h) No one objected to the process being followed with respect to gathering information.

439. It is submitted that if the plaintiffs believed the process to be unfair, it was incumbent on them to raise their concerns with Fox.


(i)
No wrongful or undue influence by the Provincial Auditor’s office
440. At trial, despite numerous challenges, over and over, Fox confirmed that the definition he used to determine equivalence in value and the opinion he reached with respect to equivalence in value were his own.    
441. Fox was of the view that the definition and his subsequent opinion were his to make.  He was the actuary (Sept. 29, pages 7-8).

442. Fox relied on the PA’s Office to give him information and expected they would get it if he wanted it (Sept. 29, page 6).
443. Quite apart from Fox’s clear evidence that he rendered his own opinion, the question that naturally arises is what was the PA’s Office doing? Each participating member of the PA’s Office was called by the plaintiffs and questioned on this very issue.  Their evidence was consistent as follows:

(a) Johnson (at the time, the Assistant Provincial Auditor):

(i) Fox was the one doing the work.  Paterson was there to facilitate getting information (Oct. 9, page 17);

(ii) Johnson was not really involved in the process.  If someone asked for his view or for help, he would try to provide assistance (Oct. 9, page 18);

(iii) Johnson was “absolutely not” trying to influence the decision of Fox (Oct. 9, page 37);

(iv) Johnson made it abundantly clear to Fox that it was his view, his report, and he needed to make the decision totally on his own (Oct. 9, page 37).

(b) Paterson (primarily handling this assignment for the PA’s Office and at the time the auditor of the CSSF financial statements):

(i) His role was to arrange meetings, set up times, and take notes so Fox would have notes (Oct. 10, page 67);
(ii) Paterson was satisfied Fox was rendering the opinion (Oct. 10, page 64);

(iii) Paterson was not trying to influence Fox’s opinion (Oct. 10, page 65);

(iv) Paterson was not attempting to influence [Fox’s] thinking (Oct. 10, page 66).

(c) Singleton:

(i) It was ultimately up to Fox as to what the equivalency definition was.  To the extent the PA’s Office could assist in arriving at that definition, they were prepared to do so;

(ii) Singleton felt that because the Reorg Act required him to hire Fox, he had to do a reasonable amount of due diligence to satisfy himself that Fox performed his work with due diligence. At no point did Singleton feel it was the Provincial Auditor’s role to provide the opinion;
(iii) Singleton recalled that neither one of Singleton or Paterson had an opinion one way or another with respect to equivalency;
(iv) Singleton did not form an opinion on the definition of equivalency or what it did or did not include;
(v) It was Fox’s job or role to determine what information he needed to arrive at his opinion.  However, if the PA’s Office was aware of relevant documents, they would bring them to Fox’s attention;
(vi) Singleton did not express an opinion to Fox as to what the “answer” to Fox’s opinion should be. As such, Singleton testified he was not sure how he could have influenced Fox.
444. Before Fox changed his draft opinion, a meeting occurred on February 19, 1997, in the morning, between Fox, Singleton, Johnson and Paterson.  The evidence of Johnson (Oct. 9, pages 30-33) with respect to this meeting and the time shortly thereafter is as follows:

Q
And can you describe what you recall about that meeting on February 19th?

A
Well, it wasn't a very long meeting, and I believe Jon Singleton did most of the talking.  He had indicated that he was, he thought that the document, whichever document it was that we were looking at, was long and confusing and he was, he was confused about the linkage between some of the issues that were listed as causing the benefits to be not equivalent in value.  He didn't understand what the linkage was
…

Q
Did you have any concerns that you expressed at that meeting?

A
Well, as Jon read through and tried to explain what his concerns were, Tom Paterson never really said anything and Cliff Fox never really said anything, and I was sitting there and just looking at the document and I, I basically concurred.  I said that's, that's a good question, like how do those things link up; like I don't understand how those things impact on pension benefits.  And then Cliff Fox just said, well, leave it with me, I'll, I'll sort it out, and that was the end of the meeting.

…

Q
What happened next in terms of, of Mr. Fox?

A
Several days after that meeting, Cliff Fox phoned me and he said he was having trouble with his report.  And I said, like why are you phoning me, I can't help you with your report, it's your -- this is -- it's your report.  He says, yeah, no, I know, I understand that.  And he says, I just wanted to confirm my understanding of what took place at that meeting.  And so we sort of rehashed the meeting and Jon Singleton's concern about what is the linkage.  So we discussed that, and then, and then I was kind of surprised, Cliff said, what if there is no linkage?  I said, oh, well, then does that mean the benefits would be equal or like what is, what is the impact of that?  And he says, he agreed that they would be, he said, well, they're probably better under the new plan than under the old plan, and that's a, that's a positive thing and the report probably should reflect that, then.


And he, he seemed comfortable with that and he seemed to be agreeing that that's what he was going to do.  I don't really know what he was going to do but that was kind of the impression I got.  And then he said, what about, what about the other issues?  And I said, what other issues?  And I believe he mentioned surplus and governance stuff.  And I said, well, is that relevant to pension benefits?  And he said, well, it would be helpful to have that stuff addressed to maybe resolve future disputes regarding pension issues.  And I, and I asked if there was any, if there would be any linkage on those things with, with pension benefits.  And he said, well, not really, because that's what he was, that's what his first position was, that there really is no linkage.  Or he was -- I guess it was a hypothetical situation, he's saying, what if there is no linkage.  And, like I don't know, if he thinks there's no linkage, that's fine by me
…And I said, I don't, I -- I'm not -- I don't want to influence you one way or the other.  It's, it's like you need to do what you need to do, and all I can say is, good luck.

445. The evidence of Singleton (Oct. 30, page 21) with respect to this meeting is:

A
What I recall of the conversation was it was Mr. Fox reviewing the various matters that were causing him some anxiety in formulating his opinion.  And those issues primarily dealt with issues like governance and surplus and funding.  But I don't, can't recall who was, we were looking at a specific document or we were just having a general conversation about the, the matters he was wrestling with in, in formulating his opinion.
446. Singleton also gave the following unchallenged evidence (Oct. 30, pages 68-69):

Q
When, if ever, Mr. Singleton, did Mr. Fox ask you what your opinion was on equivalence in value?

A
I don't believe he ever asked me that question.

Q
And when, if ever, did he ask you what you thought the definition of equivalency was or should be?

A
I don't think he ever asked me that question either.

Q
You referred in your evidence, sir, to having established a, a guideline or directive when you became provincial auditor to try and make the, the work of the provincial auditor's office lay friendly.  That wasn't quite your wording, but something to that effect?

A
Yes.

Q
We see, to a certain extent assistance by Paterson throughout, in terms of changing wording and changing words.  Were you aware of any occasion where either you, or Paterson, to your knowledge, was attempting to affect the opinion, as opposed to wordsmithing?

A
No, our, our goal would have been to try to improve clarify [sic] of wording, not to change anything substantive.

Q
Did Mr. Fox ever raise with you concerns about the, my wordsmithing or changing of words in --

A
No.

Q
-- the course of those several months?

A
No, he did not.

447. The evidence establishes that Fox was wrestling with whether the issues of funding, surplus and governance ought to be considered in equivalency from his Draft Opinions to his Final Opinion.  The evidence also establishes that the PA’s Office was not indicating to Fox what should, or should not, be included in his opinion. To the contrary, Fox was told that it was his opinion to give.
448. The evidence is undisputed that from the draft opinion to the final opinion, Fox received three pieces of new information.  It is this new information that Fox says led to him changing his opinion once he received the information and went through all the “stuff” he had. 
449. Fox’s view with respect to surplus changed.  Fox’s evidence was that the government had the ultimate power over how surplus was ultimately used.  In particular, the new information gave Fox the view that “employees view of control of surplus was higher than it was.  They couldn’t indiscriminately use surplus.  Government could say no and that would be it” (Sept. 30, page 100).  
450. Surpluses had been used to fund both the employee and employer costs relating to benefit improvements.  On this, Fox testified that he was surprised to learn that surplus had been used to fund both halves, as “there was a feeling that the employees had some control over use” (Oct. 1, page 38). These conclusions of Fox are overwhelmingly supported by the evidence.

451. In addition, the information received by Barker that there would be an unfunded liability and that the employer’s normal costs would be higher than the employee’s normal costs all contributed to Fox changing his opinion.  These items are facts that have been proven true at trial.

452. The information provided by Barker, along with reviewing the other documents received, including the MOA and the new plan text, led Fox to “change” his opinion from that which was contained in the Draft Opinion.  The information provided proved true, and there is no basis at law to support a claim that Fox ought not to have changed his views as contained in a draft opinion that was “unfinished”.
453. The very fact that Fox was searching for, and used, this information to change his draft opinion, clearly shows that he included funding, surplus, and governance in his definition and in providing his opinion.  To suggest otherwise is without any credible evidentiary foundation.


(ii)
No wrongful or undue influence by MTS
454. Fox had two meetings with MTS.  At the first, on December 2 or 3, 1996, he met with Solman and McInnes [AD 545].  The focus of the meeting was to provide Fox with documents relating to the creation of the new plan so he could determine if the benefits in the new plan were equivalent in value to the pension benefits in the old plan (Oct. 15, page 85).  Documents were sent to Fox by letter dated December 3, 1996 [AD 550].  
455. At the second meeting, on February 19, 1997, Fox met with Barker, who had been requested to attend this meeting by Singleton. 
456. MTS never requested that it be provided with a draft definition and MTS never requested that it be provided with Fox’s draft opinion.  The evidence is that Fraser was indifferent as to what definition was used, indicating only that if a broader definition is used it should include funding. Barker was not attempting to change Fox’s opinion, rather she was providing him with facts he did not have.  
457. It is noteworthy that MTS did not provide Fox with its interpretation of the MOA.  Fox’s interpretation with respect to the MOA was a result of his own read of the document and based on what was communicated to him by the plaintiffs (Sept. 29, page 28).
458. As such, there is no credible evidence to support the plaintiffs’ allegation of undue influence by MTS.

(iii)
No bias on the part of Fox
(A)
Allowing Fraser to see the draft definition

459. While the draft definition was provided to Fraser by Singleton and not to the plaintiffs, the following must be kept in mind:
(a) Singleton provided and spoke to Fraser about the definition.  Whatever discussions they may have had with respect to the definition did not influence Fox as the “decision maker”. Fox used his own definition;

(b) Fraser communicated to Singleton that he did not have a preference as to whether the definition was interpreted narrowly, to include only financial benefits, or more broadly to include issues of surplus and governance.  This draft definition included the statement “A secondary objective will be to assess whether the contributions to finance benefits on implementation are shared equally by the employees and employer as intended by the CSSA” [AD 788]. However, Fraser was of the opinion that if a broader definition was used, it must include the concept of funding in addition to surplus and governance.  Fraser’s broader definition was consistent with the definition advocated by the plaintiffs through the ERPC and the definition that was used in Fox’s Opinion.  Fraser’s narrower definition was consistent with the definition of the plaintiff CEP as presented by Corp to Fox at their meeting on December 19, 1996 [AD 621];

(c) Fraser’s comments on Fox’s draft definition were not communicated to Fox;

(d) The plaintiffs were afforded the opportunity to provide and they did provide Fox with their interpretation of the definition of “equivalent in value” 

(e) Fox did not care what definition was used by the PA’s Office in its communications to interested parties.  He used his own definition which, as noted, included the concepts of surplus, governance and funding.  Fox’s evidence in this regard is confirmed by the fact that his draft opinion as at February 18, 1997 included extensive discussion of surplus, funding and governance [AD 806];

(f) Accordingly, any comments by Fraser as to what should be included in the definition clearly did not influence Fox. As noted, his draft opinion of February 18, 1997 clearly applied a definition which included surplus, funding and governance [AD 806]. It follows that the disclosure of the draft definition to Fraser on February 4, 1997 is not relevant as it had no influence on Fox.
(B)
Showing Barker Fox’s draft opinion and meeting with her
460. Likewise, MTS submits that providing Barker with a copy of Fox’s draft opinion and then subsequently meeting with her did not affect the process because:

(a) The draft opinion Barker reviewed was only a draft and was not intended to be Fox’s opinion;

(b) Fox was interested in the valuation and financial position of the new plan as at December 31, 1996 and January 1, 1997, and relative contributions to normal costs as between MTS and the plan members. This information could only come from MTS and all proved to be correct;

(c) Barker provided information at the meeting relating to funding of benefit improvements in the CSSF that was in the possession of the plaintiffs and they chose not to advise Fox of this information. To the extent that the plaintiffs seek to set aside Fox’s opinion, the plaintiffs’ decision not to disclose this information to Fox weighs against this Court favouring the plaintiffs’ position;

(d) Fox verified the information provided by Barker in (c) above, and then, upon further consideration, rendered his Opinion; and
(e) Compiling the foregoing information was all consistent with Fox’s fact gathering process.

461. MTS submits there was no obligation on Fox to meet with the plaintiffs following his meeting with Barker because:

(a) Fox had already met with the plaintiffs and obtained their views;

(b) The information provided by Barker proved true and did not require follow up information from the plaintiffs; and

(c) The plaintiffs were aware of the information provided by Barker relating to funding of benefit improvements in the CSSF, and chose not to provide this information to Fox, as the plaintiffs did not see it as their “role” to provide this information and they expected Fox to determine this information on his own. This is exactly what Fox did by following up with Barker.

III.
Review of Fox’s Opinion
462. The plaintiffs appear to claim that, apart from any issue of procedural fairness, Fox’s Opinion had to be correct.  MTS submits this is contrary to well established principles of judicial review and the requirements of the Reorg Act.  

463. It is undisputed that actuaries may hold different, but valid, opinions.  Whether another actuary might hold an opinion different from Fox does not render Fox’s Opinion incorrect, particularly when it is supported by other actuaries. To review Fox’s Opinion, this Court must conclude that Fox’s opinion was unreasonable because it was not an opinion consistent with actuarial standards. It is submitted that to do so, this Court would have to reject the evidence of actuaries FitzGerald (expert to MTS), Williams (MTS plan actuary) and the plaintiffs’ own actuary Corp (CEP actuary).

(a)
Standard of review to be applied to Fox’s Opinion
464. The leading authority on the standard of review to be applied is the Supreme Court of Canada decision of Dunsmuir v. New Brunswick, 2008 SCC 9 [Tab 30].  The Court concluded that there are now two standards of review:  “reasonableness” and “correctness”.  
465. The Court, at paragraph 47, considered what was meant by the revised “reasonableness” standard:

Reasonableness is a deferential standard animated by the principle that underlies the development of the two previous standards of reasonableness:  certain questions that come before administrative tribunals do not lend themselves to one specific, particular result.  Instead, they may give rise to a number of possible, reasonable conclusions.  Tribunals have a margin of appreciation within the range of acceptable and rational solutions.  A court conducting a review for reasonableness inquires into the qualities that make a decision reasonable, referring both to the process of articulating the reasons and to outcomes.  In judicial review, reasonableness is concerned mostly with the existence of justification, transparency and intelligibility within the decision-making process.  But it is also concerned with whether the decision falls within a range of possible, acceptable outcomes which are defensible in respect of the facts and law.

466. The Court was clear that the move towards a single reasonableness standard does not pave the way for a more intrusive review by courts (paragraph 48).  The Court, in considering the deference to be owed to an administrative tribunal, concluded, at paragraph 49, as follows:

Deference in the context of the reasonableness standard therefore implies that courts will give due consideration to the determinations of decision makers…In short, deference requires respect for the legislative choices to leave some matters in the hands of administrative decision makers, for the processes and determinations that draw on particular expertise and experiences, and for the different roles of the courts and administrative bodies within the Canadian constitutional system. (emphasis added)
467. The Court summarized the factors that will lead to the conclusion that the decision maker should be given deference and a reasonableness test applied, at paragraphs 55 and 64, as follows:

(a) Presence or absence of a privative clause;

(b) Purpose of the tribunal as determined by an interpretation of the enabling legislation;

(c) Nature of the question at issue; and

(d) The expertise of the tribunal.


Privative Clause

468. The determination of deference will, in the absence of a privative clause, be based on the other three factors (Pushpanathan v. Canada (Minister of Citizenship and Immigration), [1998] 1 S.C.R. 982, [Tab 31] at para 30). While the absence of a privative clause points toward a less deferential standard, it must be considered together with the absence of a clause directing that the decision is appealable and should not be given undue weight (Chamberlain v. Surrey School District No. 36, 2002 SCC 86 [Tab 32] at para 142).

469. In the present case, the Reorg Act does not indicate that the decision of the independent actuary is to be final. Likewise, there are no appeal rights. The analysis of deference must rely on the remaining three factors.


Expertise and Purpose

470. Courts frequently blend their analysis of the purpose and expertise factors, and consider both issues concurrently (Canada (Director of Investigation and Research, Competition Act) v. Southam Inc., [1997] 1 S.C.R. 748 [Tab 33]).  Expertise is “the most important of the factors” in making a determination on deference (Nygard International Partnership Associates (Re), 2006 MBCA 115 at para 29 [Tab 34]).

471. The relevant question should always be whether the Courts have an expertise equal to or better than that of the board, relative to the particular issue that is faced (Chamberlain [Tab 32] at para 11). Making an evaluation of relative expertise has three dimensions:  (i) the Court must characterize the expertise of the tribunal in question; (ii) it must consider its own expertise relative to that of the tribunal; and (iii) it must identify the nature of the specific issue before the administrative decision-maker relative to this expertise (Pushpanathan at para 33; Nygard International Partnership Associates (Re) at para 29).
472. More restraint will be exercised by the Court where more non-judicial or non-legal expertise is required in making the decision and the more complex the decision is (Southam at para 50).  If a tribunal has been constituted with a particular expertise with respect to achieving the aims of an Act, whether because of the specialized knowledge of its decision-makers, special procedure or non-judicial means of implementing the Act, then a greater degree of deference will be accorded  (Pushpanathan at para 32). A decision which involves, in some degree, the application of a highly specialized expertise will militate in favour of a high degree of deference and a standard of review at the patent unreasonableness end of the spectrum (Pushpanathan at para 35). When the “structure envisions a delicate balancing between different constituencies then the Court should approach a review with more deference. For example, if the aims of the Act are more economic or managerial than legal, then the Court should exercise restraint” (Anning v. British Columbia (Minister of Energy and Mines, 2002 BCSC 896 [Tab  35] at para 86).

473. It is submitted that a Court would have less expertise in determining whether the value of the benefits provided under a new pension plan are at least equivalent in value to the pension benefits provided under a previous pension plan. The nature of the determination of equivalency was closely related to Fox’s expertise as an actuary. 

474. The Supreme Court of Canada in Pushpanathan, at paragraph 36, discussed the theory of “polycentricity”, which supports the granting of more deference to non-judicial agencies. Bastarache J. defined “polycentricity” as an issue that “involves a large number of interlocking and interacting interests and considerations…While judicial procedure is premised on a bipolar opposition of parties, interests, and factual discovery, some problems require the consideration of numerous interests simultaneously, and the promulgation of solutions which concurrently balance benefits and costs for many different parties.  Where an administrative structure more closely resembles this model, courts will exercise restraint.” 

475. In the present case, Fox’s determination involved a “large number of interlocking and interacting interests and considerations” and “the consideration of numerous interests simultaneously, and the promulgation of solutions which concurrently balance benefits and costs for many different parties”.  This favours a high level of deference.


Fact or Law or Mixed

476. The more factual the decision, as opposed to legal, the more likely the Court will give deference to the decision (Chamberlain at paras 143-144).  Under subsection 15(3) of the Reorg Act, Fox’s function was to determine whether the value of the benefits provided under the new plan were at least equivalent in value to the pension benefits provided under the old plan. This is a question of fact.

477. Overall, it is submitted that the factors discussed above establish that Fox’s determination is subject to a standard of review of reasonableness.

(b)
The reasonableness of Fox’s Opinion

(i)
Did Fox’s assumptions prove true?
478. Fox’s opinion was based on three assumptions:

(a) MTS will make every effort to enter into a reciprocal arrangement with the CSSA;

(b) The initial valuation of the new plan will reveal an unfunded actuarial liability and MTS’s share of the actuarial normal cost will exceed the normal cost of the employees; and

(c) MTS will develop an appropriate unregistered supplemental pension arrangement to provide the benefits not permitted under the ITA.
479. It is not in dispute that the first and third assumption of Fox proved true.

480. With respect to the second assumption as it relates to the normal costs of MTS versus the employee’s, the normal cost calculation is set out in the valuation reports of the new plan each year, and reveal that, indeed, MTS’s normal cost exceeds that of the employees.  The relevant valuation report is the initial valuation report at AD 827.  At page 11194, the normal cost of the plan is $20,106,000, of which $9,154,000 is the cost to the employees (less than 50%). There is no evidence before this Court that challenges the normal cost calculations.
481. With respect to the other part of the second assumption, the plaintiffs accept the accuracy of the valuation report for funding purposes. However, the plaintiffs complain that it was inappropriate to have used this same report for Fox’s determination of equivalency.  Their main complaint appears to be that a smoothing calculation was used to value the initial unfunded liability.  Of course, the smoothing technique is not challenged for funding purposes.  Rather, the plaintiffs allege, at paragraph 46(a) of the Fresh as Amended Statement of Claim, that had a market value of assets approach been used, for the purpose of Fox’s equivalency determination, it would have revealed a surplus on day one of the new plan.  
482. Williams, the plan’s actuary who used the smoothing technique to determine the actuarial value of the assets rather than using a market value, testified that he used the approach to eliminate volatility in the calculation, and that he could employ a smoothing technique as there was a history of the assets from the Pension Reserve upon which he could draw on (Oct. 27, page 74).
483. The use of smoothing to calculate the funding status of the plan as at January 1, 1997 was put to Fox, who gave the following evidence (Sept. 30, pages 80-81):

Q
And, Mr. Fox, if the reason for the unfunded liability is because a smoothing technique was used to measure the assets, wouldn't that affect the importance you were attaching to the fact of an unfunded liability?

A
Just, just -- yeah.  But, I mean, it, it depends on why they -- if, if they didn't have the smoothing they might have used a higher salary escalation rate or they might have changed something else.  So, I mean, certainly it's a factor.  I wouldn't -- I can't deny that it isn't, but it's -- I mean, I can't just look at that one, one factor.

Q
Do you agree with respect to the measurement of the assets on, on the first day of the plan that MTS's actuary could have used the market value of assets?

A
Could have, yes.

Q
And you agree that had that been done there would have been a large surplus in the plan?

A
There would have been --

Q
All other things remaining equal.

A
I believe there would have been -- well, depending on what they did with that, depending on what they did with that initial transfer difference.  I ...

Q
But you're agreeing that there would have been a large surplus?

A
Well, I'm not agreeing that there would have been a large surplus, there would have been, there would have been less unfunded -- the position would have been different, put it that way.

Q
Well, on a market value basis the actuarial valuation that actually came out would have revealed a surplus of 56 million; is that not correct?

A
Well, unless they didn't use those -- all the assumptions.  They may have changed other assumptions then when combined with the asset valuation method.  So I'm not, I'm not disagreeing with what you're saying, but I’m just saying that if they had done that they may have changed something else.

Q
Yeah.  And I, and I understand what your point is.  Your point is if you change one assumption, I guess it may drive you to want to change others?

A
Yes.

484. Levy opined that it was beyond the actuarial standards to have employed a smoothing technique to value the assets as at January 1, 1997, the valuation date.  However:

(a) There were, and are, no actuarial standards which guide a situation like the one before this Court;

(b) No objection was made to Williams at the time for having employed the smoothing technique.  This is so despite the fact that the initial valuation report was reviewed by both Ellement and Corp (Oct. 9, page 22).

485. In contrast, FitzGerald gave evidence that since there are no actuarial standards which particularly apply to this situation, one is to employ general standards of practice.  In his opinion, the use of a smoothing technique is within those general standards.  At paragraph 55 of his report [Exhibit 42], FitzGerald explains the use of an actuarial value (smoothing) for assets:
...The market value of an asset is the price it changed hands at when a sale took place on a certain day.  In fact, assets are bought and sold at different prices during a day of trading and the value that we refer to as the market value is the price at which the last trade of the day took place.  If there is no trade there is no market value and even if there is a trade on one day there is no guarantee that the price will be the same on the next day.  When valuing the assets of a pension plan we are concerned with assets which have not been sold but that will be held for some time into the future.  If prices progressed smoothly from day to day then market values, i.e. yesterday’s prices would be a good proxy for today’s value.  But unfortunately they do not. They fluctuate from day to day…Smoothing techniques combine values from more than one day to determine a value between the two extremes and therefore better predicting the direction of future values.

486. The appropriateness of using a smoothing technique in the initial valuation of the new plan is discussed by FitzGerald at paragraphs 57 and 59:

57.  I agree with Levy that the use of an actuarial value is not common for a new plan but we are dealing here with a successor plan with a history of asset values from which an actuarial or smoothed value can be derived.  The typical new plan either has no assets or has received a cash transfer from a previous plan sponsor.  Under those circumstances there is no investment history to rely upon to derive an actuarial value.  In the case of the MTS Plan, a substantial part of the opening assets came from the Pension Reserve which was managed by MTS.
59.  For these reasons I am of the opinion that the use of an actuarial or smoothed value for this purpose is not only acceptable, it is also preferable…


(ii) 
Was Fox’s opinion unreasonable?
487. As noted above, a reasonable decision is one in which the decision falls within a range of possible, acceptable outcomes which are defensible in respect of the facts and law.
488. Applying this legal test, there is no evidence that Fox’s Opinion was unreasonable. To the contrary, it was undisputed that actuaries could honestly hold different opinions about the same thing.  Each actuary who gave evidence confirmed that actuaries can hold honest but different opinions.  Corp described (Sept. 11, page 15) the difficulty of Fox’s task as follows:
Well, the, the wording of Bill 67 said that the, the new plan provides for benefits which are equivalent in value.  Now, actuaries ‑‑ the actuary's role is to value benefits and to value pensions, to value pension liabilities, and in that process there are a range of, of assumptions.  In order to value benefits, the actuary makes assumptions about future events and there are a range of assumptions which are acceptable.  So no, no two actuaries are, are necessarily going to agree that a certain value is the correct value for that calculation. 

So all I'm saying is and what I was ‑‑ the point I was trying to make in this letter was I couldn't understand why the legislation didn't say the benefits shall be the same as the civil service plan.  Rather, it said they are equivalent in value.  So ‑‑ and I was pointing out the difficulty of, of ‑‑ or ‑‑ "difficulty" is the wrong word.  The, the ‑‑ that ‑‑ some complexity with, with the wording "value."  (emphasis added)
489. The valuing of pension benefits is not a precise calculation and there is a lot of room for differences of opinion based on the assumptions and methods used.  By reason of the Reorg Act, only Fox’s opinion is determinative.  This Court should only interfere with that opinion if it is satisfied that Fox’s Opinion was unreasonable in the sense that it falls outside the range of possible, acceptable outcomes.  That is the legal standard.
490. To conclude Fox’s Opinion is unreasonable, this Court will have to reject the evidence given by actuaries Williams, Corp and FitzGerald.  All of these actuaries are highly qualified individuals with extensive knowledge and experience.   Corp gave evidence on the part of the plaintiffs.
491. Williams rendered a report on October 30, 1996 [AD 402] that the new plan complied with the requirements of the Reorg Act.  While not called as an expert in this case, Williams has previously been qualified as an actuarial expert with respect to pension matters. Williams concluded that the new plan provided for benefits that were equivalent in value to the pension benefits provided under the CSSA and identified those benefits which exceeded the pension benefits under the CSSA:

(a) The rate of interest applied to all employee contributions would be CANSIM and not limited to 3% for those contributions made prior to 1984;
(b) Members may retire at the age of 55 provided they have two years of service and not the required 10 years of service under the CSSA; and
(c) The minimum COLA guarantee of 2/3 of CPI up to 4%.

492. FitzGerald, who was accepted as an expert by this Court, testified that Fox’s Opinion was reasonable.  FitzGerald’s review of Fox’s Opinion is a detailed and considered one.  FitzGerald, at paragraph 47 of Exhibit 42, noted that Fox appears to have applied a double-barrelled test.  First, Fox compared the benefits promised under the new plan, and the second part of the test was to measure the value of the new plan benefits.  This was done by checking whether the employer normal cost was greater than the employee contributions and whether or not there was an unfunded liability.  FitzGerald concluded that the first part of the test Fox employed was a sufficient test of equivalence in value, because if the benefits are at least as good, the value is at least as good (excluding security, governance or surplus).  The employees are contributing no more for those benefits under the MTS plan than they were under the CSSA.  In FitzGerald’s opinion, the second part of Fox’s test was unnecessary.  
493. At paragraph 66 of Exhibit 42, FitzGerald concluded:

Given the formula benefits under the MTS Plan are equal to or greater than the CSSA benefits and given that the employees are not required to make contributions under the MTS Plan that are any greater than those required under the CSSA, it is my conclusion that, under the definition of “equivalent in value” in paragraph 42, Fox did have reasonable basis on which to conclude that the benefits provided under the MTS Plan were at least equivalent in value to the benefits provided under the CSSA. 
494. FitzGerald then confirmed his finding at paragraph 66, above, and at paragraphs 77, 78, 79 and 80, after reviewing the concepts of funding, governance and surplus respectively:
77.
…Given these facts, I cannot say that the security of the benefits has changed in a manner that changes my opinion in paragraph 66 that Fox did have a reasonable basis on which to conclude that the benefits provided under the MTS Plan were at least equivalent in value to the benefits provided under the CSSA.

78.
The Board has the power to administer the CSSA but has no power to amend it.  This power is reserved to the legislature.  In addition to the Board there is provision under the CSSA for an Advisory Committee, a Liaison Committee and a Liaison Negotiating Committee whose functions are to consult and provide proposals for changes to pension benefits…I find nothing here, or elsewhere in the CSSA, that gives these three bodies any decision-making powers.  The MTS Plan Governance document provides for a Pension Committee which acts as an advisory committee to the board of MTS, again without decision-making powers.  I find no change, therefore, in the plan governance that alters my opinion under paragraphs 51 and 66.

79.
As discussed in paragraphs 62 and 63, I find no evidence on an “employee surplus” and I find no provision under the CSSA for control of any such surplus.

80.
In my opinion, for the reasons given above, Fox had a reasonable basis upon which to conclude that the benefits provided under the MTS Plan were at least equivalent in value to the benefits provided under the CSSA using any of the definitions of “equivalent in value” set out in paragraphs 42-44.

495. To reject the evidence of Williams and FitzGerald, this Court would have to accept and prefer the evidence given by Ellement and Levy.  MTS submits little, if any, weight should be attached to their evidence because their evidence was not credible. MTS’s detailed submission as to their credibility is set out below. However, at this juncture, it is critical to re-emphasize that Levy did not read the CSSA.  MTS submits that no opinion can be rendered on whether Fox’s Opinion was incorrect or unreasonable without reviewing the very pension benefit provisions (i.e. the CSSA) upon which Fox’s Opinion was based.  Levy’s “expert” opinion ought not to be given any weight.  
496. MTS submits that Fox’s Opinion was reasonable and was supported by the evidence.  Therefore, it ought to stand.
IV.
Memorandum of Agreement - Interpretation and Compliance
(a)
The agreement and the existence of consensus ad idem
497. In order for a contract or agreement to be considered valid, there must be a meeting of the minds on all matters essential to it; there must be a manifest intention to be bound by an agreement.  This is consensus ad idem.
498. A lack of consensus ad idem renders a contract invalid and unenforceable, see Osler, Hoskin & Harcourt v. Ravikovich (1997), 1997 CarswellOnt 5115 [Tab 36].  Courts will focus on the actions of the parties to determine whether a mutual understanding and agreement had been reached, G.H.L. Fridman, The Law of Contract in Canada, 5th Ed, at page 15 [Tab 37]:
The law is concerned not with the parties’ intentions but with their manifested intentions.  It is not what an individual party believed or understood was the meaning of what the other party said or did that is the criterion of agreement; it is whether a reasonable man in the situation of that party would have believed and understood that the other party was consenting to identical terms

499. In Rutherford v. Agricore United, 2006 MBQB 106, aff’d 2006 MBCA 153 [Tab 38], Nurgitz J. found that the price for the purchase of canola was not clearly set out in the contract and that both parties were under a misunderstanding of the others’ intent.  As a result, his Lordship, at paragraphs 10-12, found that there was no consensus ad idem:
All of this has led to a very unfortunate conclusion with the misunderstandings on both sides.  Each party had expectations and clearly these were never communicated.  Part of the difficulty arises in the language and terminology used in the industry and not easily understood by those not involved in agriculture.

There is no evidence that either party misled the other.  Through no fault of the plaintiff or the representatives of the defendant, each had a different understanding and expectation concerning their arrangement.

I am satisfied that the parties were never of one mind and that there was obviously no consensus ad idem.  Accordingly, there is no binding contract between the parties and, therefore, the plaintiff’s action is dismissed with costs. 
500. As discussed herein, MTS submits that the MOA cannot be interpreted as the plaintiffs claim, as the plaintiffs’ evidence with respect to the interpretation of the MOA is not credible. However, should this Court accept that the plaintiffs’ intentions existed from November 7, 1996 on, there is no evidence to suggest that these intentions were known and accepted by MTS.  As such, there is no consensus ad idem and no enforceable contract that MTS could have breached.

501. MTS submits that the very concerns that ERPC had and expressed at the time were addressed in the MOA.  Nothing more was sought or agreed to.  This is evidenced upon a review of Restall’s evidence (June 16, pages 1-7).  Restall gave the following evidence in answer to questions relating to the MOA and the concerns raised by Meronek in a presentation made to the Legislature through the Standing Committee on Public Utilities at AD 410:

Q
The major concerns are as follows: Firstly, dealing with a question -- this question of surplus, a surplus in the fund has been identified in the actuarial report, et cetera.  You see that?

A
Yes.

Q
And, of course, these are proceedings on October 31 and in the paragraphs that follow, Mr. Meronek is expressing concerns that that surplus, which is, in essence, the excess, if you will, (We, we had that conversation before) might disappear on a creation of a new plan.

…

Q
And you'll see that about mid way down that page.  The second issue is employee representation.

A
Yes.

…

Q
And what Mr. Meronek is expressing by way of concern on behalf of your group is that the Pension Benefits Standards Act, in terms of employee representation on the pension committee creates a minimum standard, and you were seeking equal representation.  Is that fair?

A
Equal with the company, yes.

Q
Yes.  And the third concern expressed by Mr. Meronek is on the next page, second last paragraph, and we're at 01585.  You will see --

A
Yes.

Q
-- the paragraph that starts: The third concern is the regulations and the plan text?

A
Yes.

Q
And he goes on to make submissions with respect to the desire to have employees and retirees have input into the plan text and the regulations before they're finalized.

A
Yes.

Q
All right.  And that was, as best you can recall, an accurate statement of the three major concerns at that stage, at least?

A
I believe so.

Q
All right.  Just on that last point, number 3, the third concern, if you turn to the next page, 01586.

A
Yes.

Q
In the second paragraph ...

A
Yes.

Q
The last three lines of that paragraph, Mr. Meronek is making a submission as follows: Therefore, Section 15.1 of Bill 67 should change the definition of new plan from a registerable pension plan established by the corporation to a registerable pension plan established by the corporation and its employees/retirees.  Do you see that?

A
Yes.

Q
Now, that was not accepted by the standing committee or by the legislature before the bill was passed, was it?

A
I don't know.

Q
You don't know?  Do you have your legislation binder, sir?

A
Are you saying, sir, that the, that this -- what Mr. Meronek says in that last sentence was not passed?  I'm sorry, I missed your point there.

Q
The submission by Mr. Meronek that I just pointed to you that the standing committee and the legislature should change the definition of the new plan as it then was drafted, and he gives you the wording, from a registerable pension plan established by the corporation, to - and he's suggesting it be changed to a registerable pension plan established by the corporation and its employees/retirees.

A
Yes.

Q
And that submission was not accepted and that change was not made in the bill when it was passed; is that correct?

A
I believe so.

Q
All right.  And we know, do we not, sir, from your previous testimony that the first concern, that is, the excess on a transfer not disappear and it be -- that something specific be done with it, was, in fact, achieved through the agreement of November 7?  It was put into the adjustment account?

A
It was put in the adjustment account.

Q
Yes.  And the second major concern that Mr. Meronek addressed, the employee representation on the pension committee under the PBSA, that was achieved by agreement with MTS and put into the November 7 agreement and the governance document?

A
The representation in terms of numbers between the System and the employees --

Q
Yes.

A
-- was, yes.

Q
Yes.  And the third concern, that is the employees and retirees having input into the text and the regulations, certainly with respect to the text, that was achieved through the November 7 agreement and the release of the text to you on November 11, as we'll see.

A
The -- it was in that we had opportunity to input.  Some of them -- some of our concerns were not resolved, of course, but we did have the opportunity to input, yes.

(b)
Pension Committee
502. Paragraph 1 of the MOA [AD 440] provides as follows:

1.  The Pension Committee will be comprised of eight representatives plus a chair person as follows:

· one representative from each of IBEW, CEP and TEAM, which representatives must be active employees of MTS or its subsidiaries

· one retire representative 

· four employer representatives 

The Chairperson of the Pension Committee will be an independent third party who is highly qualified, with broad experience in investment and pension management to be appointed by MTS.

503. The composition of the Pension Committee was hard coded into the Governance Document at section 4.4.  Restall gave the following evidence with respect to paragraph 1 of the MOA [at Exhibit 62]:
929
Q
Now, dealing with the November 7, document, sir, point number 1 refers to the composition, if you will, of the pension committee. Was that essentially what had been discussed between you and Mr. Fraser in the meeting of October 30, with the exception of some qualifying words as to the chairperson?


A
Yes.

934
Q
Now, it had been in the November 6 document referred to as the chairman would be appointed by management. And under this document, the November 7, there is reference to it being an independent third party. And that was something that you or one of the representatives asked for, it should be an independent person?


A
I believe I had suggested that to Mr. Fraser in a letter of November 4, I believe.

935
Q
Specific dates don't count, but I do recall it was a suggestion made and it was agreed to by Mr. Fraser?


A
Yes.

936
Q
And then the wording "who is highly qualified with broad experience in investment and pension management," I think that certainly came out of your November 4 letter too I believe?


A
Yes.

937
Q
All right. And that ultimately turned out to be Mr. Pennycook?


A
It did.

938
Q
And you and other representatives, to your knowledge, accepted Mr. Pennycook as satisfying the wording in here?


A
In my wording on the -- I think my wording in the 4th also included independent, which I guess Mr. Pennycook would be as he was not an employee of MTS.

939
Q
Independent third party who is highly qualified with broad investment and pension management?


A
Yes, right.

940
Q
And when Pennycook was appointed, I understand that you and others were pleased with the appointment and thought that he satisfied that requirement?


A
When we first were advised, and were advised of his qualifications, he seemed to have the qualifications to meet that.

941
Q
Yes. And no one has ever, to your knowledge, written to MTS or made any complaint about the lack of independence of Mr. Pennycook?


A
I personally haven't written a letter.

942
Q
And you don't know of any?


A
I know of -- I know of someone who had drafted I think a memo for his own use that addressed the issue of whether Mr. Pennycook was acting in an independent manner.

943
Q
I suspect that there are a lot of people who, if they don't carry the day in their views and discussion, express grumpy views as to the independence or lack thereof of the person who has made a ruling. But has it ever been recorded, to your knowledge, or put in writing to either MTS, the board of directors, or anyone else as to the lack of independence perceived of Mr. Pennycook?


A
I don’t believe so.
960
Q
Did you believe when you signed, negotiated and signed the letter agreement of November 7,1996, that the pension committee referenced in point number 1 of that letter was the same pension committee referred to in the communications from MTS several months earlier, and the same body or entity that was referenced in the governance document that you got several weeks later?


A
Yes.
992
Q
All right. Now, we know how the pension committee in fact operated. They in fact did have, under MTS representatives of the administrator, MTS, senior representatives to provide information as to how the MTS plan was being administered, did they not?


A
Yes.

993
Q
Therefore, the pension committee in fact operated identically with the same type of knowledge as did the Liaison Committee; correct?


A
Yes.
997
Q
Well, my question, Mr. Restall, was whether or not you had some discussion with Mr. Fraser, that you can recall, whereby you were saying, now, Bill, or Mr. Fraser, or whatever you called him, are you telling me that in the use of the pension committee we are incorporating the reference to governance, as I understand it, Harry Restall, under the November 6 document? Did you have that level of discussion with Mr. Fraser?


A
No, I did not.

998
Q
How would he know what you believed the governance reference under the November 6 document meant if you didn't ask him or have a discussion with him?


A
I guess -- it is a difficult question. If I didn't explain my understanding of governance, then I guess possibly his understanding of governance and mine were different. I had one interpretation. And in reading that the pension committee was the governing body, I had an expectation from that as to how the pension committee would function. It may not be the same as his, and we didn't discuss it and iron it out and come to a final agreement on the definition of a governing body.

999
Q
Fair enough. What there was discussion about and agreement on is what is contained in point number 1 on the November 7; right?


A
Yes.
504. As early as December 19, 1996, Restall and others indicated to Paterson and Fox that they had agreed to the Pension Committee in the MOA, but there is “no real say” [AD 620].  This is well before the first meeting of the Pension Committee was held. 
505. As such, to suggest that in November and December 1996, the plaintiffs ever thought that the Pension Committee would be the “governing body” of the new plans in the sense that it would have some authority to control or change the new plan, is without any credible evidentiary foundation.

506. Certainly, in none of MTS’s newsletters or letters addressed to the union or retiree representatives was it indicated that the Pension Committee would be the governing body. The only reference to “governing body” is in the November 6, 1996 “mystery memo” from Fraser to Findlay. Of note, this document was not provided by MTS to the union or retiree representatives. 

507. To suggest that the Pension Committee should be the governing body would be completely different than any role ever played by the Liaison Committee and the Advisory Committee under the old plan.  The roles of the Liaison Committee and the Advisory Committee are discussed above under equivalency. These same roles are reflected in the Pension Committee established pursuant to the new plan. Under what reasonable scenario could the unions or retirees in November and December 1996 have thought the Pension Committee in the new plan would have a different role?
508. The Pension Committee as the governing body would also be completely inconsistent with MTS’s position with respect to control of surplus as discussed above. This position was always made clear by MTS. How could MTS maintain control over surplus if the Pension Committee was the governing body over the new plan?
509. In none of the versions of the new plan text or Governance Document provided to the ERPC or CEP throughout November and December 1996 was it ever suggested that the new plan text or the Governance Document inaccurately described the role of the Pension Committee. Even when requests were being made by the plaintiffs for a 2/3 amending formula to the new plan text with respect to certain issues, right up to their final positions as communicated on December 23, 1996 and December 30, 1996 [see AD 637 and AD 645], it was never suggested that some representation was made that the Pension Committee would be the governing body of the new plan. 

510. It is submitted that if it had been represented to the plaintiffs that the Pension Committee would be the governing body of the new plan and that the plaintiffs relied on such a representation or that the plaintiffs’ otherwise had some expectation in this regard, given the plaintiffs’ approach to requested changes to the new plan text, this position would have been repeatedly presented and pursued by the plaintiffs in November and December 1996. They would have noted in their many communications in November and December 1996 that the plan text and the Governance Document had to be changed to make the Pension Committee the governing body of the new plan. They never did this.  
511. As such, there was never a reasonable expectation the Pension Committee would be the governing body of the new plan as alleged.  Accordingly, there cannot be a breach of the MOA as it relates to the Pension Committee. 
(c)
Actuarial Issues

512. Paragraph 2 of the MOA provides:

Four actuaries, who will represent (i) MTS, (ii) IBEW, TEAM and the retirees, (iii) CEP, and (iv) the Civil Service Superannuation Board, will review the process for the transfer of assets from the Civil Service Superannuation Fund (CSSF) and the assumptions relating to the transfer of assets.  The initial actuarial valuation of the new MTS Pension Plan, as prepared by Buck consultants Ltd., will be reviewed by the pension committee and if not agreed to will be referred to the actuary appointed by the Provincial Auditor.
513. The initial actuarial valuation of the new plan was reviewed at the Pension Committee meeting of August 20, 1997 [AD 929].  No disagreement was noted and no referral was made to Fox. 
(d)
Use to be made of the initial surplus
514. The initial surplus originally had two definitions.  First, the initial surplus was said to be the difference between the amount coming over from the CSSF and half the MTS actuarial liabilities under the CSSF.  Second, the initial surplus was said to be the difference between the transfer from the CSSA (representing employee contributions paid into the CSSF plus investment return) and the amount held by MTS in the Pension Reserve.  This resulted in a $43 million difference in favour of the employees and it is this amount that was later settled on as being the “initial surplus”.

515. The issue for the plaintiffs was what to do with this initial surplus.  The plaintiffs sought and MTS agreed to the terms of the MOA, which placed the initial surplus into the COLA Account in the new plan.  

516. Paragraph 3 of the MOA provides:

MTS will provide a minimum cost of living adjustment of 2/3rds of CPI with a maximum CPI of 4%.  However, if the cost of living adjustment account in any particular year is able to fund a higher increase, then a higher increase would be given for that year.  Any initial surplus from the CSSF would be allocated to the new pension plan trust fund to fund future cost of living adjustments.  In subsequent years the financial position of the COLA Account will be reviewed by the plans actuary, if sufficient additional assets exist in the account beyond those required for the stated COLA increase for a particular year then pension benefits may be increased provided that the liability for the pension plan in total does not increase due to the change in benefits.
517. Several interpretations of paragraph 3 of the MOA are before this Court. However, only MTS has offered a consistent interpretation of paragraph 3 of the MOA:
(a) The object was not to fund the minimum COLA in the COLA Account. Rather, the assets all went into a trust fund and were then compared to all liabilities, which included COLA, it covered off all liabilities short of $7 million initially.  The $43 million initial surplus was not earmarked other than to be paid into the COLA Account [Oct. 20, page 101-102];
(b) The expectation was that the initial surplus would be used to get, potentially, more than the minimum COLA provided for.  By adding more into the COLA Account, the $43 million initial surplus increased the chances of getting to 20-year prefunding and a COLA award higher than 2/3 of CPI [Oct. 20, page 102];
(c) The 20-year prefunding rule was a concept in the old plan and the new plan;

(d) If there were more assets in COLA Account than required for 20-year prefunding, such assets could be used for purposes of funding other benefits provided that MTS’s liabilities were not increased.
518. The interpretations of paragraph 3 which form the plaintiffs’ case are inconsistent.  

519. Restall testified to the following:

(a) He instructed Meronek to place the excess in the Indexing Account and that finally happened (June 4, page 4);

(b) Our approach was to make sure the text reflected what the November 7th MOA provided, and we expected the November 7th MOA would become part of the plan (June 5, page 71);

(c) Point 1 in the November 7th MOA captured what my discussions with Fraser had been regarding the pension committee (June 16, pages 20-21);

(d)  The first sentence in point 3 was the guarantee and it became enshrined in section 15.7; the objective in the rest of the paragraph was to make the MTS plan as close as possible to the CSSF plan (June 16, page 22);
(e) I find the second sentence of point 3 in the November 7th MOA the most complex part of the plan, and it requires a legal and actuarial interpretation (June 16, pages 25-26);

(f) Section 16.7(c) in the text was the initial surplus (June 4, page 14);

(g) Section 16.7 was agreed to by our committee and advisors as reflecting what had been agreed on as the funding (June 4, pages 22-23); and

(h) AD 637 indicates we were satisfied with the proposed changes to section 16.7 and 16.11 (of the new plan text) (June 4, page 55; June 5, page 67).
520. Praznik gave the following evidence (Sept. 9, pages 28, 30, 52-57, 68, 114):

(a) MTS would be required to guarantee a floor not a maximum;
(b) He was aware it would be administered by MTS;

(c) He didn’t know what was required by the PBSA;

(d) The initial surplus coming over would be placed into the main fund in the new plan and not the COLA Account.  In particular, Praznik recalled a specific discussion about putting the initial surplus into main account and not COLA Account;

(e) The vehicle for protecting the initial surplus would have to be worked out by people with far more knowledge than he;

(f) The concept of 20-year prefunding was not known to him with respect to the CSSA (or otherwise);

(g) He wasn’t aware how the COLA guarantee in the new plan would be funded; and
(h) COLA under the CSSF was the same as in the new plan except in the new plan MTS agreed to guarantee 2/3 of CPI up to 4%.
521. Trach gave the following evidence (see generally, Sept. 10):

(a) The initial surplus would go into the COLA Account to fund future COLA and future improvements;
(b) It would be parked in the COLA Account.  It would be funds that could be used to improve COLA and could be used for plan improvements;

(c) Section 16.11 of the new plan text may have intended to capture the last four lines of paragraph 3 in the MOA but he did not think it did;

(d) On November 7, 1996, they understood that through consensus the decision would be made and in section 16.11 MTS makes the decision.
522. Trach’s evidence (Sept. 10, pages 29-31) on the structure of the COLA Account, as set out in section 16.7 of the new plan text and the sections following, was as follows:

Q
All right.  And (a) is the amount coming over from the CSSF attributable to their adjustment account, interest in the adjustment account there?

A
Correct.

Q
(B), MTS matches that amount?

A
Correct.

Q
And although nothing turns on numbers, I understand that that ended up as being 31 million each?  Something like that?

A
I believe so, yes.

…

BY MR. OLSON:

Q
(C) is that initial surplus, or in this case, called, in this, in the text called transfer excess, calculated by determining the difference between the assets in the prior plan and the assets contributed by MTS employers.

A
That's eventually what the definition of --

Q
Right.

A
-- the initial surplus became, yes.

Q
Right.  It changed from the excess under the CSSF to the difference between what was contributed.

A
That's correct.

Q
Right.  And all that was understood and agreed upon from your point of view?

A
Yes, the, the only thing I, I don't see in the plan text and I, I alluded to earlier was the surplus in the COLA account and I guess what I meant by that when I said it was that it was the amount of money in the COLA account that didn't have a liability to it already, that had been -- you know, that's the surplus I was talking about, not the initial transfer amount.

Q
Right.  I think that's (a) though, isn't it?  The amount in the adjustment account that hadn't been used at that point?

A
Yeah.

Q
Yeah --

A
That's correct.

Q
-- right.  So that actually get built in the (a) and it gets matched --

A
Um-hum.

Q
-- by MTS in (b) and then (c) is as we've just talked about.  All right.

A
Correct, correct.

Q
And then it's from that fund that there are, under 16.8, debits and credits, payments, et cetera?  And in particular, 16.8(d), from that fund pension benefit adjustments are paid in accordance with article 15.

A
That would appear so, yes.

Q
Right.  And so up to this point, does that accurately, in your understanding, sir, capture what your understanding of, of the MOA as to how the COLA account was to work, subject to the point that you commented on earlier, was you wanted some ability to access surplus in that fund in subsequent years?

A
I would have to say so, yes.

523. The evidence before this Court reveals that the plaintiffs’ representatives and witnesses Restall, Trach and Praznik had limited working knowledge of the key concepts surrounding the operation of the CSSF Adjustment Account and appeared confused on several key points, despite their apparent earlier involvement with the CSSF.

524. Corp gave the following evidence (Sept. 11, pages 6, 7, 22, 23, 27- 30; Sept. 12, pages 11-12) respecting the meaning of paragraph 3 of the MOA:

(a) MTS would provide a guarantee COLA of 2/3 of CPI up to 4%.  The COLA Account would receive the initial surplus and based on the position of the COLA Account, it might be able to provide for something higher than the minimum guarantee;
(b) Corp did not have an expectation that there would be funds in excess of what was needed to provide for the minimum COLA.  They were trying to establish a COLA Account to provide the minimum COLA and, if sufficient, would provide more.  It is not fair to say that he expected more, but the COLA Account was set up with the $43 million initial surplus on the hope there would be more;
(c) The initial surplus would go into COLA Account and it would be used to fund the minimum COLA and maybe a higher COLA or other benefit improvements;
(d) With the initial surplus transferred into the COLA Account, there was more likelihood of higher increases than the minimum COLA guarantee;

(e) COLA would be funded by the initial amount transferred from the CSSF plus the initial surplus of $43 million plus contributions of 10.2% from MTS and the employees going in each year plus interest; 
(f) Corp knew all the assets would be in the new plan fund from which benefits and COLA would be paid;
(g) Unless there was sufficient funds to provide COLA for 20 years, a retiree would get 2/3 CPI.

525. Corp’s interpretation of paragraph 3 of the MOA as noted above is consistent with MTS’s interpretation.  This is evidence that has been adduced by the plaintiffs and as such is part of the plaintiffs’ case.  Of some importance, Corp was the actuary who was acting on behalf of, and giving advice to, the plaintiff CEP prior to Hadfield signing the MOA on behalf of CEP. Hadfield was not called by the plaintiffs as a witness at trial. Corp gave evidence that his client Hadfield would not have signed the MOA without consulting him (Sept. 11, page 22). In contrast, Ellement was not consulted by the ERPC about the MOA and did not provide advice to Restall with respect to the MOA at the time it was signed. As such, Corp’s evidence is much more credible as to what was intended by allocating the $43 million initial surplus to the new plan COLA Account.  
526. MTS’s interpretation of paragraph 3 of the MOA is also consistent with the position taken by Meronek in his letter to Fraser of September 25, 1996.  Meronek wrote “We are of the view that the most appropriate use of the [initial] surplus would be to apply it to an Indexing Account, which you say MTS will set up and administer on the same basis as the Superannuation Adjustment Account for indexing purposes, in order to pre-fund future cost of living requirements (emphasis in original)” [AD 348, p. 01551]. 

527. The initial surplus was used in the new plan COLA Account exactly as originally suggested by Meronek and set out in paragraph 3 of the MOA:

(a) It is undisputed that the initial surplus was credited to the COLA Account;

(b) The COLA Account was set up and administered on the same basis as the CSSF Adjustment Account. The wording of the operation of the new plan COLA Account mirrors the wording of the CSSA provisions covering the operation of the CSSF Adjustment Account.  Both were subject to the 20-year prefunding rule. The only difference is that because of requirements of Revenue Canada, the new plan COLA Account is a notional account; and
(c) The initial surplus has been used to pre-fund future cost of living requirements. Meronek’s request that this be done is significant because it differs from the plaintiffs’ position at trial that somehow the initial surplus of $43 million ought not to be included in the funding of COLA benefits of 2/3 of CPI up to 4%.

528. Also consistent with MTS’s position is Fox’s interpretation of the MOA.  Fox did not review the MOA with MTS, but he did review it with the plaintiffs.  Fox testified to the following:

(a) The new plan talks about a full CPI increase. This was an attempt to say that it could get higher if there were sufficient assets;

(b) The excess [initial surplus] was to go into the COLA Account to provide for future COLA increases;
(c) The funding was dealt with by allocating the initial surplus to the COLA Account;
(d) Fox was aware that the 20-year prefunding rule would apply to the COLA Account; and
(e) The COLA Account was virtually identical to how the CSSF Adjustment Account worked.

529. Notes taken by Paterson involving a meeting with Ellement, Restall, Hales and others on December 19, 1996 [AD 620] record, with respect to the MOA, “established minimum guarantee of 2/3rd of CPI up to 4%.  This is considered to be the compensation for the excess of employee assets contributed to the fund from CSSF over MTS contribution”.  While Ellement denies he said this and does not recall anyone making this comment, there is no explanation as to how Paterson would have this understanding other than being told of it at this meeting with Ellement et al.  As noted, MTS never spoke to Fox in any way about the MOA.  This is, however, consistent with MTS’s and Corp’s view that the $43 million initial surplus would be placed into the COLA Account to fund COLA generally and to bring the COLA Account closer to 20-year prefunding.  As noted above, the allocation of the $43 million to the COLA Account brought the COLA Account closer to 20-year prefunding than ever existed or has since existed in the CSSF Adjustment Account.
530. The plaintiffs’ allegations relating to paragraph 3 of the MOA appear to be primarily based on Ellement’s interpretation of this paragraph.  Ellement’s interpretation is not consistent with the plaintiffs’ other actuary, Corp, or with the interpretation of Fraser and Restall who actually signed the MOA or with the new plan text which was finalized after receiving input from Ellement and Corp.  More significantly, it took three years for Ellement to develop his interpretation of paragraph 3 of the MOA.  Ellement’s evidence is, therefore, not credible.
531. Ellement’s evidence on the MOA and the COLA Account can be summarized as follows:

(a) The initial surplus was going to be used to provide additional benefits either by topping up COLA or some other benefit increase;

(b) At the time of receiving the MOA, it was made clear to him that the initial surplus was for a top up; 

(c) There would be an infusion of cash to pay 2/3 of CPI up to 4%;
(d) MTS’s contribution would not be 10.2% but the normal cost of the guarantee;

(e) The initial surplus amount that came over in the employee transfer assets allocated to the COLA Account could be used to top up the increase from 2/3 CPI.  The first sentence of paragraph 3 takes you to 4%.  The second sentence takes you up if inflation is 5% or whatever. The third sentence takes you past 2/3 to 5% if inflation is 5%; and
(f) The Pension Committee meant the governance board.
532. Ellement’s evidence is that he should have insisted that a reserve for the $43 million initial surplus in addition to the $750 million (the total plan liabilities) be set up (Sept. 22, page 87).  He testified that it was his error in not doing so.  However, this was not agreed to.  It is submitted that the MOA cannot be redrafted by this Court 12 years later to satisfy what Ellement “should have insisted on”.  

533. Ellement further testified (Sept. 22, page 95) that while MTS is not obliged, it has discretionary control over funding of the COLA Adjustment Account:
Q
I'm trying to get from you -- if you can agree, and if not, disagree -- there's nothing in the text that you suggest, and there's nothing built in on anybody else's suggestion, that says (c) can't be touched in certain circumstances, is there?

A
Well, you probably didn't understand the implications of my earlier comment.  No, it doesn't say that in the text, but there's something, there was an action I should have taken.

Q
Nor is there anything in the text that says MTS is obliged to pay in the normal costs, is there?

A
No, they have total discretion as to paying the minimum or paying in the normal cost, that, that, that is correct.

Q
And there's nothing in the text that says anything about placing into the fund and allocated to the adjustment account 138 million dollars to cover off the two-thirds of four percent guarantee?

A
No, it's, I believe it's a very carefully crafted text.  You're right; it doesn't have to say that.  There is the discretionary authority of the administrator of the company to do it, but it doesn't, it's not crystal clear.  It's not, it's not -- that's my answer.

Q
Well, it's not a question of being crystal clear or not, sir, there's nothing in the text that says anything about MTS being obliged to do it, is there?

A
They're not obliged, you're right.

Q
All right.

A
They have, they have the discretionary control.

534. Ellement’s evidence is inconsistent with both the CSSA and with the terms of the MOA.  
535. The MOA is not a complete agreement.  It was intended to deal with specific discrete issues, as enumerated in the MOA, arising from the creation of the new plan text, as required under subsection 15(2) of the Reorg Act.  Where the MOA does not address relevant issues, the only issue is whether the benefits in the new plan are equivalent in value to the pension benefits under the old plan.  The MOA does not say or address the following:

(a) The initial surplus would be earmarked or separately identified within the COLA Account;

(b) The 20-year prefunding test in the CSSF Adjustment Account after which the COLA Account was modelled would not apply to the COLA Account;
(c) The interest to be applied to the COLA Account;
(d) The debiting of commuted values;

(e) Other debits and credits that would be made to the COLA Account;

(f) The $43 million initial surplus would not to be used in calculating the funded status of the new plan;

(g) The funding required by MTS with respect to the COLA guarantee would form part of the assets to be allocated to the COLA Account; 
(h) The $43 million initial surplus could not be touched in certain circumstances; and
(i) When the new plan would be registered.
536. Absent the specific items discussed and agreed to, the COLA Account would operate as it had in the CSSF.  Two critiques of the plaintiffs relates to the interest rate applied and the commuted values debited from the COLA Account.  However, the interest rate applied is at the discretion of MTS as it was within the discretion of the CSSB and, to that end, is equivalent.  As to the commuted values, there was no debiting from the CSSF Adjustment Account as no future COLA was paid as part of the commuted value, a benefit which is received under the new plan.

537. The following evidence was given by Fraser (Oct. 22, pages 87-89; Oct. 23, pages 96-98) as to what was and was not discussed when finalizing the terms of the MOA:

Q
All right.  Now, to the best of your recollection, sir, I'm going to ask you a series of questions as to whether there were any discussions about certain things that you recall now that occurred on November 7, 1996.  


When, if ever, did you have discussions with these politicians and retirees that day or night, that there would be no 20-year prefunding like in the CSSA?

A
Never happened.

Q
When, if ever, did you have any discussion on November 7 that the excess or surplus being put into the COLA account would be marked or segregated in some way?

A
Never happened.
Q
When, if ever, on November 7 did you have any discussion or agree that the excess or surplus being put into the COLA account would only be used to top up the two-thirds of CPI after four percent guarantee?

A
Never happened…
Q
When, if ever, on November 7 did you have a discussion or agree that MTS would be putting all the assets behind the guarantee into the adjustment account?

A
Never happened.

Q
When, if ever, on November 7 did you have a discussion or agree that the surplus, what they were calling a surplus, would be put into the main account, not the COLA account?

A
Never happened.

Q
When, if ever, on November 7 did you have any discussion or agree that the pension committee, referenced in point number one of the MOA, was to be the governing body for the entire plan with authority to make decisions on funding and benefits in lieu of the board of directors?

A
Well, that's what was implied by them injecting the word "approval" in, in that process, but it was totally unacceptable and rejected, and other than advocacy on the part of Minister Praznik, the other government representatives who had direct responsibility for this file and direct authority over me said nothing.

Q
Was there any discussion about, surrounding the logistics of how the account would be handled?  How it would operate?

A
No.

Q
No?

A
No.

Q
Is it fair to say that the only issue was with respect to making sure that the initial surplus went into the COLA account for, for the designated purposes as set out in the November 7 agreement?

A
Whatever suggestions, issues, concerns that the other side had were built into their draft, which the second draft was their draft.  So they built in whatever suggestions and, and how they wanted this modified and that was what was the subject of further discussion and, and farther down the line.

Q
Okay.  And --

A
So, if it's not in their, their revised draft, then to the best of my knowledge, it wasn't an item of discussion or contention.

Q
And their revisions to the draft don't include any mention of 20-year prefunding?

A
No.

Q
And was there any discussion that night by you or, or anybody that you're aware of, as to the COLA account being a notional account?

A
No.

Q
Any discussion as to what interest rate would be applied to that account?

A
No.



THE COURT:  Just one second.  Okay.

BY MR. SAXBERG:

Q
Any discussion about lump sum transfers in the account?

A
I don't even understand what that means.

Q
And there was no discussion of that?



Did you, yourself, have an expectation one way or another with respect to whether that account and the assets in it would grow?

A
Certainly my hope and expectation would be that it would grow, absolutely.

Q
And the only asset that's identified for the account in the November 7 agreement is the initial surplus; is that fair?

A
Yes, but I mean, again, I've never thought, or nor do I believe that -- I mean, you can dissect the thing into a bunch of different pockets and, and so on.  I mean, when I say that I hoped, believed that it would prosper and earn surpluses and, and so on, I'm speaking in terms of the whole pension plan, because I mean, those are the terms that, as CEO, are relevant to me.  I mean, I'm responsible, at the end of the day, for ensuring the stewardship and responsible management to be able to step forward and, and make good on the promises that have been made to employees and retirees.  So I, I, I'm not concerned about different pockets, I'm concerned about the whole thing.

Q
And I just want to confirm that there was no discussion of what assets would be in the COLA account, other than the initial surplus on November 7th?

A
Yes.

538. MTS’s position as to the correct interpretation of paragraph 3 of the MOA is further confirmed by the trial evidence of McInnes and Williams (Oct. 15, pages 7-13) that:
(a) From December 23, 1996 to the end of 1998, the plaintiffs never raised any concern about MTS not incorporating paragraph 3 of the MOA into the new plan text;

(b) At no point prior to the end of 1998 did the plaintiffs ever raise a concern about sound actuarial practices not being followed with respect to the operation of the COLA Account or how the operation of the COLA Account was described in the new plan text;

(c) At no point prior to the end of 1998 did the plaintiffs communicate that the initial surplus of $43 million should be used to provide indexing above the guarantee of 2/3 of CPI up to 4%;

(d) At no point prior to the end of 1998 did the plaintiffs communicate that the initial surplus should be paid into the main new plan account and not credited to the COLA Account, as only suggested by Praznik;

(e) At no point prior to the end of 1998 did the plaintiffs communicate that the COLA guarantee was to be funded by MTS putting into the COLA Account whatever amount of assets were necessary to fund this guarantee; and
(f) At no point prior to the end of 1998 did the plaintiffs communicate that an amount equal to the value of the 2/3 guarantee in respect of pensions accrued up to January 1, 1997 ought to be allocated to the COLA Account on January 1, 1997.

539. MTS submits that its interpretation that the $43 million initial surplus was to be placed into the COLA Account to bring the account closer to 20-year prefunding is consistent with the goal of the Liaison Committee in the CSSF to transfer surplus into the CSSF Adjustment Account to fund this account.  
540. It is submitted that the credibility of Ellement’s evidence is further diminished by his interpretation that paragraph 3 of the MOA permits the granting of COLA without regard to the 20-year prefunding requirement. His own evidence was that the 20-year prefunding rule prevents the favouring of current retirees over future retirees. As such, Ellement’s concept of being able to use the $43 million initial surplus without regard to 20-year prefunding in the new plan COLA Account favours retirees only and not those who paid into the old plan towards the $43 million initial surplus but have yet to retire.  As noted by Ellement himself, the 20 year prefunding rule makes it fairer for everyone.  Basic trust principles dictate that one set of beneficiaries ought not to be favoured over others.  Further, Ellement never objected to section 15.4 of the new plan text which replicated the 20-year prefunding rule in the CSSA. If the intent of the MOA was to delete or change that requirement, there can be no doubt that Ellement would have raised an objection in November or December 1996.  He did not.
541. FitzGerald was asked to opine on whether the new plan could be administered in accordance with the plaintiffs’ position, as described only by Ellement and opined on by Levy, having regard to the requirements of OSFI, the ITA and general actuarial principles.  FitzGerald concluded that it was not possible.   FitzGerald gave the following opinion:

83.
As we have seen in paragraph 75, the ITA requires the consolidation of the assets of the pension plan.  It specifically forbids the provision of indexation under a separate plan.  MTS, therefore, had no choice but to place the $43 million in the same trust as the other assets.  Once the assets are combined, the provisions of ITA subsection 147.2(2) as described in paragraph 76 come into play…

85.
Levy describes a model which purports to show how the MTS Plan could continue to operate in the same manner as the CSSF.  However, it assumes that the CSSF worked on a matched contributions basis for which, as we have seen, it did not…Levy describes the excess of employee contributions over employer contributions at any time as “employee surplus” where in fact it simply represents a difference in timing.

87.
In my opinion, a model as described by Levy would not reproduce the operation of the CSSF.  In any event, the employees’ guarantee that they only pay half of the cost is achieved through the money purchase account, not by reference to the amount of contributions made to date by the employer.

88.
It is my opinion, therefore that the assets must be combined and all of the assets must be taken into account in determining employer contributions.  For these reasons, it is my opinion, therefore that the MTS Plan could not be administered as proposed by the Plaintiffs.

542. In addition to the inconsistencies on the meaning of paragraph 3 of the MOA from the plaintiffs’ witnesses, the plaintiffs failed to call three plaintiff signatories of the MOA: Hadfield with CEP, Hales with TEAM and David Nyhof of IBEW.  MTS submits that an adverse inference ought to be drawn against the plaintiffs for failing to call these individuals with respect to the MOA.  It is submitted that the adverse inference is that their evidence, if called, would have supported MTS’s interpretation of the MOA.
543. In Strauss v. Atkins, 1996 CarswellMan 260 [Tab 39], Oliphant A.C.J.Q.B., drew an adverse inference when the defendants failed to call a key witness:

Where a person who could give evidence favourable to a party is not called to testify, it is open to the court to draw an inference which is adverse to the interests of that party. Authority for that proposition can be found in Royal Trust Co. v. Toronto Transportation Commission, [1935] S.C.R. 671 See also Barker v. McQuahe (1964), 49 W.W.R. 685 (B.C. C.A.)

Where it is the defendant who fails to call a witness and where a prima facie case has been made out against that defendant, the adverse inference which may be drawn is that the absent witness’ testimony, had it been given, would not support the defence raised. See Mudrazia v. Holjevac, [1970] 1 O.R. 275 (H.C.)

…Counsel for Mr. Atkins argued forcefully that an adverse inference ought not to be drawn in the circumstances here because she, that is counsel for Mr. Atkins, was not aware of the fact that Mr. Cherney was present when a crucial conversation took place between her client and Mr. Strauss. The answer to that argument is that while counsel was not aware of the fact of Mr. Cherney’s presence during the conversation between the parties at Guertin Sales & Service Ltd., Mr. Atkins was most assuredly aware of the fact but chose to say nothing to anyone until he testified at the trial. I note that this litigation, which is relatively simple, has been underway for in excess of 2 ½ years.

While Mr. Cherney may now be out of the jurisdiction, that is no excuse for his not being called to testify. The only inference to be drawn from the failure of the defendant to call Mr. Cherney as a witness is that Mr. Cherney’s evidence would have been of no assistance to Mr. Atkins. That is the inference that I draw.
[Emphasis added]
544. Similarly, De Graves J., in 3263266 Manitba Ltd. v. North American Trust Co., 1999 CarswellMan 375, at paragraph 33 [Tab 40], determined that the failure to call a witness who was party to the negotiations in question resulted in an adverse inference being drawn:

The failure of Mr. Deschauer to testify concerning the meeting of March 24, 1995 and the subsequent events relating to termination of negotiations on which Mr. Cary testified raises serious questions. When balancing the evidence of contending parties all relevant and available evidence should be called. If this evidence is not called an adverse inference may be made against the party which should have called the witness. Support for this statement is found in J. Sopinka and S.N. Lederman, The Law of Evidence in Civil Cases (Toronto: Butterworths, 1974) at p. 535, Murray v. Saskatoon (City) (No. 2) (1951), [1952] 2 D.L.R. 499 (Sask. C.A.), at 506, Naruzny v. Stoddart (1957), 21 W.W.R. 118 (Man. Q.B.), at 124, Kullberg’s furniture Ltd. v. Flin Flon Hotel Co. (1958), 16 D.L.R. (2d) 270 (Man. C.A.), at 275, Pearlman v. Canadian Broadcasting Copr. (1981), 13 Man. R. (2d) 1 (Man. Q.B.), at 24-25, paras. 50 and 51, Strauss v. Atkins (1996), 111 Man. R. (2d) 42 (Man Q.B.), at 44-45, paras. 11-14.
[Emphasis added]

545. Courts in other jurisdictions have drawn adverse inferences where a witness to an agreement was not called.  In Vector Energy Inc. v. Pacific Gas & Electric Co., 2000 CarswellAlta 261 [Tab 41], the Court drew an adverse inference from the failure to call a former employee who had been primarily responsible for the negotiation of the contract which was under dispute.  In Tsakumis v. Firstclass Systems Corp., 2001 CarswellBC 407 [Tab 42], the Court drew an adverse inference from the failure to call a witness who was involved in the negotiations of the disputed agreement.  Finally, in Duckman v. Jelian Distributors Inc., 2002 CarswellOnt 713 [Tab 43], the Court drew an adverse inference from a failure to call, as a witness, the president of the defendant corporation, who was involved in negotiations of the disputed agreement.

546. The plaintiffs appear to take the position that somehow paragraph 3 of the MOA was breached because they say there was some reasonable expectation that the COLA Account in the new plan would be able to reach 20-year prefunding. 
547. This position is inconsistent with Corp’s evidence as to what the expectation actually was. As noted, Corp testified that he did not have an expectation that there would be funds in excess of what was needed to provide for the minimum COLA.  They were trying to establish a COLA Account to provide the minimum COLA and, if sufficient, would provide more.  He testified that it was not fair to say he expected more. Rather, Corp testified that the COLA Account was set up with the $43 million initial surplus with the hope there would be more than the guarantee of 2/3 of COLA up to 4%. It is submitted that this is absolutely fatal to the plaintiffs’ position for the following reasons:

(a) Corp was called as part of the plaintiffs’ case. Therefore, his evidence is part of the plaintiffs’ case and cannot be ignored;

(b) Unlike Ellement, Corp gave advice to Hadfield, one of the signatories to the MOA, prior to signing. Corp testified that Hadfield would not have signed the MOA without talking to him first. Therefore, Corp had some understanding as to what was intended by Hadfield;  
(c) Hadfield was the CEP representative and one of the plaintiffs and, therefore, her intention is important.  Given that Hadfield was not called as a witness by the plaintiffs, there is no basis to suggest her evidence would be inconsistent with Corp’s evidence in this regard. Moreover, an adverse inference should be drawn that her evidence would not be different from Corp’s evidence and would also be consistent with MTS’s evidence;
(d) Corp’s evidence as to the intention of allocating the $43 million to the new plan COLA Account is consistent with Fraser’s evidence as to the intention. Therefore, both the defendant and the plaintiffs have presented consistent evidence as to this intention.

548. The allocation of the $43 million initial surplus to the new plan COLA Account brought the plan closer to 20-year prefunding, as discussed above.
549. The plaintiffs’ position that the MOA should be interpreted to have given rise to COLA awards above 2/3 of CPI is inconsistent with the employee and retiree representatives on the Pension Committee not questioning, for a number of years after the implementation date of the new plan, why COLA was limited to 2/3 of CPI. The amount of the COLA award was brought to the Pension Committee each year, yet the employee and retiree representatives did not suggest that they should be receiving a higher COLA award than 2/3 of CPI.

(e)
Changes in the new plan text post November 7, 1996 to incorporate the MOA

550. Paragraph 4 of the MOA provides:

The draft pension plan text will be available November 11, 1996, and employee/retiree representatives will have until 5:00 p.m. November 25, 1996 to submit any requests for amendments before the plan is submitted for registration.

551. At trial, McInnes went through, in detail, the incorporation of the MOA into the new plan text (Oct. 14, pages 79-81):

THE WITNESS:  Okay, we'll start with the first line, which is the minimum cost of living adjustment of two-thirds.  That can be found in Section 15.7 of the plan document, which is page 46 of the plan itself, page, the computer page on the top is 00079.


THE COURT:  Section 15.3?


THE WITNESS:  15.7.


THE COURT:  15.7 of the plan text.

BY MR. PERLMUTTER:

Q
Perhaps you could explain to the court a little further.

A
Yeah.  That particular section, which is the last section in the cost of living pension benefit adjustment section, 15, that one says that basically notwithstanding the sections above that help you determine cost of living increases, it goes on to say that in the -- no matter how you calculate it, it's at least going to be two-thirds of four percent.  I could read the whole thing, but that's summarizing it.  That's basically what it's telling you.  So again, just to be clear, it's going to be two-thirds of CPI up to a maximum CPI change of four percent.

Q
Then the next sentence of the memorandum of understanding, paragraph three?

A
The next one has to do with the 20-year prefunding, and that one is in Section 15.4.  There's a little subtitle there, calculation of 20-year prefunding.

Now, this section really needs to be read with the previous sections telling you that you're going to do a hundred percent of a COLA increase because it's written in the plan document as a stepped approach.  You start with a hundred percent CPI COLA increase and then you bring it down to two-thirds if the 20-year prefunding doesn't exist.  That's what Section 15.4 is trying to tell you.  If the 20-year prefunding doesn't exist, then you give two-thirds or you reduce the hundred percent by one-third.

Q
Pardon me, sentence three?

A
The --


MR. PERLMUTTER:  Oh, I'm sorry.  Do you have that, do you have sentence two, My Lord?


THE COURT:  Yes, yeah.  Yeah.

BY MR. PERLMUTTER:

Q
Okay, sorry, sentence three.

A
Okay.  Sentence three is the initial surplus being transferred, and that can be found in Section 16.7, under the heading of Pension Benefit Adjustment Account, is the subheading.  And it's in paragraph (c).

Q
So you're in 16.7.

A
16.7(c).  And that specifically tells you that the amount of the initial transfer excess between the amount transferred from the CSSF, which is the prior plan in this section, and the difference transferred from the pension reserve.  That's the amount contributed by the plan -- to the plan by the participating employers is the amount in the pension reserve, just to be clear.


MR. PERLMUTTER:  Do you have that section, My Lord?


THE COURT:  Yes.


MR. PERLMUTTER:  Okay, thank you.


THE WITNESS:  Okay.  So, that's the third one.  


And then, that last sentence, lengthy sentence about: 

"... subsequent years the financial position of the COLA Account will be reviewed by the ... actuary, ..."


that can be found in 16.11.  There's a subtitle there, Actuarial Valuation of Pension Benefit Adjustment Account.  And I don't think I need to read through that, but what it's telling you is that if there is a surplus in that pension benefit adjustment account and they -- it specifically defines what is meant by "surplus" in the circumstance, then that amount can be used for other improvements.  Specifically, it says, other purposes of the fund.

552. The draft new plan text was provided to the plaintiffs on November 11, 1996.  Throughout November and December of 1996, Ellement and Corp provided their comments on this draft new plan text and several changes to the new plan text ensued.
553. As at the end of 1996, the following issues remained outstanding from the plaintiffs’ perspective:
(a) Hard-coding the promise made by MTS that its entire Pension Reserve would be transferred into the new plan;

(b) Sharing of ongoing surplus; and
(c) A 2/3 vote amending formula for changes related to the Pension Committee and use of ongoing surplus (specifically on matters falling under sections 16.1, 16.11 and 18.7 of the new plan text).
554. At trial, Ellement testified (Sept. 22, pages 95-97) that he was not satisfied that the MOA had been incorporated into the new plan text, but that he “gave up” fighting for changes to reflect the MOA as it would speak for itself.  MTS submits that a review of this evidence demonstrates that Ellement’s excuse is not credible:

Q
All right.  And did I understand you to say, sir, that at some point in later December you were stonewalled and then gave up seeking some of these changes to the text?

A
Yes, we -- because -- and as, to use your words, the MOA still has to be respected.  The focus, the, the focus was on sharing, sharing of surplus and governance.  By -- between the period November 25 and approximately a month later, yes, there was quite a, quite a bit of communication back and forth, but there was never a capitulation on sharing of surplus or governance.

Q
But you're dealing now with sharing of surplus and governance.  I'm trying -- perhaps I wasn't clear, sir -- to deal with the 138 million and the payment of the normal costs --

A
Yeah, yes.

Q
-- and the treatment of the 43 --

A
Yeah.

Q
-- million --

A
Yes.

Q
-- that you referenced.

A
Yes.  Yes.

Q
These are three very important points --

A
Yes.

Q
-- to employees and retirees?

A
Um-hum.

Q
And you just gave up?

A
No, I, I, we could, I could not say, looking at that Plan Text, that you couldn't do it.  I couldn't look at -- for example, I couldn't, I couldn't say that there was not the ability through the written text to not do it.

Q
Are we talking about whether MTS had the ability to do something under the plan, or are we talking about whether MTS was obliged under the memorandum of agreement to do something in that regard?

A
Well, the answer, I think, to both is yes.  Yes and yes.  They weren't obliged to do it, but they had the ability to do it.

Q
All right.  So you agree then, on your interpretation of the MOA, there was no obligation on MTS to do these things, but you say they had the ability do to them?

A
Yes.

555. Further, Ellement testified that the meaning of the MOA did not become clear to him for several years (Sept. 22, page 83-84).  It is not credible that on the one hand he acknowledges that he did not know what the MOA meant at the time, while on the other hand, he suggests he did know what it meant, but just “gave up” fighting for those changes.
556. To be successful, the plaintiffs must establish what MTS was obliged to do and failed to do.  Simply having the ability to do what Ellement suggests ought to have been done is not enough to establish a breach of the MOA given the evidentiary burden on the plaintiffs to prove their claim on a balance of probabilities.

557. The crediting and debiting of assets and liabilities to and from the COLA Account was clearly outlined in the new plan text, having regard to the terms of the MOA.  Section 16.7 [AD 711, 00081] of the new plan text speaks to the initial assets that were credited to the COLA Account:

The Company shall create and maintain an account as part of the Fund, known as the Pension Benefit Adjustment Account, to be used for the purposes of determining the amount of Pension Benefit Adjustments.  As of the Effective Date, the account shall be credited with amounts equal to the following:

(a)
the amount of the superannuation adjustment 
account held in respect of members under the 
Prior Plan who became Members of the Plan as at 
the Effective Date,

(b)
an amount equivalent to the amount allocated in 
(a) above representing the initial allocation in 
respect of Participating Employers; and

(c)
the amount of any initial transfer excess that is 
calculated by determining the difference between 
the total assets transferred from the Prior Plan in 
respect of the Members and the total assets 
contributed to the Plan by the Participating 
Employers, which initial transfer excess amount 
shall be calculated as at the Effective Date.
558. In compliance with section 16.7 of the new plan text, $31,036,000 was transferred from the CSSF Adjustment Account, representing the share of that account that belonged to MTS employees and retirees; a matching contribution of $31,036,000 was contributed by MTS; and the initial surplus of $43,364,000 was credited to the COLA Account [AD 923, 08205].  

559. It is this transfer of the $43,364,000, representing the initial surplus into the COLA Account, that satisfied MTS’s obligations relating to the initial surplus under the MOA.  

560. Once the initial assets were allocated to the COLA Account, the crediting and debiting of the COLA Account was prescribed in section 16.8 of the new plan text:

Thereafter, the Pension Benefit Adjustments Account shall be credited or debited, as the case may be, on a monthly basis with:

(a)
the amount of Required Contributions allocated in 
accordance with Section 5.9 [Employee 10.2% 
contribution],

(b)
the amount of contributions by Participating 
Employers allocated in accordance with Section 
5.12 [10.2% contribution of employee’s 
contribution],

(c)
interest on the balance of this account at a rate as 
determined by the Company [CANSIM Interest 
Rate],

(d)
the Pension Benefit Adjustments paid in 
accordance with Article 15 [COLA payments 
including that portion relating to COLA in 
commuted values paid out on termination], and 

(e)
any reductions made pursuant to Section 16.11 
[use of surplus generated in the Adjustment 
Account].

561. Ellement and Corp reviewed the new plan text and voiced no objection to the structure of the COLA Account as set out in the new plan text.
562. The plaintiffs allege, at paragraph 44 of the Fresh as Amended Statement of Claim, that it was agreed between the parties that the amount of $43.364 million that was transferred from the old plan to the new plan was to be dedicated to COLA above the 2/3 of 4% guarantee pursuant to the MOA.  Further, it is alleged that it was agreed that, from time to time, if sufficient additional assets existed in the COLA Account beyond those required for such COLA increase for a particular year, then pension benefits may be increased.

563. Nowhere in the MOA does it indicate the $43.364 million is to be used to provide COLA above the guarantee.  Unlike the concept of the 20-year prefunding rule, there is no basis to suggest this is what was intended by the parties.  Furthermore, the evidence does not support that this was the intention or understanding of the parties who signed the MOA.   MTS submits this allegation fails.
(f)
Plaintiffs’ failure to trigger the arbitration clause in the MOA in relation to the matters described in paragraphs 2 and 3 of the MOA

564. Paragraph 5 of the MOA provides:

In the event of any dispute in relation to the matters described in paragraphs two and three above an actuary appointed by the Provincial Auditor as proposed by the Act (Bill 67) will resolve any dispute.
565. It is not disputed that no reference was made to Fox, or any other actuary appointed by the Provincial Auditor, to resolve any disputes with respect to paragraphs 2 and 3 of the MOA.  The failure to refer by the plaintiffs is confirmatory of the accuracy of MTS’s position on the correct interpretation of the MOA in accordance with the parties’ intention at the time.  This, in and of itself, ought to bar the plaintiffs from seeking recourse in this Court.  
(g)
Plaintiffs’ failure to raise non-compliance with the MOA for years
566. For several years after the implementation of the new plan, there was no suggestion by the plaintiffs that section 15 of the new plan dealing with the operation of the COLA Account was not compliant with the MOA or was not being carried out in accordance with the new plan text.  Of note, there is no allegation respecting the MOA in the first statement of claim issued 33 months after the implementation date of the new plan [Exhibit 36].

567. As noted above, by the end of December, 1996, MTS was aware of only three issues of disagreement: (i) the failure to hard code the transfer of the entire Pension Reserve into the new plan text (the entire transfer was completed); (ii) sharing of ongoing surplus; and (iii) a 2/3 vote amending formula for changes related to the Pension Committee and use of ongoing surplus (specifically on matters falling under sections 16.1, 16.11 and 18.7 of the new plan text).

568. No other outstanding issues, especially pertaining to the MOA and the incorporation of the MOA into the new plan text, were communicated to MTS for years (Oct. 15, pages 7-13).  

569. By way of undertaking [Exhibit 62, undertaking 45], the plaintiffs were asked to advise when they first raised a concern that the new plan may not be consistent with the MOA.  The following response was given:
Advise when the plaintiffs first raised a concern to MTS that the plan might not be consistent with the understanding in the second sentence of point 3 of the November 7 agreement (p. 347).

See draft Pension Committee meeting minutes for October 30th, 2000; May 17, 2001; and March 22, 2002.
570. The evidence given on behalf of the plaintiffs as to why it took just short of four years to raise concerns with respect to the operation of the COLA Account defies logic.  Restall’s evidence at discovery [Exhibit 62] was as follows:
1047
Q
Looking at the plan, just on that point, sir, we will be coming back to that November 7 memo, but If you have the plan, you can put that in front of Mr. Restall.


Specifically, if you would look at section 15.4, please? I don't think this particular provision changed in the various drafts, sir, but that's easily ascertainable in looking at the various drafts.


Did you see that on or shortly after November 11?


A
I did.

1048
Q
And did you realize when you saw that, that in any given year there would have to first be a prefunding requirement for 20 years before the two-thirds of COLA could be exceeded?


A
That was my understanding of 15.4.
571. On cross-examination, the initial valuation of the new plan was put to Trach, who gave the following evidence (Sept. 10 pages 47-49, 61):

Q
The actuarial value of assets, 105 odd million dollars there?

A
Correct.

Q
So that was what had been allocated into the adjustment account for the purposes of COLA adjustments?

A
Correct.

Q
And just going back to when we were, looked at the plan, sir, that was the 31 million, 31 million and 43 million.  I think that gets you to the hundred and five million that we've got here.

A
That's my understanding, yes.

Q
All right.  And then for the purposes of determining the funded status of the account, they take actuarial liabilities accrued to date and so on and determine that there is an unfunded liability of 145 million; right?

A
A hundred and -- sorry?

Q
Yeah, I'm just looking at the bottom of that page, sir, 145 million?

A
Yes.

Q
All right.  But then on the recommended adjustment, which is the next page, we know in the middle of that page, for that year, the CPI was 2.17?

A
Correct.

Q
Right.  And the next statement, since the adjustment account does not have sufficient assets to pre-fund 20 years of expected increases, current year's adjustment is reduced to two-thirds of 2.17, or 1.45?

A
Correct.

Q
You agreed that was in accordance with what you understood the deal was?

A
In the way the, the plan text we went through earlier was supposed to work --

Q
Yes.

A
-- is that what you mean?  Yes.

Q
Yeah.  And consistent with how you understood the MOA was to work as well?

A
I don't think the MOA talked about the, you know, the -- it wasn't as detailed as the plan text --

Q
Fair enough.

A
-- I guess, is all I'm saying.

Q
And then the recommendation we see at the bottom of that page, that's at 1.45; right?

A
Yes.

Q
And the amount in the account at that time, sir, was still, even if one didn't count the 45, there was still well in excess of what was required for two-thirds of CPI at that time; was it not?

A
If the 1.54 adjustment on page 5 was worth just under five mill, I --

Q
Yeah.

A
-- yes.

Q
Sure.  And so even if one only took the 31 mill and the 31 mill and left the other one aside, there was still another 55, whatever it was, million dollars in the account over and above the cost of one year of two-thirds of CPI?

A
Yes.

Q
Yeah.  And did you then say to Tony Williams at this pension committee meeting, wait a minute, there's a lot more money in there, the deal was something different?

A
I didn't.

Q
No.  And nobody else did, did they?

A
At this point, no.

…
Q
All right.  Now, as of October '98, sir, would you and others, including the pension committee, be aware of what the COLA increase had been in the middle of 1998?

A
Probably it, it would have been in here somewhere.

Q
Yeah, it, it doesn't seem to be minuted as a point of discussion, but maybe because there wasn't any context with it, I don't know.  But I think the COLA's usually as of July; isn't it?

A
Um-hum, yes, sorry.

Q
All right.  And so, is it fair to say you would be aware of what that COLA increase had been that year?

A
We would have been told, yes.

Q
All right.

A
At some point.

Q
Yeah.  And it's clear from the minutes that nobody raised at this meeting what's this with only two-thirds of CPI, why isn't it more?  That issue didn't come up?

A
No, I don't see -- oh, I got other items.

Q
Okay.  I don't think it's there.

A
No, it doesn't appear to be.

572. With respect to the October 30, 2000 Pension Committee minutes [AD 1071], Trach testified (Sept. 10, pages 71-73):

Q
All right.  The point (c), 1(c), for the first time now, this is October 30, 2000, I, I think this is the first time, correct me if I'm wrong, sir, Mr. Restall raises the issue of why aren't cost of living increases higher than two-thirds of CP being granted?


A
This is first time he raised that.  We, we had been focused prior to this on the plan improvement of de-indexing from the CPP.  And as it didn't appear that was going anywhere, he raised the issue of well, let's see if we can try and increase the, the hundred percent, increase the two-thirds of four to a higher level, or two-thirds of CPI to a higher level.


Q
But he does so, as I understand the minutes, sir, and you were there, you can correct me on the basis that that's what the November 7 agreement called for?


A
That was one of the options in the November 7th agreement, yes.


Q
Well, my point is simply this, sir, that if you or any member of your committee thought that's what the November 7, 1996 agreement, or that's what you understood it meant, why wouldn't it have been raised when the '97 adjustment was made at two-thirds CPI when additional monies were available?  Or when the '98 adjustment was made when more than two-thirds of CPI was available?  Or in '99 when more than two-thirds of CPI was available?  Why wait until the fall of 2000?


A
We waited to the fall of 2000 because we, we hadn't decided what improvements we wanted to make and we made a presentation, I think it was in June of 2000, on the de-indexing proposal.  And once that didn't go anywhere, we didn't read -- maybe this will help.  We didn't read the November 7th agreement as saying that it had to be done every year.  We read it as it could be an increase in the CPI amount given, or a plan improvement, but not something that had to be done and it was the committee's choice.


Q
(Inaudible).


A
So want of a better way of putting it, we were trying to collect and have our 43 mill grow to make a, a plan improvement with the CPI, because that was the direction we were getting from our membership.

573. Ellement’s evidence (Sept. 23, pages 26-28) as to why communications were not made to MTS earlier is as follows:

Q
Your evidence, also, sir, was with respect to the actuarial valuation report in respect to the adjustment account in the MTS plan as of January 1, '97.  When you saw it in mid-'97, you saw that there weren't any corresponding assets in the account to fund a 20-year test, and I think that was your evidence?

A
Yes.

Q
But you didn't say anything to MTS, you didn't raise it?

A
No, I did, I did not raise it directly with MTS.

Q
No.  And your words were, sir, that you wanted to -- or you were in a wait and see mode?

A
Yes.

Q
I don't understand that.  You were waiting and seeing --

A
Would you like, would you like to -- well, at, at the time of the January 1st, '97 report, you don't have information on the debits and credits that are going to occur in the future years, and it would be -- it was too, too early in the, in the operation of the account to know exactly how it was going to be run in terms of debits and credits.

Q
And then when you -- and that report, for the record, is agreed document 925, the adjustment account report, and we don't have to look at it unless you wanted to see it, sir.

A
Okay.

Q
Then the next year's report, for the year 1998, which I believe was document 953, you made the same observation of it that year, seeing that report?

A
Well, I -- when I looked at that one, I made the observation that it was apparent that there was a very low interest credit.

Q
I'm talking, sir, about the funding for the 20-year test, the liabilities of the 20-year test.

A
I, I do make the same comment, yes.

Q
You did make the same comment, and you said, but you didn't alert MTS because it was, your words, "still pretty early in the game".  What game were you playing?

A
I was not playing a game, and I, I -- those are not, those are not -- what I was trying to indicate, that it was far too early -- it was still too early to know the extent of carnage, if you will, that will take place with respect to that account.  We don't know, at that time -- we can't say conclusively what's going to happen in terms of the debits and credits.  It's just too early.  We don't have that information.

574. In addition to the operation of the COLA Account, the plaintiffs allege that the $43 million initial surplus ought not to have been used in the calculation of the overall funding status of the new plan, which is discussed above.  However, it was evident from the initial valuation of the new plan that the initial surplus had been used to calculate the unfunded liability of approximately $7 million.  No objection was raised by Ellement or Corp, actuaries to the plaintiffs who reviewed that initial valuation.  On discovery [Exhibit 62], Restall confirmed that this fact would have been known to Ellement:

1172
Q
All right. Your document 365, sir, that's a letter by you, it appears on April 3, 1997, to Mr. Fraser?


A
Yes.

1173
Q
And you open that up with this statement,

"Your letter of February 24, 1997 has resolved some of our concerns regarding the initial amount that the System will place in the MTS Pension Plan trust fund." 

Do you agree that the February 24 letter resolved some of your concerns in that regard? 


A
Yes.

1174
Q
And you then say that your actuary -- who I assume was Louis Ellement?


A
Yes.

1175
Q
-- had reviewed the report on the actuarial evaluation from Buck Consultants and had some questions related to the indexing account.



Is that the valuation that you have in 26 A of your affidavit?


MR. MERONEK: I don’t know. I don’t think so. Just off the record.


(OFF THE RECORD DISCUSSION)


MR. MERONEK: On the record. We believe that to be the case, but we will confirm that for you.


MR. OLSON: Where it references the report of the actuarial valuation, it doesn't say whether it is on the plan itself or the adjustment account, but I believe the adjustment account valuation occurred later than this letter.

Subject to confirmation of that, would you agree that's the report? 


MR. MERONEK: Yes, and that's document 26 A in TEAM's supplemental affidavit.

BY MR. OLSON:

1176
Q
Thank you. And on page 3 of that document, in the executive summary, there was an unfunded liability of $7.015 million; right?


A
Correct.

1177
Q
And your actuary, and therefore you at that point in time, were satisfied with respect to that calculation of the unfunded liability, subject to any questions you might have had related to the indexing account; is that fair?


MR. MERONEK: In other words, question that amount?


MR, OLSON: Yes, the calculation, the actuarial valuation of the fund reflecting an unfunded liability of $7.015 million. 


MR. MERONEK: I don't believe there was a question as to the calculation, the basis of the calculation, but I can confirm that through Mr. Ellement, and advise you otherwise if that's not the case.


MR. OLSON: Sorry, I didn't understand that?


MR. MERONEK: I don't think there is an issue that -- well, it certainly says there is an unfunded liability on an actuarial basis here, but I don't think there was any disagreement or dispute that it was $7,015,000.


MR. OLSON: All right, if you would, thank you.

(UNDERTAKING # 53: ADVISE RE ANY DISAGREEMENT THAT UNFUNDED LIABILITY WAS $7.015 MILLION)

BY MR. OLSON:

1178
Q
And it was apparent to your actuary as of that date, sir, that the $43 million excess transferred into the MTS Pension Plan was included in the calculation of the unfunded liability of $7.015 million at the time that this evaluation was made, was it not?


A
I believe so.
575. MTS submits that there has been no misinterpretation of the MOA by MTS with a resulting breach.  Rather, the plaintiffs are looking for a “re-do” of what was agreed to years ago.  The COLA Account of which Ellement and Levy speak is not the COLA Account that existed in the CSSF, and is not the COLA Account that was agreed to in the MOA.  Rather, it is a creation of a COLA Account that Ellement and Levy would like to have.  It is not the function of this Court to grant the wishes of the plaintiffs.   

576. In the alternative, there is no consensus ad idem as there are several interpretations and intentions before this Court with respect to the MOA.  Without agreement as to what the agreement was, the terms of the MOA cannot be binding and there cannot be a resulting breach.
V.
Undertaking by MTS with respect to use of the $43 million Initial Surplus
577. In various communications, Fraser, on behalf of MTS, indicated that the initial surplus generated from the transfer of assets from the CSSF would not be used to reduce MTS’s cost of, and share of contributions to, the new plan [AD 313, 383 and 434].  

578. AD 434 was put to Restall on cross-examination and the following evidence was given (June 16, pages 14-15):

Q
Sorry, before I go to the next heading, that next paragraph in between the one I just showed you and the heading of Governance refers to: The surplus will not be used to reduce MTS' cost or share of contributions to the new pension plan.  You had some understanding as to what MTS' cost or share of contributions were going to be to the new pension plan?

A
I don't know what he means by that.

579. Despite their main witness having no knowledge of what this sentence means, the plaintiffs allege that this “undertaking” was broken when MTS included the initial surplus amount of $43 million to calculate the total funding position of the new plan.  The plaintiffs allege at paragraphs 45 and 46 of the Fresh as Amended Statement of Claim that the $43 million was to be kept separate from the funding calculation, such that a greater unfunded liability would have been realized and further contributions from MTS would have been required.  MTS submits that this allegation is without merit and is inconsistent with the evidence before this Court.
580. First, it was understood that there could be no separate account in which funds could be placed.  Based on the new plan text, all assets were to be placed into the new plan fund, including the initial surplus. As such, these assets all necessarily formed part of the trust fund for valuation purposes.  The COLA Account was set up as a notional account, where assets and liabilities were calculated on “paper” to determine whether the COLA Account could fund a COLA award greater than 2/3 of CPI if 20-year prefunding existed.  Instead of only having the $31 million employee contribution from the CSSF Adjustment Account and a matching $31 million from MTS, it was agreed the initial surplus would also be calculated as part of the assets attributable to the COLA Account.  For the reasons discussed above, this interpretation of the MOA is most consistent with:

(a) The intentions of the employees at the time with respect to the CSSF Adjustment Account, i.e. funding of the COLA Account by placing surplus into the COLA Account; 
(b) The operation of the CSSF Adjustment Account;

(c) The interpretation of the MOA by MTS’s representatives, Corp and Fox;

(d) The fact no concern was raised by the employee and retirees or Ellement for years after the COLA Account was in operation that the $43 million initial surplus was included in the calculation of the overall funded status of the new plan.

581. Second, in no documentation by the plaintiffs is it stated, prior to October 2000, that the $43 million initial surplus is to be excluded from any funding calculation.  Furthermore, MTS submits that it is required by the ITA to not include the initial surplus as part of the assets in the fund upon which the funding status is calculated.
582. Fraser’s evidence is that the undertaking he gave, and what was meant by “the surplus generated from the transfer of assets from the CSSF would not be used to reduce MTS’s cost of, and share of contributions to, the new pension plan”, was that all the money in the Pension Reserve would be transferred into the new plan.  MTS would not look at the new plan and say “we don’t have to because there is a surplus”.  MTS would put in the whole amount of the Pension Reserve in the new plan fund, regardless of the initial funded status of the fund (Oct. 22, page 34).
583. Fraser noted particularly that it was Restall’s position that if there was a surplus on the employees’ side, it would not be used to reduce the amount transferred from the Pension Reserve.  Fraser took this concern at face value.  Restall’s concern was that MTS would pay just what was required for funding, rather than the full amount of the Pension Reserve. In other words, Restall’s concern was that if there was a surplus in the new plan on the implementation date, MTS would reduce the amount of its contribution from the Pension Reserve.  Restall’s concern made sense as, if there was a surplus anticipated, there was no obligation on the part of MTS to transfer its full Pension Reserve (Oct. 22, pages 62-63). 
584. The funding requirements under the PBSA were for MTS to pay into the new plan whatever was required to reach full funding.  As a DB plan, there was no obligation for MTS to fund the same amount as the employees on the implementation date.  As the transfer amount coming from the CSSF was “fixed”, employees and retirees did not want MTS to pay something less than the full Pension Reserve if something less than the full Pension Reserve was required to fully fund the new plan.  At the time of these discussions, it was not known whether the new plan would be fully funded, in a surplus position, or in an unfunded status.  Regardless of the funded status, the plaintiffs wanted to ensure the whole of the Pension Reserve would be paid into the new plan.
585. MTS submits that the assurances given by Fraser were not accepted by the ERPC and it prompted them to negotiate the placement of the initial surplus into the new plan COLA Account under the MOA, something the employees and retirees had been trying to negotiate for some years before privatization under the CSSF as well, that is, the transfer of surplus from the main account in the CSSF to the CSSF Adjustment Account.
586. The ERPC, through Corp and Ellement, also sought to have the transfer of the entire Pension Reserve hard-coded into the new plan text.  These requests would not have been made had the plaintiffs been satisfied that MTS intended all along to transfer the full Pension Reserve.
587. If there was a breach of this undertaking not to “use” the $43 million initial surplus to reduce MTS’s costs or contributions as alleged by the plaintiffs, which is denied by MTS, do the plaintiffs have recourse in this Court?
588. An undertaking is simply a gratuitous promise and is not enforceable at law.  Furthermore, the plaintiffs did not incorporate the November 6, 1996 memo [AD 434], in which the undertaking is made, into the MOA.  As such, the undertaking is an unenforceable, pre-negotiation, statement.  A statement made prior to a contract being entered into, such as the MOA, will only attract liability if it falls within the tort of negligent misrepresentation.  

589. The plaintiffs have not properly pled a claim for negligent misrepresentation and, in any event, cannot satisfy the test for negligent misrepresentation as was set out by the Supreme Court of Canada in Queen v. Cognos, [1993] 1 S.C.R. 87 [Tab 44]:

(a) there must be a duty of care based on a “special relationship” between the representor and the representee;

(b) the representation must be untrue, inaccurate or misleading;

(c) the representor must have acted negligently in making the misrepresentation;

(d) the representee must have relied, in a reasonable manner, on the negligent misrepresentation; 

(e) reliance must have been detrimental to the representee in the sense that damages resulted.

590. MTS submits that while a duty of care may have existed between MTS and the ERPC, the other four elements of the tort are simply not satisfied on the evidence before this Court as:

(a) The representation was not untrue, inaccurate or misleading.  As is discussed in detail above, the plaintiffs’ interpretation of the undertaking is simply not plausible.  Even if the plaintiffs’ interpretation is accepted, it cannot be said that the representation was untrue, inaccurate or misleading.  The $43 million initial surplus must be taken into account in any actuarial calculation that is done for OSFI, the regulator of the new plan.  There is no evidence on the record that seriously disputes this.  MTS’s funding obligations must be based on the actuarial calculation.  Most importantly, MTS has funded significantly more than the employees, even when the $43 million initial surplus is removed from the funding calculation [Exhibit 51];

(b) The representation was not done negligently.  There is no evidence that Fraser was negligently or intentionally misrepresenting MTS’s intentions with regard to the $43 million initial surplus.  At best, there is a misunderstanding as to what Fraser’s words meant.  The manner in which MTS conducted itself with respect to (i) transferring the entire Pension Reserve and (ii) calculating the initial valuation is consistent with the undertaking and representations made.  The plaintiffs’ actions, however, are quite inconsistent with their “interpretation” of the undertaking.  No objection was made to MTS for years;

(c) No reliance has been established.  It is not plausible to suggest the plaintiffs would not have entered into the November 7, 1996 MOA but for the undertaking made in AD 434, a memo that was not even addressed to the plaintiffs.  If this was a critical element, it would have been incorporated into the MOA.  As discussed above, there were certain concerns of the plaintiffs that were raised by their counsel at the Standing Committee at the Legislature on October 31, 1996 [AD 409].  These concerns were addressed in the MOA as confirmed by Restall, which was the purpose of the MOA and the reason for agreeing to the MOA;

(d) Finally, there has been no detrimental loss:

(i) MTS has paid much more than the initial surplus;

(ii) The initial surplus was placed into the COLA Account as requested by the plaintiffs;

(iii) The plaintiffs have received a COLA award in the new plan that is equal to any COLA award they would have received had they remained in the old plan; 

(iv) The plaintiffs have received the benefits promised to them under the new plan; and
(v) There is no loss to the plaintiffs.

591. The plaintiffs argue that had the $43 million initial surplus remained in the COLA Account, it could have been used to provide for COLA greater than 2/3 of CPI, regardless of whether the 20-year prefunding rule had been satisfied.  As discussed above, MTS submits that the use of the $43 million initial surplus by retirees for greater COLA increases without regard to the 20-year prefunding rule would adversely impact on future generations.  The surplus contributed to by plan members who have retired and who have not retired should be enjoyed equally.  When surplus is transferred from the main fund to the CSSF Adjustment Account, the transfer is amortized to benefit not just those who have retired at the time of the transfer.  In accord with Ellement’s evidence that the 20-year rule in the CSSF is to make it “fairer to all participants” (as granting 100% COLA puts the CSSF Adjustment Account in “jeopardy” for future retirees (Sept. 15, page 32)), the initial surplus here would have to be subject to an amortization or, as MTS submits, the 20-year prefunding rule so as to not benefit only those who are retired as of 1997.
592. The obligation not to favour certain beneficiaries over others is enshrined in the Governance Document.  Section 4.14 of the Governance Document provides:
Each member of the Pension Committee had a duty of care to:

(a)
act exclusively for the benefit of the Plan and the Pension Fund and its beneficiaries, and never in the member’s own interest or in the interest of a third party,

(b)
actively carry out those duties and responsibilities assigned to the Pension Committee and perform them with complete integrity, and

(c)
act impartially between beneficiaries under the Plan.

593. The plaintiffs argue that they failed to receive a benefit as the $43 million initial surplus did not generate a benefit.  The intention was to move the COLA Account closer to 20-year prefunding.  Corp testified it was not a certainty or an expectation but a desire and a hope (Sept. 11, page 28).  The COLA Account did not reach 20-year prefunding status but it got closer to this goal.  This is exactly what Corp and Williams expected.
594. On cross-examination of Fox, an actuary, it was put to him that if the $43 million had been “used up” without the retirees receiving a COLA award which was higher than 2/3, then the initial surplus had not been used for a benefit.  Fox was unable to confirm that this would be so.  

595. In a DB pension plan, the expectation and intention is to receive the benefits that are defined and promised in the plan text.  There is no suggestion or allegation by the plaintiffs that the plan members have not received the defined benefits that have been promised to them under the new plan text, which are the same defined benefits the members received or were entitled to receive under the CSSA.
VI.
Evidentiary Matters
(a)
The weight to be given to the plaintiffs’ evidence

(i)
Restall

596. Restall was the plaintiffs’ main witness.  He gave de bene esse evidence over 14 days in April, May and June 2008.  When Restall’s evidence is reviewed, on its own, and in comparison to evidence of others given at trial, it is evident that Restall is unaware, mistaken or confused about several key issues.

597. Restall did not know the following:

(a) the CSSA was exempt from the PBA.  Further, Restall was not familiar with the PBA (June 2, pages 6- 7);

(b) working knowledge of the PBSA prior to 1997 (June 2, page 12);
(c) the new plan under the PBSA was to provide for funding (June 2, pages 16-18);

(d) tax status of MTS, why pension plans are registered and contribution limits prescribed by CRA (June 2, page 21);

(e) in the early 1990s, union representatives had raised with Fraser increasing concerns that the CSSF was completely unfunded (June 2, page 36);

(f) an instance where contributions were increased to address an unfunded liability (June 2, pages 37-39; AD 009);
(g) employers were not responsible for employees 50% of the pension under the CSSF (June 2, page 47);

(h) the Liaison Committee wrote to the Pension Commission in 1991 seeking a withdrawal of the CSSA’s exemption from funding requirements in the PBA (June 2, page 76);

(i) the MTS Pension Reserve was not in a trust (June 3, pages 9-10);

(j) the Alberta legislation passed in 1993 (June 3, page 13; Exhibit 10);
(k) the federal government pension plan lawsuit and legislation (June 3, page 14; Tabs 17 and 16);
(l) as at July 1996, how the new plan would be funded (June 3, page 20);

(m) as at mid-1996, MTS would be funding deficiencies in the new plan (June 3, page 21);

(n) Corp said on November 14, 1996 that the benefits looked consistent (June 3, page 42); 

(o) Revenue Canada had said to MTS that the COLA Account must be part of the Fund, i.e. one account (June 4, page 18);

(p) Contribution holidays are permitted because MTS has obligations to provide the promised benefits and not to guarantee a constant level of funding (June 5, page 7);
(q) MTS was reviewing the funding status on a regular basis (as Administrator and Plan Sponsor) (June 5, page 14); and

(r) What the funding obligations were when he saw the comment in the November 6, 1996 memorandum that there were concerns that surplus may be used to finance MTS’s share of the funding obligations (June 16, page 14).

598. Restall appeared confused about the following:
(a) at trial (June 2, page 9), Restall indicated that he was unaware of the definition of “pension benefit” under the CSSA, but at his examination for discovery he did understand the definition of “pension benefit” under the CSSA at the time (June 3, page 47);
(b) at page 22 of the June 2 transcript, Restall indicates that he did not understand funding to mean where the employer sets aside assets to pay future liabilities.  However, at pages 25 to 36 of the transcript, he indicates that when he was on the CSSB, he knew that liabilities for employers were unfunded;

(c) Restall gave evidence that the COLA had worked well under the CSSF.  However, at page 92 of the June 2 transcript, Restall acknowledges the CSSF Adjustment Account had in fact deteriorated;

(d) Restall gave evidence that they were coming out of a fully funded plan and expected to go into another fully funded plan.  However, it was not his belief that in July 1996, MTS’s obligations under the CSSF were fully funded (June 3, page 20);

(e) Restall gave evidence that the new plan would be a 50/50 plan, and for it to be a 50/50 plan, MTS would match what we brought over (June 3, pages 35-36).  These are two separate and distinct concepts; and
(f) Restall gave evidence that contribution holidays were not something that was seriously talked about in the CSSF (June 4, page 42).  Contribution holidays were never discussed in the CSSF as there was no funding contribution required from which an employer could take a holiday.
599. In addition to the foregoing, Restall agreed on cross-examination with the following facts, all of which negatively impact the plaintiffs’ case:

(a) In 26 years, there were eight occasions when agreement was reached involving the use of surplus and all (except the payment into the CSSF Adjustment Account) included payment of some or all of the employers’ costs.  For 10 years prior to privatization, Government did not permit any improvements to the old plan that would result in cost to the Government/employers (June 2, page 72);

(b) For ten years, they were getting nowhere in having the government pay for what [the Liaison Committee] considered to be their share of improvements (June 2, page 74);
(c) More than 50% of pensions were paid by employees due to improvements, where employers’ costs were being paid by employee surplus (June 2, pages 82-83);

(d) At the October 2 and 3, 1996 presentations made by MTS to employees and retirees, there was a discussion about MTS’s right to take contribution holidays under the new plan (June 4, page 50);
(e) It was apparent to [ERPC’s] actuary that the $43 million initial surplus was included in the calculation of the unfunded liability in the amount of $7.015M (June 4, pages 70-71);

(f) Even with contribution holidays, more money has been contributed by MTS than by employees (June 5, pages 15-20);

(g) All concerns had been resolved by January 1, 1997, other than use of future surplus resulting from employee contributions and control over plan text changes (June 5, page 74);

(h) All three concerns expressed by Meronek on October 31, 1996 [AD 410] were achieved and addressed (June 16, page 5); and
(i) There was nothing in the November 6, 1996 memorandum which said anything different from or made any representations which were not covered in the MOA (June 16, page 17).


(ii)
Levy

600. It is submitted that little or no weight should be given to the evidence of Levy.

601. Levy’s reports [Exhibits 40 and 41] and his viva voce evidence demonstrated that he crossed the important line between expert and advocate.  Not only is this inappropriate for an expert witness generally, but it is contrary to the actuarial standards of practice by which Levy is bound.

602. Section 4150 of the Standards of Practice [Exhibit 45], which govern actuaries under the Canadian Institute of Actuaries, provides:

4150 (Testimony)

0.1 - testimony should be objective and responsive

0.2 - role as an expert witness in court is to assist the court its search for truth and justice, the actuary is not to be an advocate for one side of the matter in a dispute.

0.3 - in course of testifying: 


a) present a balanced view of factors


b) answer all questions on basis of his own best 
assessment of all relevant factors


c) best efforts to ensure testimony clear, complete 
and will not be misunderstood or misinterpreted.

603. The Standards of Practice governing Levy are also consistent with the case law that governs all expert witnesses.  Fundamentally, an expert must not become an advocate.

604. In R. v. Vieira, 2004 CarswellOnt 6901, affirmed [2005] O.J. No. 4805 [Tab 45], paragraph 32:

... At the same time, I must also say, regrettably, that I found the manner in which Mr. Merkley approached his assignment, and particularly the manner in which he gave his evidence, transcended the very important line between being an expert witness and being an advocate for a particular side.  In this regard, it is worth reminding all experts to express opinion on the facts in issue and the inferences to be drawn for those facts.  Experts are an exception to the normal rule that witnesses must give evidence only respecting those matters of fact that they actually observed… Given the advantage position that experts are accorded in the trial process, it is critically important that experts resist the urge to become advocate for or against a certain result.  Rather, they must be scrupulous in ensuring that they restrict their evidence to providing objective opinions and analysis to assist the trier of fact on the issues at hand...(emphasis added)

605. In Fellowes, McNeil v. Kansa General International Insurance Company Ltd. et al. (1998), 40 O.R. (3d) 456, (at page 4) [Tab 46], the Court stated as follows:

…Experts must not be permitted to become advocates.  To do so would change or tamper with the essence of the role of the expert, which was developed to assist the court in matters which require special knowledge or expertise beyond the knowledge of the court…If I look to only two of the seven duties and responsibility of experts testifying in civil cases that are laid out in The “Ikarian Reefer”, [1993] 2 Lloyd’s Rep. 68 at p. 81, I have to conclude that this would not be a case for Mr. McInnis to assume the role of an expert.  These duties are:

(1)  Expert evidence presented to the court should be, and should be seen to be, the independent product of the experts uninfluenced assistance to the court by objective, unbiased opinion.

(2) an Expert should provide independent assistance to the court by objective, unbiased opinion in relation to matters within his or her expertise.  An expert witness should never assume the role of advocate.

***

Finally, an expert’s report “cannot be advocacy dressed up as expert opinion”.

606. In Dulong v. Merrill Lynch Canada, Inc., [2006] O.J. No. 1146 [Tab 47], at paragraph 8:

Opinion evidence is a type of opinion evidence.  Opinion evidence is generally inadmissible.  To be admissible, expert evidence must meet the following criteria set out… in R. v. Mohan…:

(1) the evidence must be relevant;

(2) the evidence must be necessary to assist the trier of fact;

(3) there must be no exclusionary rule otherwise prohibiting the receipt of the evidence; and

(4) the evidence is given by a properly qualified expert.

607. With respect to the first criteria, the Court noted at paragraph 12:

…He suggests that the probative value of Mr. Malcolmson’s evidence is outweighed by its prejudicial effect.  His submission here is based primarily on the fact that Mr. Malcolmson purports to make findings of fact and is acting as more of an advocate than as a dispassionate expert.  However, he abandoned this objection when he was assured that, if Mr. Malcolmson was qualified, the Court would not permit him to make findings of fact or testify qua advocate.

608. With respect to the second criteria, the Court noted at paragraph 15:

Mr. Sternberg’s primary objection is that, to the extent that Mr. Malcolmson makes findings of fact, his evidence is not necessary.  As will be discussed further at paragraph 28, infra, there is no question that Mr. Malcomson’s report does purport to make findings of fact.  Not only is it not necessary for an expert to do this--it is totally inappropriate…

609. With respect to the third criteria, the Court noted at paragraphs 16 and 18:

Expert opinion evidence that would otherwise be admissible may still be excluded on the basis of another rule of evidence.  In this case, Mr. Sternberg makes the submission that the evidence of Mr. Malcolmson violates the rule against oath-helping in that the report is replete with comments about credibility or findings of fact relating to contentious issues.

As will be discussed at paragraph 28, infra, I agree that the report of Mr. Malcomson is not in the proper form and there is no question that, if admitted, it would violate the rule against oath-helping.  However, while this is a sufficient reason not to admit the Mr. Malcolmson’s report, it does not preclude him from testifying.  It is only reason to prevent him from offering such conclusions in his viva voce evidence… 

610. In concluding that Mr. Malcolmson was not a required expert for the Court, the Court stated, at paragraphs 29 and 30:

This court does not require expert evidence to assist it with the above matters.  Opinion evidence is not required to determine what discussions took place between Mr. Miller and Mr. Dulong; what recommendations Mr. Miller made regarding the sale of Mr. Dulong’s CPI shares; what instructions Mr. Dulong gave as to whether he was prepared to sell the shares; what discussions they had regarding the purchase of bonds; what Mr. Dulong’s understanding was of his margin position; what led to the ultimate sale of the shares of Merrill Lynch to repay the debit balance in Mr. Dulong’s account; nor any of the other many factual matters on which Mr. Malcolmson seeks to opine.  These matters will be determined based on all the evidence including an assessment of the credibility of the witnesses.  The assessment of credibility of witnesses is a prime judicial function.  That assessment is for the trier of fact and is not within the proper scope of expert testimony.

Finally both the tenor and substance of the report are objectionable as it consists of Mr. Malcolmson arguing the facts and generally advocating his client’s position with respect to them throughout -- similar to what one would expect from counsel’s closing argument.  This in not the proper format for an expert opinion….

611. In Ontario (Superintendent of Financial Services) v. Norton (2007), C.C.P.B. 27 [Tab 48], the Court made the following findings:

The jurisprudence makes it crystal clear that it is absolutely critical that the expert’s primary responsibility is to the court, that his or her report must be the impartial, objective product of the expert, without regard to any interest in the outcome of the litigation or prosecution at bar…(paragraph 60)

The expert must recognize that the court receiving such a report, does so relying on the fact that it was done impartially, and without any concealed partiality. (paragraph 61)

…the expert must never assume the role of an advocate…(paragraph 62)

The expert should not, as stated in McWilliams, take it upon himself to promote the point of view of the party instructing him (sometimes referred to as “engaging in an advocacy role”) (paragraph 63)

612. In Brough v. Richmond, 2003 BCSC 512 [Tab 49], counsel argued against the admission of an expert report on the grounds that it offended the ultimate issue rule and was partisan and in the nature of advocacy.  With respect to the first ground, the Court stated at paragraph 6:

The role of the expert is to provide ready-made inference which, due to the technical nature of the facts, a trier of fact is unable to formulate:  R. v. Abbey, [1982] 2 S.C.R. 24.  However, the “ultimate issue”, the matter to be decided by the trier of fact, is not the purview of the expert.  “The closer the testimony gets to the ultimate issue the court has to decide, the more inclined it is to reject it”: Sopinka, The Law of Evidence in Canada, (1992), at p. 540.

613. In Fraser River Pile & Dredge Ltd. v. Empire Tug Boats Ltd., [1995] F.C.J. No. 436 [Tab 50], Reed J. of the Federal Court Trial Division indicated the following with respect to experts:

It is my understanding that there are at least two aspects to expert evidence: (1) the adducing of facts through an expert because that individual has a particular knowledge thereof and such evidence can only realistically be obtained in this manner; (2) the drawing of inferences from a defined set of facts in circumstances where the making of such inferences are difficult for a trier of fact because they depend on specialized knowledge, skill or experience. (paragraph 8)

614. The expert reports and evidence of Levy establish that Levy has indeed crossed that very important line between expert and advocate.  His reports and evidence were replete with argument and non-objectivity.  Language used to critique FitzGerald is also inflammatory and contrary to the standards imposed on Levy in responding to another actuary’s opinion.  When questioned on cross examination, Levy would not acknowledge that it was inappropriate to act as an advocate for your client (October 8, pages 6-9).
615. In addition to crossing the line between expert and advocate, Levy also strayed into commentary (“It is unlikely there would have been litigation”); on cross-examination, he grudgingly had to acknowledge that it was “probably not” his function as an expert (Oct. 8, pages 14-15).
616. The substantive work of Levy is in and of itself flawed.  Levy, on cross examination, confirmed that he never reviewed the CSSA. In the index to his report (Oct. 8, page 70), the CSSA is not listed as a document reviewed by Levy.  The old plan was governed by the CSSA.  As a statutory plan, there was no plan text per se.  The CSSA was the plan text.  Levy’s failure to review the old plan’s text and governing statute is not up to the standard of an expert and significantly impacts the reliability of his reports.  How can an opinion be provided on whether the new plan provided for benefits which, on the implementation date, were equivalent in value to the pension benefits to which employees had or may have become entitled under the CSSA if Levy did not read the CSSA, which constitutes the old plan text?

617. Levy also confirmed that he did not verify the information that was provided to him by the plaintiffs.  An expert is to confirm the facts he is relying on or assume facts to be true (Oct. 8, pages 16-17). The failure of Levy to do either also significantly impacts the reliability of his reports.

618. Perhaps most concerning is that Levy, in his reports, stated repeatedly that employees had a right and an entitlement to apply surplus.  When challenged on cross-examination, he admitted that this was an overstatement, that “expectation” was a more precise description, and that he raised the expectations of the plaintiffs to entitlements in his reports (Oct. 8, pages 18, 21-22).  It is entitlements which must be considered under the Reorg Act.  Accordingly, at best, his reports speak to expectations or the “wish list” of the plaintiffs and not what the plaintiffs were entitled to with respect to pension benefits under the CSSA.

619. Finally, Levy’s knowledge was severely lacking on some critical points.  In particular, he:

(a) was not aware that the government of the day said it would not approve the use of surplus unless the government’s cost was fully paid through use of that surplus (Oct. 8, page 19);

(b) was not aware how the COLA Account operated when he wrote his June 2004 Report (Exhibit 40) (Oct. 8, page 27);

(c) was not aware that what was attempted was to create a plan text which included a COLA Account as close as it could be to the COLA Adjustment Account in the CSSF (Oct. 8, page 29);

(d) was not aware whether there was an obligation to fund an unfunded liability in the CSSF (Oct. 8, page 23); and

(e) was not aware until after June 2008, when he rendered his second report, that in 1989 the CSSA required 20-year prefunding of 100% CPI before more than 2/3 of CPI would be granted (Oct. 8, pages 54-55).

620. In assessing which expert evidence should be accepted, it is submitted that it is important to consider the manner in which an opinion is arrived at and expressed in a report and at trial.  In Geddes v. Bloom, 2008 CarswellOnt 5224 [Tab 51], the Court, in assessing the two experts before it, found:

31 In considering the evidence of the two experts, I caution that the evidence of an expert should be independent and objective in order to be of value to the court in assessing technical evidence…
33     In the case before me, I find that there are several reasons why Dr. Cheung's evidence is preferred over Dr. Kleyman's evidence. First, Dr. Cheung has more experience as a neuro-radiologist with special training of interpreting images of the area of the neck and head. Dr. Cheung has testified in other cases and his opinion has been accepted. He gave his evidence in this case in a forthright and direct manner. On the other hand, Dr. Kleyman tended to be somewhat argumentative with counsel, as if he was an advocate for the plaintiff's case. At one point in his testimony, he even referred to the plaintiff's counsel as "my lawyer" which may have been a slip of the tongue but demonstrated an adversarial approach. Furthermore, there were inconsistencies in the evidence of Dr. Kleyman touching on matters such as the value of a patient's clinical history or whether there were markings on the images he received for consideration. These contradictions, combined with his manner of testifying in which he assumed the role of an advocate for the plaintiff, made his evidence less helpful to the court. In the final analysis, the plaintiff was unable to demonstrate on a balance of probabilities that the explanation given by the defendant was not reasonable and that the defendant's conduct fell below the objective standard of a reasonably skilled radiologist practising in Ontario in 2005. While Dr. Bloom's clinical judgment was wrong in failing to diagnose a fracture, the standard is not one of perfection and the error is one which falls in that category that does not constitute negligence.
621. MTS submits that no weight ought to be given to the reports and evidence of Levy and where his opinion evidence differs from the evidence given by FitzGerald, it is FitzGerald’s evidence that ought to be preferred.

(iii)
Ellement

622. Although called as a factual witness, Ellement, as an actuary, owes a duty to give fair unbiased evidence as an actuary.  He is bound by his standards of practice to not be an advocate.  Despite this, Ellement referred to “we” throughout his evidence when speaking about the plaintiffs in this action.  There is no question that, at all times, Ellement aligned himself with the plaintiffs’ position.

623. Moreover, Ellement’s evidence is not credible and ought not to be accepted by this Court based on the following:

(a) His interpretation of the MOA is inconsistent with the interpretations of all other witnesses, including the plaintiffs’ witnesses;
(b) Ellement was not privy to discussions leading to the signing of the MOA and his advice was not sought prior to signing the MOA;
(c) His interpretation of the MOA was developed three years after it was entered into, following his “epiphany” as to its interpretation;

(d) Ellement’s interpretation of the MOA ignores the workings and deficiencies of the CSSF Adjustment Account prior to privatization. The COLA Account in the new plan mirrored to the extent possible the CSSF Adjustment Account; and
(e) His interpretation of the MOA is inconsistent with the concerns (or lack thereof) raised with respect to how the MTS COLA Account operated in the first few years.
624. As a witness, Ellement’s evidence should be discounted given his demeanour on cross examination. This Court found that Ellement was non responsive to questioning:
THE COURT:  Mr., Mr. Ellement, I think I pointed out to you yesterday that your answers have to be responsive to the question, and while you may want to elaborate --

THE WITNESS:  I, I apologize. 

THE COURT:  -- that's not, that's not, that's not the function of cross-examination.  Your counsel is going to have an opportunity, for example, to ask you questions in re-direct if he feels there are some answers you've given in cross-examination that warrant expansion -- that warrant explanation.  So for the purposes of cross-examination, your questions have to be responsive and restricted to the question, unless -- I mean, if, if you're being asked to give a yes or no answer and you simply can't answer the question in that fashion, and then you are entitled to, to go farther. [Oct 23, page 59]

THE COURT:  Mr. Ellement, just follow the questions, and, and respond to them, please. 

THE WITNESS:  Yes, My Lord.

MR. MERONEK:  My Lord, just on that, and I, I don't want to (inaudible) into the fray, but Mr. Olson's putting the questions as if that was the obligation.  Mr. Ellement is saying it's a minimum, there's more to it than that, and --

THE COURT:  I know.  He's said that a number of times --

MR. MERONEK:  Yeah.

THE COURT:  -- and then he -- and then, ultimately, I mean, he comes and, and, and agrees.  He said -- I mean, he's given his explanation, but, but there's a question, that, that he -- to which he has to be responsive, and I'm finding that he isn't responsive and I'm, I'm directing him to be so.  Let's move on. [Oct. 23, page 69]

 (b)
The effect of the inconsistency in the plaintiffs’ evidence
625. On discovery, it was agreed Restall’s evidence would be binding on all the plaintiffs [Exhibit 62, q. 5].  In addition to Restall, the plaintiffs called nine other witnesses plus Fox and Singleton.  The evidence of the witnesses called by the plaintiffs is inconsistent, including with respect to key aspects of the plaintiffs’ claim.  The inconsistencies are noted throughout this argument.  

626. In contrast, MTS produced six witnesses who gave consistent evidence on all key aspects of the matters at issue in this litigation.  Much of MTS’s evidence (and overall defence) is supported by evidence called by the plaintiffs.

627. The onus and evidentiary burden lies with the plaintiffs to prove their case in this action, Telecommunication Employees Association of Manitoba Inc. et al v. Manitoba Telecom Services Inc. et al., 2008 MBQB 114 [Tab 52].
628.    The plaintiffs have essentially presented multiple cases to the Court.  This is especially true with respect to the MOA.  Without this Court rejecting the evidence of some of the plaintiffs’ witnesses, the Court is left with multiple versions of facts and understandings forming part of the plaintiffs’ case.  In such a case, it is submitted that the plaintiffs have not met the evidentiary onus and burden that lies with the plaintiffs to prove the allegations made, see Wedde v. Siebel Systems Canada Ltd. (2002), 22 C.C.E. L. (3d) 301 [Tab 53]; O’Sullivan v. Turk (1947), 55 Man. R. 347 [Tab 54]; Tsatsos v. Johnson (1970), 74 W.W.R. 315 [Tab 55].

 (c)
The effect of having Singleton and Fox declared adverse
629. Both Singleton, the Provincial Auditor at all material times, and Fox, the Independent Actuary appointed by Singleton, were declared adverse by this Court.  In addition, at least with respect to Fox, this Court declared that the Court would consider the weight to be given to Fox’s evidence without attaching that evidence to either party’s case.
630. There has been extensive material filed with respect to declaring a witness adverse or hostile and it need not be repeated here.  However, the purpose of having a witness declared adverse is important when considering the evidence of Fox and Singleton.  The purpose of having a witness declared adverse is twofold:
(a) Permit cross-examination on a prior inconsistent statement in an effort to have the witness adopt that prior statement; or

(b) Discredit the witness to bolster evidence called from another witness, which is inconsistent with the evidence given by the adverse witness.

631. MTS submits that with respect to the key points of Fox and Singleton’s evidence, no other evidence was presented to the Court that was inconsistent and that this Court should prefer over Fox and Singleton.

632. The plaintiffs argue that the “definition” used by Fox was narrowed in that it did not include the concepts of surplus, funding and governance.  Fox’s evidence is that the definition he used did consider those issues.  The evidence adduced by the plaintiffs from other witnesses does not challenge or contradict Fox’s evidence. The evidence before the Court is as follows:

(a) Corp, nor his clients to his knowledge, did not contact Fox upon receiving AD 795 (the final definition) to say it was incomplete (Sept. 12, page 22);

(b) Upon receiving AD 795 (the final definition), Ellement had a discussion with the ERPC.  It was a worry to him but he couldn’t tell as Fox could have interpreted beyond a narrow definition;

(c) Paterson’s concluding report on Fox’s work at AD 859 states the definition was narrowed.  However:

(i) Fox never saw this document;

(ii) Paterson goes on to note that funding and surplus were ultimately considered and found to also be equivalent. Of some significance, Paterson was not declared adverse. His evidence, therefore, is part of the plaintiffs’ case;
(d) Johnson has no idea as to whether Fox included issues of surplus, funding and governance (Oct. 9, page 36).  Again, Johnson was called as part of the plaintiffs’ case; 
(e) Singleton testified that benefit is a broad word and  
(f) Fox thought surplus and funding were part of benefits.

633. The plaintiffs also argue that the Fox’s Opinion was incorrect in that it did not include the concepts of surplus, funding and governance.  Fox’s evidence is that he did consider these issues.  As noted above, the best evidence that Fox included surplus, funding and governance in his equivalency definition is that they were discussed extensively in his draft opinion of February 18, 1997. Moreover, it was information from Barker with respect to these items that Fox used to reconsider the facts and opinion set out in his draft opinion of February 18, 1997 to come to his final opinion at AD 817.  The evidence adduced by the plaintiffs from other witnesses does not challenge or contradict Fox’s evidence: 

(a) Corp is not aware as to whether Fox took into account the “secondary objective” in Fox’s final opinion (Sept. 12, page 22);

(b) From conversations with Fox, it was clear to Singleton that the level of funding was one of the issues Fox was concerned about; and
(c) Singleton further testified that he knew Fox was considering the issues of surplus, funding and governance, but he could not say whether he did or did not include those issues in his opinion.

634. Accordingly, without evidence to the contrary, the evidence of Fox relating to the definition used, and the issues considered, in his final opinion must be accepted.

(d)
MTS’s Evidence

(i)
McInnes
635. McInnes was the main witness for MTS and testified for six days.  
636. McInnes graduated from the University of Manitoba in 1986 and received her Chartered Accountant designation in 1989.  McInnes started working at MTS in 1990 in the corporate audit group as a financial auditor.  In 1992, McInnes moved to the treasury department in the position of manager of corporate banking.  From 1994 to 2002, McInnes held the position of manager of corporate investments (renamed manager of pension investments after privatization).  In this position, McInnes was responsible for overseeing the Pension Reserve prior to privatization and became responsible for the new plan after privatization (Oct 14, pages 4-5).
637. McInnes is currently a vice-president and treasurer of MTS and has held that position since 2002.  In that position, she has overall responsibility for the investment and administration of the new plan. 

638. McInnes, along with Solman, was responsible for the creation of the new plan and worked with a team of people, including Solman and Williams, to create a new plan that was in accordance with the PBSA, ITA and the Reorg Act.  McInnes described in detail the process used and the consideration given to comments and suggestions made by the plaintiffs and their legal and actuary representatives.  McInnes’s evidence established that MTS took the time to learn and understand the operation of the CSSA, described as their “Bible” in creating the new plan (Oct. 14, page 17), and made significant efforts to ensure compliance with the Reorg Act.
639. In addition to having significant experience and knowledge of the old plan, the Pension Reserve and the new plan, McInnes gave evidence in a straightforward and truthful manner.  Where her evidence differs from that of Restall’s it is submitted her evidence ought to be preferred.
(ii)
Williams

640. Williams was retained by MTS before privatization to prepare actuarial reports with respect to the Pension Reserve maintained by MTS.  Williams was then retained by MTS to assist in the drafting of the new plan text and became the new plan’s actuary once the new plan was finalized.  

641. Williams’ has extensive work experience with large international firms and, in particular, has significant experience with pension plans.  Reports prepared by Williams or the firm he is associated with at any given time are subject to peer review, such that any given report will be reviewed by more than one actuary and always a senior actuary.

642. Although not qualified as an actuarial expert in this proceeding, Williams has been so qualified in the past.  Williams presented his evidence in a professional manner in accord with his own professional standards of practice [Exhibit 45]. Williams’ demeanour was respectful and his answers were responsive and candid.  
643. Unlike Ellement and Levy, a review of Williams’ evidence in its entirety reveals Williams had a significant understanding and working knowledge of the CSSF and of private, DB pension plans like the new plan required under the PBSA.  Williams understood the requirements of the CSSA, the Reorg Act and the PBSA, which was critical to fulfilling the task of creating a new plan in accordance with the Reorg Act.

644. Corp, on cross-examination, confirmed that he had a number of discussions with Williams, who heard him out even if they did not see eye to eye on all issues.  Corp confirmed that a fair number of changes to the initial new plan text were incorporated.  On those changes that were not made in the new plan text, there was an honest difference of opinion.  Corp did not feel that, nor ever say to, Williams that he was holding an opinion that no competent actuary could hold (Sept. 12, pages 1-2) (Ellement, Sept. 23, page 72).
(iii)
FitzGerald

645. FitzGerald, who was accepted as an expert by this Court, is an experienced actuary with significant credentials.  His membership and election to several bodies, committees and organizations is indicative of his expertise in the field.

646. FitzGerald has been a Fellow of the Canadian Institute of Actuaries since 1969.  His practice has been almost exclusively in the area of pension plans, providing consulting services on the design and administration of such plans, and advice on the requirements for compliance with applicable legislation and regulators’ administrative rules.  FitzGerald has, among other things, chaired a number of committees of the Canadian Institute of Actuaries, including the Committee on Pension Plan Financial Reporting, the Committee on Adoption of Standards of Practice, and the Committee on Professional Conduct (discipline committee).  FitzGerald has been elected by his peers to the governing board of the Canadian Institute of Actuaries and also to the position of President [Exhibit 42].

647. FitzGerald’s demeanour was respectful and responsive.  His reports and evidence were presented in a professional manner that is consistent with the rules of conduct which bind FitzGerald and the rules of this Court as they relate to expert witnesses.

648. FitzGerald, as a starting point, read the CSSA.  This is the “plan text” of the old plan.  MTS submits there can be no analysis of Fox’s decision without reviewing and understanding the old plan and its text.  FitzGerald’s reports reflect a thorough review of the old plan and the new plan, an exercise that Fox also engaged in.  

649. MTS submits that where the evidence of Levy and FitzGerald differ, the evidence of FitzGerald ought to be preferred. 

650. FitzGerald’s key findings are:

(a) Fox had a reasonable basis to conclude that, on the implementation date, the benefits provided under the new plan were at least equivalent in value to the pension benefits provided under the old plan;

(b) The new plan could not be administered in accordance with the plaintiffs’ position.  In particular, the existence of the $43 million [initial surplus] could not be generally ignored when determining employer contributions; and
(c) MTS’s undertaking that surplus and employee contributions would not be used to reduce the MTS cost or share of contributions to the new plan was not breached.

651. FitzGerald confirmed that the reports and evidence at trial from Levy, for which he was present, did not change the opinions expressed in his reports.
VII.
Other Irrelevant Matters Raised by the Plaintiffs
Income tax deduction on Pension Reserve transfer
652. The effect of the tax deduction flowing from the transfer of the assets from the Pension Reserve into the new plan by MTS was described by McInnes (Oct. 14, pages 28-29) as follows:

A
There definitely was an advantage to the company to put the pension reserve into the pension plan as a lump sum in the first year because you could get a, the tax deduction that they're stating here.  All employer contributions to pension plans are tax deductible, as are all employee contributions to pension plans.  And this was Towers Perrin's belief at the time, based on the rules, that we could undoubtedly deduct the amount of money that the company put into the pension plan.  And by doing that it did create a large tax loss carry forward that would subsequently reduce the taxes payable by the company for the next few years.  I think it was three or four years.  And, certainly wasn't a requirement for the money to go in but it made sense to do it.

And it would ultimately have been beneficial as well to the government because the tax loss would have affected the share price, the initial share price, and also affected the ability of the share price to grow.  And, 'cause I don't think they full priced in the tax loss to the initial IPO price, which meant when the government was initially giving out these shares to a lot of Manitobans, there was a high probability that the shares would increase in value.  So there was a lot of win/wins all the way around on that.

653. The plaintiffs argue that this tax deduction was a benefit to MTS as described by Towers Perrin in its report at AD 256. As such, there was always an intention to transfer the full amount from the Pension Reserve into the new plan.  However, the evidence is that:

(a) The tax deduction flows from MTS’s contributions into the new plan.  Presumably, a greater tax deduction would have been available in subsequent years had MTS chosen not to put the full Pension Reserve in;

(b) There was no obligation on the part of MTS to put the full Pension Reserve into the new plan;

(c) Funds in the Pension Reserve could have been used to finance other beneficial projects to MTS, like the creation of a new fibre optic network; and
(d) Any real benefit that was received by the tax deduction was to the government and those who initially bought shares in MTS, many of whom were residents of Manitoba, and not to MTS itself.  This was the real objective of any tax advantage, that is to assist the Province in increasing the value to the Province of the MTS shares that were going to be issued.
654. The plaintiffs suggested during the course of trial that the new plan was registered without the consent of the employees and retirees to ensure that it would be registered by the February 27, 1997 deadline to receive the tax deduction.  However, the evidence before the Court is that the more critical deadline was the end of January 1997, the date by which Revenue Canada required the new plan to be registered to allow for contributions to be collected and benefits paid for the month of January.  This was to the benefit of new plan members, to have the new plan able to receive contributions and pay benefits, as much as to MTS.  
Accounting calculations 
655. The plaintiffs adduced evidence as to the “cost” of the new plan to MTS on an accounting basis, suggesting the cost to MTS is something far less than what MTS alleges it to be.
656. MTS submits that it is irrelevant as to how the new plan cost is reflected in the financial statements of MTS.  At trial, this Court indicated that this evidence was not relevant during the course of trial and MTS will not dwell on it now except to confirm that:

(a) The funding calculations that are made pursuant to the actuarial valuations for funding purposes result in the true dollar amount MTS is required to pay into the fund. They represent the true cost of the pension plan to MTS;
(b) The monies paid into the fund pursuant to the funding calculations are real money that is paid into the new plan trust account and cannot be recovered.  It is not, as suggested by the plaintiffs, a timing issue;
(c) These payments have a real impact on MTS in terms of cash flow; and
(d) When MTS’s credit rating is considered, all solvency and going concerns payments are taken into account. Similarly, the share value of MTS is impacted by these payments.

MTS decision not to include ERPC in plan development process
657. The detail of the new plan development process is set out above.
658. MTS submits there is no basis at law to support a claim that the ERPC ought to have been involved in the development process of the new plan text from the outset.  MTS was given direction under the Reorg Act to create a new pension plan with benefits that were equivalent in value to those pension benefits provided in the CSSA.  The Reorg Act did not direct the negotiation of a pension plan.  Any obligations MTS had to involve the ERPC was limited to that provided for under paragraph 4 of the MOA, namely to review and submit any requests for amendments by November 25, 1996.
659. McInnes was questioned as to whether MTS thought it important that other plan members should have any role to play in the formulation of the new plan text.  McInnes testified that, first, MTS was given a mandate to create a plan with benefits which were equivalent to the pension benefits under the CSSA.  MTS was not given a mandate to negotiate.  Second, there was no requirement that the union should be involved in the pension plan or the drafting of the pension plan.  Pensions were not part of the collective bargaining process.  MTS, therefore, used people with the best education and experience in pensions to develop the plan.  McInnes’s answer is not only reasonable but is in accord with the requirements of the Reorg Act.

660. It is also significant that with the exception of Williams, everyone else involved in the pension plan development were members of the old plan and would be members of the new plan.

661. The plaintiffs complain that while they were not provided with a copy of the draft new plan text, the government of Manitoba, through Benson, and Revenue Canada were provided with a draft.  

662. The evidence before this Court is that a copy of the draft new plan text was provided to the government because MTS was a Crown corporation that was answerable to the government.  It is noteworthy that despite having a copy of the new plan text and despite knowing the plaintiffs desire to see a copy of the new plan text, the new plan text was not provided by Benson or anyone else from the government to members of the ERPC.  The government was in as good, if not a better position, to provide a copy of the new plan text as was MTS.

663. The evidence is that MTS was not prepared to release the draft text until they received direction from the government.  That direction was given in the MOA when it was agreed between the ERPC, MTS and the government to release the plan text to the ERPC on November 11, 1996.

664. A draft copy of the plan text was also sent to Revenue Canada.  This was done on an expedited basis to ensure the new plan text could be registered with Revenue Canada by the end of January 1997.  Corp’s evidence was that it was reasonable for MTS to have done this (Sept. 12, pages 7-8).

665. MTS submits that members of the ERPC did not need to be involved in the drafting process of the plan as there were protections in place to ensure the plan members would receive benefits equivalent in value.  First, the new plan would be reviewed by an independent actuary, which occurred.  Second, the MOA was executed to deal with the specific concerns of the ERPC as to the make up of the Pension Committee and the placement of the initial surplus.  It is these two protections which were legislated by the government into the Reorg Act.  If further involvement was agreeable to the government, changes to the legislation would have been made to reflect this.  That was not done.  

666. MTS submits that its function was to comply with the Reorg Act.  It has done so.  On the implementation date, it implemented a new pension plan which provides for benefits that were equivalent in value to those pension benefits provided under the CSSA, and has complied with the terms of the MOA as drafted and agreed to on November 7, 1996.  
667. The plaintiffs were provided with a draft of the new plan text on November 11, 1996, as the plaintiffs agreed to in the MOA. Thereafter, there was a meaningful dialogue between the plaintiffs’ representatives and MTS’s representatives as to the wording of the new plan text. These discussions went beyond the November 25, 1996 date referred to in paragraph 4 of the MOA. MTS continued to receive, and to respond to, the plaintiffs’ requests for changes well into December 1996. At all material times, the plaintiffs were represented by actuaries, Corp and Ellement, who provided them with advice on the new plan text issues and the incorporation of the MOA into the new plan text.  
668. Accordingly, whether the plaintiffs were involved in the development of the new plan text from the outset became unimportant. They had the opportunity for input and fully took advantage of this opportunity.
November 6, 1996 memo 
669. MTS submits that the memorandum dated November 6, 1996 from Fraser to Findlay, [AD 434] is irrelevant to the allegations as pled in the Fresh as Amended Statement of Claim.

670. This was a briefing memo for Findlay, the Minister responsible for MTS.  Fraser testified (Oct. 22, pages 60-61) as follows with respect to this memorandum:
A
Well, I don't have specific recollection of sort of this day and this particular issue, but I believe, as I indicated earlier, that it was common practice in terms of the minister having updated material and briefing notes and so on, if -- particularly if the ledge was in session and question period, and that this whole sort of time was, there was an anomaly because, in fact, there was two ministers that MTS was, in effect, reporting to.  I mean, Glen Findlay was minister of MTS in sort of the normal sense and had been for some time, but Eric Stefanson, the minister of finance was, because the Financial Administration Act says that any disposition of, of Crown assets is the responsibility of the department of finance and, and the minister of finance, that he was responsible for the process to dispose of the Crown assets, being MTS.  So there was a dual responsibility here in terms of kind of day-to-day operations and normal things, and the privatization piece of it was sort of a different reporting relationship.

671. While Praznik, Trach and Restall testified that there was some reliance on this memorandum at the November 7, 1996 meeting, Fraser testified that he did not recall that memo being discussed.  
672. Further, and more importantly, there is no reference or incorporation of this November 6, 1996 memorandum [AD 434] into the November 7, 1996 MOA.  Any representations made prior to entering into the MOA are collateral and not binding.  The MOA consists of the entire agreement between the parties.  To suggest otherwise is not credible.

673. Restall agreed there was nothing in the November 6, 1996 memorandum which said anything different from, or made any representations which were not covered in, the November 7, 1996 MOA (June 16, page 17)

674. No use was made of the November 6, 1996 memorandum after the November 7, 1996 meeting.  Unlike the November 7, 1996 MOA, it is not referenced in the Reorg Act. Unlike the Nov. 7, 1996 MOA, it is not referenced in Handsard. Fox testified that he did not recall being provided with the November 6, 1996 memorandum by the plaintiffs or otherwise.  There is no evidence that the plaintiffs produced this document to Fox as part of his review.  If reliance was being placed on this document, given the extensive and detailed communications by the plaintiffs to Fox and MTS, it would have been raised in the November and December 1996 time frame.
675. The November 6, 1996 memorandum, which is a briefing memo from MTS to the government, was not incorporated into the MOA and has no relevance to the claims advanced by the plaintiffs.

Taking of contribution holidays
676. MTS submits that MTS’s ability and decision to take a contribution holiday, when able to, is irrelevant to whether the Pension Committee has the ability to make recommendations with respect to the use of surplus, which is the relevant issue for the plaintiffs in this action.
677. As testified to by McInnes, the most MTS can take as a contribution holiday is its normal cost for any given year.  While it ranges from year to year, the most the normal cost has been is approximately $15 million.  
678. In the right economic circumstances, this leaves additional surplus to be considered by the Pension Committee for benefit improvements.  It must be remembered that in a DB plan, like the MTS Plan, the goal is not to accumulate surplus and increase benefits but to maintain the defined benefit and to ensure that the plan is fully funded.  However, in the right circumstances, as in the CSSF, the Pension Committee has the ability to make recommendations with respect to use of surplus for benefit improvements.
679. Under the Governance Document, the taking of a contribution holiday does not prohibit a recommendation from the Pension Committee as to use of surplus for benefit improvements.
680. It is also important to recall that a contribution holiday does not affect any calculations relating to COLA in the COLA Account.  Even when MTS takes a contribution holiday, it still makes the required notional contribution to the COLA Account as prescribed in section 5.12 of the new plan text.
Non-disclosure to Pension Committee of MTS’s decision to take a contribution holiday 
681. MTS submits that it is irrelevant to the issues before this Court as to when MTS, as the Administrator, advised the Pension Committee that it was recommending to the Audit Committee that a contribution holiday be taken.  
682. The decision to take a contribution holiday relates to the funding of the new plan.  The responsibility of funding the new plan lies with MTS and the recommendation to fund or not fund the new plan lies with MTS as the Administrator.  The purpose of a DB plan is to fund the plan so that it will be able to provide the defined benefit.  The goal is not to generate a surplus.
683. MTS submits that it follows that the Pension Committee would not be entitled to discuss and comment on funding when there is no liability on the employees to fund the new plan beyond the prescribed constitution.  It is only common sense that the body liable for any funding deficiencies determine if and when funding of the plan ought to occur. 
Lack of Board approval of final plan text
684. The plaintiffs allege, in the alternative, at paragraph 61 of the Fresh as Amended Statement of Claim, that the new plan did not receive the required approval of the MTS Board of Directors (or the prior MTS Board of Commissioners), and, therefore, the new plan is ultra vires and beyond the power of MTS to implement and is of no force or effect.
685. AD 394 is a Management Submission dated October 29, 1996, recommending to the MTS Board of Commissioners (as it was before privatization) to approve the draft new plan.  McInnes testified that it was the September 30, 1996 version of the draft new plan text that was being reviewed by the Board of Commissioners.  This draft was being sent at that time to the Board of Commissioners, as MTS needed to be able to register it with Revenue Canada and thought it only prudent that the Board of Commissioners see and approve it before it went to Revenue Canada.
686. AD 431 are the minutes of a meeting of the Board of Commissioners on November 5, 1996, which record the Board as approving the September 30th draft of the new draft pension plan.  A further revised draft new plan was sent to the Board of Commissioners for approval as attached to AD 459 on November 12, 1996.
687. At AD 479, the resolution of the Board of Commissioners dated November 22, 1996, indicates that the Board approved the latest draft of the new plan [at Exhibit 46] and further resolved that the proper officers had the authority to amend the new plan on the advice of counsel or as may otherwise be required to obtain and maintain registration and to implement the resolutions passed by the Board.  
688. Accordingly, the Board permitted the amendment of the new plan text after the draft contained at Exhibit 46.  As such, all amendments made leading up to, and including, the final plan text at AD 711, were made with Board approval and are valid and binding.
ERPC’s “expectations” 
689. As is discussed throughout this argument, expectations of the ERPC and the plaintiffs are not relevant.  What is relevant is the terms that actually were agreed upon in the MOA.  

E.
CONCLUSION
690. The burden is on the plaintiffs to prove their case.  In their opening statement, several concepts and purported facts were advanced by the plaintiffs’ counsel (in italics below).  MTS submits these concepts and “facts” were not proved or proved to be incorrect:

(a) Government was a mere rubber stamp.  Restall confirmed this was not so (June 2, page 55);

(b) CSSF COLA Account always delivered 2/3 CPI.  In 1988, 62% of CPI was granted rather than 67%. The significance of granting less than 2/3 of CPI is not the relatively small difference between 62% and 67%. Rather, the significance is the risk to CSSF pensioners that, unlike the MTS COLA Account, if the CSSF Adjustment Account has insufficient assets, 2/3 of CPI will not be paid;

(c) Although the guarantee originally seemed like a good idea, it became a hindrance as it didn’t go beyond the cap.  The evidence before this Court is that CPI has never gone past 4% and is not expected to go over 4%.  Accordingly, it cannot be said to have been a hindrance;

(d) Major decisions with respect to the taking of contribution holidays, funding obligations, OSFI’s concerns with actuarial valuations and solvency requirements were not discussed at the Pension Committee as they would have been in the old regime.  These matters were not matters ever dealt with in the CSSF, due to the fact the CSSF was not funded;
(e) The COLA guarantee was not a benefit but rather preserved the status quo.  There was no guarantee of COLA in the CSSF.  The evidence is that there are significant concerns that the CSSF COLA Account will not even be able to provide for 2/3 of CPI in the future;

(f) Employees expected MTS to fund the COLA Guarantee in the COLA Account.  No such expectation existed; and

(g) It is irrelevant that MTS has been obliged to put substantial money into the plan as a result of solvency deficiency payments, this has nothing to do with equivalent in value and the money has not gone to the benefits of the employees.  The evidence clearly establishes that money put into the new plan by way of solvency payments is actual money into the plan and can only be used to pay for current and future liabilities, which is a benefit to plan members.  Solvency payments provide security in the event of a plan wind up, which is a benefit to plan members.  Finally, funding cannot be irrelevant in one aspect, such as solvency payments and relevant to the issue of equivalent in value.  Funding is either relevant or it is not.  If funding is relevant, the benefits are clearly more than equivalent in value.
691. The November 7, 1996 MOA is not a contract which spells out all the terms of a pension plan.  The surrounding circumstances are helpful to explain the wording used.

692. Therefore, the Court should consider Meronek’s letter of September 25, 1996 [AD 348] where he demands a specific use of the surplus and Fraser’s October 23, 1996 reply at AD 383 to this suggestion; the discussion between Restall and Fraser on October 30, 1996 [AD 399]; Meronek’s presentation to the Legislative Committee on October 31, 1996 [AD 409]; Restall’s letter of November 4, 1996 to Fraser [AD 427]; and the November 6, 1996 Briefing Memo to the Minister [AD 434].
693. The surrounding circumstances include the fact that the process of creating a new pension plan was intended to create a plan which mirrored the CSSF to the greatest extent possible.  Therefore, the parties were not considering changes to the terms of the CSSF, but rather resolving concerns that existed because issues had arisen that were otherwise not addressed in the CSSA.

694. Therefore, the questions raised by the ERPC, and their resolution as outline in the MOA, were:

(a) The specific constitution of the Pension Committee and the selection of the Chair - it was agreed that there would be equal representation between the unions, the retirees and management (that is, better than the PBSA requirements), as well as the independence of the Chair (Para. 1);

(b) What is to be done with the process of determining the transfer amount and the first valuation of the new plan? - it was agreed that there would be actuarial involvement on behalf of all parties to ensure input into such a determination (Para. 2);

(c) What is to be done with the surplus and how is it to be treated (also in light of the minimum guarantee)?  (The CSSA does not address use of surplus nor does it provide for a minimum guarantee and there was no agreement with the Government as to the treatment of any surplus on an ongoing basis.)  (Para. 3);   

(d) When were employees to get an opportunity to review the draft text and have input - this was provided from November 11, 1996 to 25, 1996 (Para. 4).

695. Subsequent conduct again provides a useful guide to the interpretation of the MOA:  

(a) There was never any objection to Pennycook as the independent Chair and so this was not an issue;
(b) The actuaries were involved, and there never was any referral to Fox of the initial actuarial valuation, and, therefore, no issue exists here either; 
(c) The wording of the text incorporated the provisions of paragraph 3, and the text wording ultimately was agreed upon as satisfactory to the ERPC;
(d) Access was given on November 11, 1996, and requests entertained beyond November 25, 1996 prior to registration of the new plan; and
(e) There never was a dispute resolution referral under paragraph 5. 
696. In the event of any doubt, an adverse inference ought to be drawn by reason of the failure to call the other plaintiffs’ representatives who were signatories to the MOA. 
697. There is both an evidentiary and a legal burden on the plaintiffs in respect of the MOA issue and the determination of equivalence in value:

(a) In respect of the MOA, the plaintiffs are required by law to adduce evidence of a sufficiently required cogency, on a balance of probabilities, which, in the absence of evidence to the contrary, the Court may either find a duty and a breach, or might be compelled to make a factual determination of there being no duty or breach.

(b) But the evidence of the person who made the contract, Restall, in respect of the second sentence of paragraph 3 of the November 7 MOA, is that he found it difficult and it involved actuarial or legal questions.  Therefore, he could not answer what it meant.  The other signatories were not called.  Accordingly, the question is whether there is sufficient evidence to prove a duty and a breach.  MTS submits there is not.

(c) If there is not, either the Court must find that the contract claim fails or the Court may so find.  If the latter, then an adverse inference should be drawn from:  

(i) The failure to call the other signatories;

(ii) The evidence of Ellement that it took him three (3) years to come to an interpretation;

(iii) The evidence of Trach that all the requirements of the MOA were built into the text by late December;

(iv) The failure to object to the text wording by late December, and

(v) The failure to refer to arbitration any dispute with respect to the meaning of the provisions of the MOA.    

698. As to the evidentiary and legal burden on the plaintiffs on the determination of equivalence in value, there is again an evidential burden to adduce evidence that:    

(a) There were pension benefits in the old plan;

(b) To which the plaintiffs were entitled under the CSSA, and

(c) They existed as at the implementation date.

699. MTS submits that there is insufficient evidence to satisfy the burden.  That is, evidence that is capable of having a Court make a finding that all three exist as is required for the Court to potentially agree with the plaintiffs and find liability on MTS.  If there is a lack of evidence as to these three requirements, however, the Court is compelled to make a factual determination that the plaintiffs cannot succeed because they have not satisfied the evidentiary burden in question.  

700. If the Court concludes that there is some evidence upon which a Court may make such a finding, in the absence of contradictory evidence, then the Court again should proceed to look at the subsequent conduct of the plaintiffs and the evidence of MTS to make a determination of whether the legal burden of establishing a lack of equivalence in value has been made out by the plaintiffs.  

701. MTS submits this legal burden has not been made out and, accordingly, the claim should be dismissed.
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